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1. POSITIONING OF THE MAYR-MELNHOF GROUP 
AND THE DIVISIONS 

 
GROUP 
The production and sale of cartonboard and folding cartons are the core competencies 
of the Mayr-Melnhof Group. All resources are focused on these areas, which are or-
ganized in the two segments MM Karton and MM Packaging, each with individual 
profit responsibility. Deliveries between the divisions are effected at market condi-
tions. The MM Group is the market leader in Europe in both segments. 

The corporate strategy focuses on a sustainably profitable growth in the core business 
as well as on the development and consolidation of its competitive strength. Our aim 
is to assume the position of the market leader in all regions in which we are present, 
and to secure this position in the long term by cost and competence leadership. Our 
approach is to continuously reduce unit costs by economies of scale and optimize 
processes with state-of-the-art know-how. The acquisition of further market shares in 
Europe and adjacent regions is the direction. 

MAYR-MELNHOF KARTON 
With an annual production capacity of more than 1.7 million tons, MM Karton is the 
worldwide largest manufacturer of coated recycled cartonboard. Cartonboard is 
mostly used as a raw material for the production of folding carton packaging for non-
durable consumer goods. As of the end of 2008, MM Karton had 12 cartonboard ma-
chines in five European countries: Germany, Austria, Switzerland, the Netherlands and 
Slovenia. The great variety of recycled cartonboard grades accounting for roughly 90 % 
of the capacities is complemented by virgin fiber based cartonboard qualities, ena-
bling MM Karton with its broad range of products to cover a multitude of markets with 
different requirements. Our cartonboard products, which are sold in more than one 
hundred countries worldwide, are marked by constantly high quality, reliability, prod-
uct safety and environmental compatibility. The main sales market is Europe, where 
MM Karton has been the market leader for roughly two decades now. 

We have reached this position mainly by acquisitions. Parallel to the acquisition of 
competitors’ capacities, the production within the division was concentrated on the 
most efficient machines. Less efficient units were consequently shut down. As a re-
sult, MM Karton has a highly efficient, competitive production basis today. 

In addition to energy and chemicals, recovered paper is the most important input factor 
for the production of recycled cartonboard. Based on the decade-long focus on the use 
of recovered fibers, MM Karton is today in the position to use mostly mixed recovered 
paper for the production of high-quality cartonboard products. The high collection quo-
tas in Europe secure the supply of recovered paper to our cartonboard mills. Procure-
ment is effected through longer-term agreements with municipalities and waste man-
agement companies as well as via the spot market. The other raw materials required for 
the cartonboard production are also almost exclusively procured in Europe. 

Management Report
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The development of cartonboard demand correlates closely with private consumption 
and the development of the economy as a whole. We estimate that yearly more than 
33 million tons of cartonboard are used worldwide. 

With own sales offices, our sales organization is active in all strategically important 
countries and regions on the main market, Europe. Sales on the non-European mar-
kets are usually conducted by vendors. The main customers of our cartonboard prod-
ucts are printing plants of the European folding carton industry, which shows a high 
structural fragmentation. 

Unlike other paper products, cartonboard is distinguished by a very customer-specific 
production with a great variety of grades and formats and by high logistic require-
ments for the delivery to the customer. Correspondingly, European producers of fold-
ing cartons are almost exclusively supplied from Europe. The trade between the conti-
nents is thus of minor importance. 

Along with MM Karton’s leading consolidation activities, the concentration of the Euro-
pean cartonboard industry is far advanced. Currently, the five largest cartonboard 
producers hold roughly two thirds of the capacities. Although in the past eighteen 
years no new recycling cartonboard machine was built, there is strong competition 
between the market participants due to the ongoing technological capacity expansion. 
As competitive advantages can only be achieved from high-performance units and a 
high degree of specialization, the consolidation trend will continue in near future. 

MAYR-MELNHOF PACKAGING 
In 2008, MM Packaging processed approximately 650,000 tons of cartonboard into 
high-quality folding cartons for the consumer goods industry and has been by far the 
largest European manufacturer for more than ten years now. As of the end of the year, 
the MM Packaging division comprised 28 folding carton production facilities in twelve 
countries in Europe and adjacent regions. The main focus of production is on packag-
ing for food, cigarettes, confectionery, detergents and personal care products. The 
main emphasis is on the business with major customers from the multinational con-
sumer goods industry. 

For its industrial production of folding cartons, MM Packaging uses all standard and 
innovative printing and processing technologies. The large site network offers our 
customers highly reliable delivery due to appropriate back-up options. The production 
of folding cartons is generally a multi-step process: the cartonboard is printed, cut, 
glued, finished by a variety of methods and finally delivered to the customers’ packag-
ing units. MM Packaging processes recycled as well as virgin fiber based cartonboard, 
which is almost exclusively procured from Europe. In accordance with the profit center 
principle, cartonboard is purchased at market conditions from MM Karton, from which 
almost 40 % of the demand is bought. 
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For years, MM Packaging has focused on the “industrialization” of the production of 
folding cartons by standardizing processes and ambitioned performance benchmark-
ing. Optimizations are pursued systematically and implemented quickly within the site 
network. The aim is to strengthen and expand our market position and earnings power 
in the long term on the basis of substantial productivity increases and a sustainable 
expansion path, geared to the regional demand of our customers. 

In comparison to the cartonboard industry, the European folding carton industry 
shows a considerably lower level of concentration. According to our own assessments, 
the five largest producers currently account for one third of the market, however, the 
sizes of their market shares differ considerably. All in all, this industry still consists of 
mainly medium-sized companies and trade enterprises. In contrast, on the customer 
side there is a high concentration of the consumer goods industry and the retail trade. 

Demand for folding cartons, just like the demand for cartonboard, is closely linked to 
the overall economic conditions and private consumption. Folding cartons are mostly 
used for the packaging of non-durable consumer goods. For years, growth has been 
based mostly on crowding out. 

MM Packaging has continuously expanded its position as the market leader in Europe 
and has nearly multiplied its business volume by seven since the Group’s Initial Public 
Offering in 1994. This growth is based on continuous acquisition activities and on the 
building of new sites, geared mostly to satisfy the needs and requirements of our 
mainly multinational key accounts. Their share in the total business volume has been 
increased considerably in recent years, with service and development of this strategic 
customer segment being ensured by a highly efficient and specialized key account 
management. MM Packaging’s opportunities to gain new business with multinational 
customers result, on the one hand, from the continuing trend to purchase packaging in 
a concentrated and cross-national manner and, on the other hand, from production 
relocations and growth in new markets to which we accompany our customers. The 
economic transport radius of the individual production facilities is generally restricted 
to the respective regional market. 

The business with international key accounts is marked by a continuous price pressure 
but also entails the opportunity to gain further market shares. However, with our focus 
on high-performance production, investments in state-of-the-art technology and con-
vincing innovation activities, we ensure long-term cooperation as partners and keep 
the risk of a high customer concentration manageable.  
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2. DEVELOPMENT IN THE YEAR 2008 
 
GENERAL ECONOMIC SITUATION 
As expected, the economic sentiment weakened considerably during 2008. While the 
first half of the year was mainly marked by the coincidence of an economic decelera-
tion and inflation, which burdened mass purchasing power and kept the commodity 
prices at high levels, the escalating financial crisis had an increasing effect on the real 
economy in the second half of the year. The recession we predicted in our outlook 
manifested itself in the large European main markets by the fourth quarter. The dura-
tion and extent of this recession in the real economy are completely uncertain. There-
fore, companies and consumers hold their breath and plan only very short-term. Dur-
ing the last months of the year, almost all industrial raw materials showed a strong 
price decline, which massively increased price pressure on industrial end-products. 

INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENT 
After historical order highs for packaging cartonboard in the summer of 2007, the 
following quarters as well as the entire year 2008 showed a successive decline in 
incoming orders, which became considerably worse towards the end of the year in 
accordance with the decline of the economy as a whole. As a result of the continuing 
price increase for raw materials and energy in the first half of the year, the carton-
board industry planned to effect price increases in autumn; however, they could only 
partially be realized due to the economic downswing and the accompanying price 
reductions, particularly for fibers. In the fourth quarter, demand for cartonboard 
showed an extraordinarily strong decline and extreme volatility in the traditionally 
weak month of December due to strong working capital reduction measures and the 
extremely careful planning by the, for the most part, medium-sized customers' indus-
tries. Due to cost pressure and utilization below capacity, the consolidation in the 
European cartonboard industry considerably regained momentum. 

In contrast to the cartonboard industry, the demand for folding cartons, especially for 
non-durable consumer goods, showed a high degree of stability in 2008, however, the 
dynamics already showed clear regional differences. The business with multinational 
customers demonstrated a continuing trend towards the relocation of the production 
from Western to Eastern Europe and the concentration of procurement on a lower 
number of suppliers. As a result of the accompanying competitive pressure, consolida-
tion in the European folding carton industry also continued. 
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DEVELOPMENT OF BUSINESS 2008 
 
Group 
In the financial year 2008, the Mayr-Melnhof Group was able to hold its ground even 
under increasingly difficult economic framework conditions. While the development of 
cartonboard production despite higher selling prices was characterized by continuous 
margin pressure as a result of a considerably higher extent of market-related down-
time as well as higher energy costs, the production of folding cartons demonstrated 
high earnings stability due to increased sales and improved productivity. In line with 
the solid cash flow generation, a dividend for 2008 at previous year’s level as well as 
the high self-financing strength could be secured. 

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 
 
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS (condensed version)     

(in millions of EUR) 

Year ended 
 Dec. 31, 2008 

Year ended 
 Dec. 31, 2007 +/- 

Sales 1,731.2 1,737.0 -0.3 % 

Operating profit 136.9 169.4 -19.2 % 

Financial result and result from investments 1.1 1.5  

Income tax expense (41.1) (54.3)  

Profit for the year 96.9 116.6 -16.9 % 
    
 
The Group’s consolidated sales were EUR 1,731.2 million, almost equal to the previous 
year (2007: EUR 1,737.0 million). In both divisions, higher average prices faced slightly 
decreasing quantities. The regional sales distribution remained very stable. With a 
sales share of 67.8 % and 24.2 % respectively, Western Europe and Eastern Europe are 
the Group's main sales markets (2007: 68.7 % and 24.5 % respectively). The share of 
sales on the non-European markets at 8.0 % showed a slight increase in comparison to 
the previous year (2007: 6.8 %). Intra-Group sales between the divisions were 
EUR 135.5 million (2007: EUR 146.0 million) and consisted mainly of cartonboard 
deliveries from MM Karton to MM Packaging. 

GROUP SALES BY DESTINATION    

(in %) 

Year ended 
 Dec. 31, 2008 

Year ended 
 Dec. 31, 2007 

Western Europe (excl. Austria) 63.0 % 62.6 % 

Austria 4.8 % 6.1 % 

Eastern Europe 24.2 % 24.5 % 

Asia 3.8 % 2.8 % 

Other 4.2 % 4.0 % 

Total 100.0 % 100.0 % 
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COST OF SALES Percentage of sales       

(in millions of EUR) 

Year ended 
Dec. 31, 

2008 

Year ended 
Dec. 31, 

2007 +/- 

Year ended 
Dec. 31, 

2008 

Year ended 
Dec. 31, 

2007 

Cost of materials and purchased services 982.0 976.8 0.5 % 56.8 % 56.2 % 

Personnel expenses 240.5 242.2 -0.7 % 13.9 % 13.9 % 

Depreciation and amortization 76.5 81.8 -6.5 % 4.4 % 4.7 % 

Other expenses 64.9 30.5 112.8 % 3.7 % 1.8 % 

Cost of sales 1,363.9 1,331.3 2.4 % 78.8 % 76.6 % 
      
 
Costs of sales for the operating performance amounted to EUR 1,363.9 million and 
were thus EUR 32.6 million higher than the year before. This increase mainly resulted 
from higher costs for materials and purchased services, in particular energy and fibers 
(recovered paper) as well as from the inventories reduction. 

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION, 

ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES Percentage of sales       

(in millions of EUR) 

Year ended 
Dec. 31, 

2008 

Year ended 
Dec. 31, 

2007 +/- 

Year ended 
Dec. 31, 

2008 

Year ended 
Dec. 31, 

2007 

Personnel expenses 86.8 90.1 -3.7 % 5.0 % 5.2 % 

Depreciation and amortization 7.0 7.4 -5.4 % 0.4 % 0.4 % 

Other expenses 148.2 149.5 -0.9 % 8.6 % 8.7 % 

Selling and distribution, administrative 
and other operating expenses 242.0 247.0 -2.0 % 14.0 % 14.3 % 

      
 
At 14.0 %, the share of selling and distribution, administrative and other operating 
expenses was just slightly below the previous year’s level (2007: 14.3 %). 

The operating profit came in at EUR 136.9 million, a decrease of 19.2 % or 
EUR 32.5 million. This decrease was a result of the sharp decline in profit contribution 
of cartonboard production due to a strong underutilization of capacities in the third 
and fourth quarter as well as due to a considerable increase in input factor costs and 
the discontinued results contribution from the divested participations in recovered 
paper companies. The Group’s operating margin was thus 7.9 % (2007: 9.8 %), the 
return on capital employed stood at 16.1 % (2007: 20.4 %). 

FINANCIAL RESULT AND RESULT FROM INVESTMENTS 
Winding-up expenses for the Bulgarian cartonboard mill MM Nikopol amounted to 
EUR 21.6 million. Gains from the disposal of businesses in the amount of 
EUR 20.0 million resulted from the sale of the recovered paper company Joh. Spiehs 
and the disposal of the participation in the recovered paper companies “Papyrus-
Group” and Parek. 

In an environment critical for investments, sustainably stable financial income of 
EUR 14.7 million was achieved (2007: EUR 14.5 million), which was partially set off by 
financial expenses in the amount of EUR 8.1 million (2007: EUR 9.1 million). 
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Profit before tax totaled EUR 138.0 million compared to EUR 170.9 million in the pre-
vious year. 

The income tax expense declined from EUR 54.3 million to EUR 41.1 million. At 29.8 %, 
the effective Group tax rate was just slightly below that of the year before (2007: 
31.8 %) despite a lower German corporate tax rate. This effect is especially due to the 
taxation of non-recurring revenues from the sale of participations and winding-up 
expenses that do not reduce the tax base incurring at the same time. 

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AND EARNINGS PER SHARE 
The profit for the year of the Mayr-Melnhof Group amounted to EUR 96.9 million, com-
pared to EUR 116.6 million in 2007. The net profit margin was 5.6 % (2007: 6.7 %). 

In the financial year 2008, a basic weighted average of 21,637,343 shares was out-
standing. Thus, basic earnings per share came in at EUR 4.38 (2007: EUR 5.22). 
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VALUE ADDED 
The Group’s value added is the difference between the total operating revenue and the 
expenditures on goods and services purchased from external parties. In the statement 
of distribution, the share of all parties participating in the added value is highlighted. 

VALUE ADDED      

(in millions of EUR) 

Year ended 
Dec. 31, 

2008 

Year ended 
Dec. 31, 

2008 

Year ended  
Dec. 31, 

2007 

Year ended  
Dec. 31, 

2007 

Origin:     
Sales 1,731.2  1,737.0  

Other operating income 11.6  10.8  

Increase (decrease) in finished goods and own work 
capitalized (16.5)  23.2  

Financial result and result from investments 1.1  1.5  

Total operating revenue 1,727.4  1,772.5  

(-) Expenditures on purchased goods and services (1,175.5)  (1,176.4)  

(-) Depreciation and amortization (83.5)  (89.2)  

Net value added 468.4 100.0 % 506.9 100.0 % 

Distribution:     
Employees (187.9) (40.1 %) (193.6) (38.2 %) 

Social benefit costs (94.2) (20.1 %) (93.5) (18.5 %) 

Public authorities (89.4) (19.1 %) (103.2) (20.3 %) 

Minority interests (2.2) (0.5 %) (1.7) (0.3 %) 

Shareholders (proposed dividend 2008) (36.1) (7.7 %) (37.4) (7.4 %) 

Company 58.6 12.5 % 77.5 15.3 %      
 
In the financial year 2008, the Group generated total operating revenue of 
EUR 1,727.4 million (2007: EUR 1,772.5 million). After deducting expenditures on pur-
chased goods and services and depreciation and amortization of EUR 1,259.0 million 
(2007: EUR 1,265.6 million), the net value added amounts to EUR 468.4 million (2007: 
EUR 506.9 million). 

In 2008, like the year before, the major part of the net value added of 40.1 % or 
EUR 187.9 million went to the Group's employees (2007: 38.2 %; EUR 193.6 million). 
The Management Board proposes that the shareholders of Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG 
are to receive a dividend of EUR 36.1 million or 7.7 % of the net value added (2007: 
EUR 37.4 million; 7.4 %). Earnings of EUR 58.6 million or 12.5 % of the net value added 
will be retained in the Group (2007: EUR 77.5 million; 15.3 %). 
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ASSETS, CAPITAL AND LIQUID FUNDS 
 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (condensed version)    
(in millions of EUR) Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007 

Non-current assets 641.8 675.8 

Current assets 784.1 857.7 

Total assets 1,425.9 1,533.5 

Total equity 913.7 933.9 

Non-current liabilities 183.7 235.5 

Current liabilities 328.5 364.1 

Total equity and liabilities 1,425.9 1,533.5    
 
The Group’s total assets as of December 31, 2008 amounted to EUR 1,425.9 million 
and were lower by EUR 107.6 million compared to the year before  
(December 31, 2007: EUR 1,533.5 million). Equity decreased from EUR 933.9 million 
as of December 31, 2007 to EUR 913.7 million as of December 31, 2008. This decline 
was mainly the result of the purchase of treasury shares as well as of the dividend 
payments for the year 2007 and currency translations. Total equity to total assets 
increased from 60.9 % to 64.1 %. The return on equity was at 10.5 % (2007: 13.1 %). 

The financial liabilities are mostly of current nature and were reduced by net redemp-
tions of EUR 25.5 million to EUR 157.0 million (December 31, 2007: EUR 182.5 million). 
Roughly EUR 3.5 million are allocated to current loans and EUR 81.8 million to the  
current part of the non-current loans. Non-current loans amounted to EUR 71.7 million, 
with current revolving bank loans of EUR 38.1 million being classified as non-current. 
Provisions for other non-current liabilities of EUR 76.5 million (December 31, 2007: 
EUR 81.2 million) are to be allocated to the accruals for social capital. This decline in 
comparison to the previous year’s results from the divestment of recovered paper 
participations and the conversion of a Dutch defined benefit pension plan to a defined 
contribution pension plan. 

As of the end of 2008, total funds available to the Group mainly consisted of cash in 
banks and short-term Austrian federal bonds and amounted to EUR 346.4 million  
(December 31, 2007: EUR 355.0 million). This results in an excess of EUR 189.4 million 
over interest-bearing liabilities (December 31, 2007: EUR 172.5 million), so that the 
Group continues to show a net liquidity. 

In addition, unused financing arrangements amounting to EUR 118.0 million were 
available to the Group by the end of the year. EUR 18.0 million thereof (2007: 
EUR 20.6 million) are to be considered as current and EUR 100.0 million (2007: 
EUR 50.0 million) as non-current. 
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CASH FLOW DEVELOPMENT 
 
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS (condensed version)  

(in millions of EUR) 

Year ended  
Dec. 31, 2008 

Year ended  
Dec. 31, 2007 

Net cash provided by operating activities 176.6 138.8 

Net cash used in investing activities (220.2) (4.7) 

Net cash used in financing activities (115.2) (75.2) 

Effect of exchange rate changes (1.9) (0.8) 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (< 3 months) (160.7) 58.1 

Cash and cash equivalents (< 3 months) at the end of the year 189.8 350.5 

Current and non-current available-for-sale financial assets 156.6 4.5 

Total funds available to the Group 346.4 355.0    
 
Cash flow from operating activities amounted to EUR 176.6 million and was 
EUR 37.8 million above the previous year’s level. This increase was mainly the result of 
a reduction of the working capital and lower income tax payments. 

Cash flow from investing activities was EUR -220.2 million (2007: EUR -4.7 million). 
This difference is mainly due to the purchase of Austrian federal bonds in the amount 
of EUR 152.8 million. Net payments for investments in tangible and intangible fixed 
assets were EUR -96.6 million (2007: EUR -92.7 million). The payments for acquisi-
tions were EUR -12.4 million (2007: EUR -4.6 million). 

The investment expenditures of MM Karton totaled EUR -43.0 million (2007:  
EUR -38.1 million) and were mainly made in connection with projects for optimizing 
cost efficiency and quality. 

The investment expenditures of MM Packaging were EUR -55.2 million (2007:  
EUR -58.6 million). Investing activities focused on site expansions in Poland and on 
new machines. 

Cash flow from financing activities was EUR -115.2 million (2007:  
EUR -75.2 million). This difference is in particular due to net redemptions of interest-
bearing financial liabilities as well as to higher payments for the purchase of  
treasury shares. 
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SHARE REPURCHASE PROGRAM 
The 14th Annual General Meeting of Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG of May 7, 2008 author-
ized the Management Board to repurchase treasury shares on and outside the stock 
exchange until November 7, 2010 and at the same time revoked the authorization 
granted in the previous year for the period from April 25, 2007 until October 25, 2008. 
As of December 31, 2008, a total of 740,368 shares were repurchased for 
EUR 43.5 million, including fees. 

FURTHER INFORMATION 
In February 2008, the division MM Karton sold its 100 % share in the recovered paper 
company Joh. Spiehs & Co. GmbH. 

In March 2008, the majority interest of 63.34 % in “Papyrus” Altpapierservice Han-
delsgesellschaft m.b.H. and its two subsidiaries as well as the majority interest of 
94.45 % in PAREK Papierverwertungs Gesellschaft m.b.H. were sold. 

In November 2008, the division MM Packaging bought a 60.01 % share in the Turkish 
producer of folding cartons, Superpak Ambalaj sanayi ve ticaret A.S., located in Izmir, 
Turkey. 
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DEFINITION OF FINANCIAL INDICATORS 
 
Cash earnings 
Sum of profit for the year before depreciation and amortization and before deferred taxes. 

Cash earnings margin 
Cash earnings divided by sales. 

Total equity to total assets 
Total equity divided by total assets. 

Net debt/net liquidity 
The sum of interest-bearing current and non-current financial liabilities subtracted by 
cash and current and non-current available-for-sale financial assets. In case that the 
sum of cash and available-for-sale financial assets exceeds the financial liabilities, a 
net liquidity exists. 

Net profit margin 
Profit for the year divided by sales. 

Operating margin 
Operating profit divided by sales. 

Return on capital employed (ROCE) 
Profit before tax excluding net interest (income) expenses and excluding the respective 
profit attributable to minority shareholders according to IAS 32 divided by the sum of 
average total equity plus average current and non-current interest-bearing financial  
liabilities, average provisions for other non-current liabilities and charges subtracted by 
average cash and current and non-current available-for-sale financial assets.  

Return on equity (ROE) 
Profit for the year divided by average total equity.  

All indicators were calculated exclusively on the basis of the information in the con-
solidated financial statements. 
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Business development 2008 in the divisions 
 
MM KARTON 
Against the backdrop of the accelerating economic downswing, demand for carton-
board showed, as expected, a considerable decline during the entire year. However, 
despite the difficult market environment, we largely managed to realize the price in-
creases which became necessary due to cost inflation. As a result of our pricing policy 
and our customers’ increasingly careful planning, which was marked by a strong vola-
tility especially in the second half of the year, the average order backlog declined sig-
nificantly from 172,000 tons in the previous year to 48,000 tons. The first half of the 
year still showed a persistently high utilization of the cartonboard machines, however, 
the second half of the year was marked by a considerable increase in market-related 
downtime. In total, MM Karton’s capacities were utilized on an annual average of 86 % in 
2008 (2007: 97 %). Production reached 1,527,000 tons and was thus 9.2 % lower than 
the year before (2007: 1,682,000 tons). In 2008, with reference to the average number of 
employees, production per employee was at 571 tons (2007: 574 tons). 

In the course of concentrating production on high-performance sites, manufacture in 
the Bulgarian cartonboard mill in Nikopol was closed down and relocated to more 
efficient mills of MM Karton to the extent possible. 

With the aim to continue strengthening the focus on core business, participations in 
Austrian recovered paper companies previously held by the segment MM Karton were 
divested. 

Despite the fact that price development of some recovered paper qualities com-
menced to ease, the cost burden increased in the first months of 2008, in particular 
due to the price increase in all crude-oil-related input factors. Therefore, cartonboard 
prices were increased starting in autumn. However, as a result of the accelerating 
weakness of the market and extended machine downtime, this was not sufficient for 
cost compensation. 

The volume sold declined by roughly 108,000 tons or 6.5 % to 1,547,000 tons. As a 
result of this volume development and the sale of the recovered paper companies, 
sales amounted to EUR 876.7 million and were 5.2 % lower than in the previous year 
despite higher average prices. Western Europe accounts for roughly 68 % thereof, 
Eastern Europe for 18 % and the non-European markets for 14 % (2007: 70 %; 19 %; 
11 %). With a share of 243,000 tons delivered (2007: 265,000 tons), which accounted 
for 16 % of the total sales volume, MM Packaging continued to be MM Karton’s largest 
customer in 2008. Altogether, more than 1,000 customers are supplied. 

Resulting from significantly higher costs and the lacking earnings contribution from 
the sold recovered paper participations, operating profit declined considerably by 
46.1 % from EUR 72.6 million to EUR 39.1 million. The operating margin was thus 4.5 % 
compared to 7.9 % in the previous year. The return on capital employed amounted to 
11.0 % (2007: 18.8 %). Cash earnings were at EUR 69.1 million (2007: 
EUR 103.7 million) with the cash earnings margin dropping from 11.2 % to 7.9 %. 
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MM PACKAGING 
In line with the economic downswing, customers on the European folding carton mar-
ket also planned much more carefully during the financial year. Within the wide  
MM Packaging site network focusing on various sales segments within the consumer 
goods industry, utilization was very heterogeneous by region and market segment 
towards the end of the year. However, we achieved an above-average market growth 
and were able to gain market shares due to the acquisition of new business. 

With the purchase of a majority interest in the Turkish folding carton producer Super-
pak A.S. in Izmir, MM Packaging gained access to the Turkish packaging market for 
consumer goods. Thus, our growth path in major markets on the outskirts of Europe 
was continued in accordance with our strategy. 

Programs to increase productivity on all levels of the value-added process were the 
core of our operational measures again in 2008. Savings and optimization potential 
within the site network was continued to be utilized. In this context, production of the 
Russian folding carton site MM Packaging St. Petersburg was relocated to the site of 
the larger affiliated company MM Polygrafoformlenie Packaging, St. Petersburg,  
in December 2008. 

In a market environment which is marked by crowding out competition, we managed 
to keep the tonnage processed with 652,000 tons almost at previous year's level 
(2007: 653,000 tons). The annual average tonnage processed per employee was 
115.1 tons, and thus lower than the year before (2007: 121.3 tons). 

The costs for cartonboard and crude-oil-dependent input factors increased compared to 
the previous year and was passed on to the customers by sales prices. As a result, sales 
increased by 3.3 % or EUR 31.4 million to EUR 990.0 million. The allocation of sales to 
the regions remained constant: Western Europe accounted for roughly 70 %, Eastern 
Europe for 28 % and the non-European markets for 2 % (2007: 70 %; 28 %; 2 %). 

MM Packaging’s customer base consists of approximately 2,000 customers in various 
consumer goods markets. Folding cartons for food and cigarettes remained the largest 
sales areas in 2008 on a pro-rata basis. More than 75 % of the business was made 
with multinational producers of consumer goods. The sales share of the five largest 
customers was roughly 41 % in 2008 (2007: 43 %). 

The operating profit amounted to EUR 97.8 million and showed a slight increase in 
comparison to the previous year’s EUR 96.8 million. The operating margin was thus 
9.9 % (2007: 10.1 %). The return on capital employed leveled at 19.8 % (2007: 21.7 %). 
Cash earnings amounted to EUR 106.5 million (2007: EUR 103.0 million) and thus the 
cash earnings margin increased from 10.7 % to 10.8 %. 
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3. HUMAN RESOURCES 
As of December 31, 2008, the Mayr-Melnhof Group employed 8,240 staff members in 
20 countries were employed with the Mayr-Melnhof Group. Their professional know-
how and commitment form the basis for the long-term success of our company. In 
order to secure it for the future, we markedly intensified our human resource pro-
grams during the past years with a focus on personnel development and recruiting. 
Our aim is to secure a framework in which our employees are able to develop their 
talents and to staff current and future key positions always with the best people. As in 
the past, we are committed to fill vacant existing and new positions with our own staff 
members to the extent possible. Thereby, we create challenging carreer opportunities 
within the Group and a long-term retention of our employees’ know-how. 

Leadership by commitment has always been the distinguishing management concept in 
our corporate culture, which is characterized by trust and the ambition for excellent 
performance. Openness and subsidiarity are the decisive principles in our organization. 

Within our personnel planning, we proactively tackle the shortage in qualified human 
resources expected in conjunction with the demographic development and established 
our “Young Professionals Program” in 2008, a training scheme within our Group, which 
goes far beyond a traditional apprenticeship. After an intensive assessment procedure, 
we help our young professionals to develop top professional competencies, we promote 
their personality and encourage them to prove themselves in an international environ-
ment. At the end of 2008, the Group had 200 apprentices (2007: 195). In addition, we 
retain our long-term employees’ experience and know-how within the Group and thus 
support the transfer of know-how between generations. 

As the market leader, we have the ambition that throughout the whole Group all of our 
employees’ know-how is always up to date and that they are best prepared for future 
challenges. In order to achieve that, we use a great variety of tools, such as ambi-
tioned internal competitions (benchmarking), regular international staff exchanges and 
the installation of know-how forums, even on a virtual basis. 

The central institution of Group-wide training is the MM Academy, which offers train-
ing programs for all staff members of the Group. In addition to expert know-how and 
languages, the training focus is on the development of social and leadership skills. In 
this context, the management training offers tailored training programs for individual 
management levels. At the end of their training program, the participants usually im-
plement their new skills in independently prepared innovation projects within the 
Group. In 2008, roughly 1,650 employees were trained in the course of 800 training 
days in the MM Academy. 
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Our employees’ health and vitality is of utmost importance to us. In this context, we 
offer our employees regular preventive medical checkups, a works doctor as well as 
training sessions about health and work safety. 

Identification with our company’s success and a high degree of commitment are es-
sential components of our corporate culture. Performance-related remuneration sys-
tems in the form of individual agreements or site-specific bonus models have a long 
tradition within the MM Group and ensure that the individual employee is rewarded for 
excellent performance and success. 

DEVELOPMENT OF HEADCOUNT 
As of December 31, 2008, 8,240 staff members were employed with the Mayr-Melnhof 
Group (December 31, 2007: 8,657). Thereof 2,559 were employed with the division 
MM Karton (December 31, 2007: 3,010). This decline is primarily due to the closure of the 
Bulgarian cartonboard mill Nikopol and to the sale of the recovered paper participations. 
As of December 31, 2008, MM Packaging had 5,681 employees (December 31, 2007: 
5,647). The share of employees who were employed abroad from Austria was 80.4 % 
(2007: 78.6 %). Eastern Europe, the Middle East and North Africa accounted for 30.5 % 
of all employees (2007: 32.0 %). 

EMPLOYEES GROUP    
(in %) Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007 

Western Europe (excl. Austria) 49.9 % 46.6 % 

Austria 19.6 % 21.4 % 

Eastern Europe 27.0 % 28.5 % 

Other 3.5 % 3.5 % 

Total 100.0 % 100.0 %    
 
The Management Board would like to thank all staff members for their excellent per-
formance as well as their commitment and flexibility, which enabled us to successfully 
complete the financial year 2008, even under increasingly difficult circumstances. We 
would like to extend words of thanks to the employee representatives for their trustful 
and constructive cooperation. 
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4. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 
Our cartonboard and folding carton products are modern, technologically mature 
packaging materials which are esthetically appealing and can be used in a great vari-
ety of ways. On the basis of our decade-long experience and applying state-of-the-art 
technology, the Mayr-Melnhof Group produces a broad range of cartonboard qualities 
for standard and special applications as well as a multitude of attractive packaging 
solutions for the consumer goods industry. It is the aim of our research and develop-
ment activities to continuously increase the customer value of our products as well as 
the Group’s competitiveness by ongoing increases in quality, improved efficiency and 
innovation. 

Our innovation approach is comprehensive and forms an essential part of the Group’s 
growth strategy. The research and development activities are controlled centrally and 
realized in a practically oriented manner by close cooperation of experts from the 
individual sites. 

In 2008, with the two long-term programs “UnliMMited Innovation” for MM Karton and 
“Break the Frame” for MM Packaging, we realigned the organization and systems of 
our innovation management with the aim to add to our position as cost and market 
leader also the position of a leader in innovation for packaging solutions. We create a 
new innovation culture within the Group by applying the latest methods of innovation 
and know-how management and involving all employees in the creation of forward-
looking solutions. 

We continued our successful project-related cooperation with universities and re-
search centers in fundamental research. In addition, we have contributed to the work 
of legislative and standardization bodies for the specification of future product re-
quirements for decades. This helps us ensure that we can implement such require-
ments within a short period of time. 

In 2008, MM Karton continued to optimize the specific parameters of the packaging 
material cartonboard, such as gloss and smoothness, by formulation changes. In the 
cartonboard mill Neuss, a new cartonboard quality for the processing with flexo print-
ing and lamination on corrugated cardboard was developed. At the Eerbeek site, a 
refiner plant for milling pulp was installed and the development of a cartonboard en-
tirely consisting of fresh fibers was initiated. In the cartonboard mill Deisswil, the fat 
barrier feature of a speciality cartonboard for animal food packaging was improved. 

In cartonboard processing, we adjusted our products and services on offer in accor-
dance with the market demand for comprehensive packaging solutions, which increas-
ingly include the upstream and downstream areas of the supply chain. As we master 
all common printing technologies such as offset, gravure and flexo printing and com-
plex finishing methods, and due to the extension of our services ranging from consult-
ing to co-packing, we are able to increase the value added. 
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The development of packaging solutions is generally effected in a customized manner 
and by systematic involvement of the innovation network consisting of specialists of 
the individual sites and the Innovation Centre PacProject in Hamburg. Our aim is to 
enable our customers to clearly differentiate their market range by innovations in con-
struction, packaging form and a combination of finishing processes. 

A claim to premium standards by high-quality finishing, a clearly identifiable design, con-
venience and the requirement of sustainability mark the current trends, which we meet 
by innovative packaging with regard to material combinations, design and functionality. 

A new development by MM Packaging International, "Accessible pouch", was awarded 
the German Packaging Award and the Worldstar Award in 2008. In addition, a packag-
ing solution by the MM Packaging site Schausberger, "Folding carton with integrated 
clamp", was nominated for the Austrian national award "Vorbildliche Verpackung" 
(Exemplary Packaging) 2008. 

5. RISK MANAGEMENT 
As an internationally operating company, Mayr-Melnhof Group faces various risks. Due 
to the variety of sales markets, the broad geographical positioning of the sites as well 
as the possibilities to flexibly adjust production, the entire Group is never exposed to 
individual, specific market or production risks. 

Within the framework of the Group-wide risk management system, risks are regularly 
identified systematically, analyzed as to their potential effects and controlled in accor-
dance with the Group’s risk policy. Due to the long-term concentration on our core 
business, we have a solid basis to recognize potential risks at an early stage and to 
employ suitable risk management measures. In accordance with our subsidiary or-
ganization principle, operative risks are managed by the local companies in close co-
operation with the central functions. As the managing holding company, Mayr-Melnhof 
Karton AG is responsible for the Group-wide risk control. 

Risk prevention is our top priority and is to the extent economically justifiable com-
plemented by suitable hedging instruments as well as by the Group’s insurance pro-
gram. The Group’s auditor regularly assesses the functionality of the risk management 
and reports to the Supervisory Board and Management Board.  
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SALES 
The demand for cartonboard largely correlates with the macroeconomic demand. 
Thus, market risks can especially arise from the economic development in the Group’s 
sales markets. Despite the increasing concentration in the European cartonboard and 
folding carton industries, there are overcapacities, which manifest themselves in a 
continuously strong competition. In addition, large cartonboard capacities were 
started up in the Far East during the past few years which clearly intensified the pres-
sure with respect on terms and conditions on the non-European cartonboard markets. 
We assume that this situation will continue during the next years. 

MM Karton and MM Packaging supply a wide range of customers, more than 1,000 
customers each. With our cartonboard production, we mostly supply small and me-
dium-sized producers of folding cartons, however, our folding carton production shows 
a clearly higher customer concentration, as roughly 80 % of the business is transacted 
with multinational customers. Nevertheless, the dependency of individual customers is 
to be classified as manageable. For long-term agreements, price fluctuations of key 
input factors are taken into consideration. 

Cartonboard and folding cartons are industrial mass products and subject to a perma-
nent price pressure. Thus, the Mayr-Melnhof Group pursues cost, competence and 
innovation leadership with the aim to secure its leading position on the market in the 
long run and to make the best possible use of new growth opportunities. 

PROCUREMENT 
Fibers, energy and coating chemicals are the most essential input factors in carton-
board production. Their prices might be subject to material fluctuations. In order to 
diminish short-term peaks of the recovered paper prices, the most important fiber for 
MM Karton, we maintain strategic stores and procure a part of our needs based on 
longer-term contracts. The broad European procurement basis and increasing recycling 
quotas in the long run in Europe are expected to ensure a sufficient future supply. 

The cartonboard mills mainly cover their energy needs with natural gas from which 
steam and electricity is highly efficiently generated by means of cogeneration of heat 
and power. Any additional electricity needs are procured from third parties. We man-
age the price risk by selectively fixing prices for future periods and by monitoring the 
market on an ongoing basis. In accordance with regulations by individual countries 
and in accordance with availability, the needed volumes are combined and contracts 
are concluded with national or international providers. 

For the production of folding cartons, cartonboard is by far the most important raw 
material. Thanks to sufficient European capacities and several suppliers, the continu-
ous supply of the facilities is ensured. 

In addition to energy, the Group depends on the development of the crude oil price, in 
particular within the areas of chemicals, inks, logistics and transport packaging. 
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The Group's procurement is controlled centrally and realized within specific purchase 
categories. Individual required volumes are bundled in order to ensure a continuous 
supply at the best possible conditions. 

In case any increases in input factor costs can no longer be compensated internally, 
efforts are made to adjust the sales prices in the short term. 

OPERATING RISKS 
By using state-of-the-art technology as well as regular maintenance and audits, we 
minimize the interruption risk and guarantee continuous production. Sufficient back-
up capacities within the Group ensure the sustainable supply to our customers in case 
of any longer lasting interruptions of production. We manage any integration risks in 
case of acquisitions by concentration on the core business, standardization and 
speedy transfer of know-how as well as inclusion into the relevant segment’s internal 
performance benchmarking. 

FINANCIAL RISKS 
An active cash management ensures that the Group has sufficient own funds or credit 
facilities which can be utilized at any time in order to meet liabilities and to finance 
further growth. Investments are mainly made in bonds with a high rating and on the 
money market. Acquisitions and investments are always verified as to their risk as-
pects and must correspond to clearly defined profitability requirements. 

The risk of default relating to outstanding payments from customers is kept at a low 
level by customer credit insurances and an ongoing credit assessment. 

Interest and foreign exchange risks are recorded systematically and limited or elimi-
nated by suitable hedging instruments. In this context, mainly foreign exchange for-
wards and swaps are used. The most important currencies to be hedged by the foreign 
currency management are the British Pound, the US Dollar, the Swiss Franc and the 
Polish Zloty. In Eastern and South Eastern Europe we minimize the foreign exchange 
risk to the extent possible by matching currencies in business transactions or by price 
adjustment mechanisms for longer-term agreements. Derivative financial instruments 
are neither used for trading nor for speculation purposes. The risk of loss related to 
derivative financial instruments due to a default of the counterparty is manageable. 

OTHER RISKS 
We minimized the risk of a long-term total breakdown of the central data processing 
systems by installing separated parallel systems. 

Our business activities might entail other risks in addition to those mentioned herein. 
However, as of today, we do not know of such risks or we consider them as insignifi-
cant. 

From a current point of view, the total assessment of the risk situation does not reveal 
any risks to the Group as going concern. 
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6. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
In addition to product-related technical and economic advantages, the use of carton-
board as a packaging product also offers an ecological packaging solution marked by 
utmost sustainability. It is based on the use of renewable resources and shows the 
highest recycling rate as well as low carbon dioxide emissions. 

The Mayr-Melnhof Group’s business operations have been concentrated on the envi-
ronmentally friendly production of cartonboard and packaging solutions for decades 
now. Cartonboard is made from recycled fibers which are complemented by virgin 
fibers. This cartonboard is processed to high-quality folding carton packaging for con-
sumer goods which can be recycled almost completely. Thus, the principles of recy-
clability have always been an integral part of our business model. 

In a competitive environment, the economical use of resources is decisive. This is why 
we always apply the best technologies available for all our production processes. This 
helps us to ensure the greatest possible efficiency and quality for the manufacture of 
our products. The environmental protection measures we take usually also cover any 
upstream and downstream areas. An internal benchmarking process ensures that best 
practice models are speedily implemented within the Group. 

Due to the ongoing optimization in the Mayr-Melnhof cartonboard mills, we have been 
achieving optimal values on an European level for many specific consumption and 
emission figures for a long time now. Thus, further improvements are hardly possible 
or are subject to technological innovations. 

The current optimizations in the area of environmental protection mainly concentrate 
on further savings in the consumption of raw materials, energy and in the logistics 
area. Environmental management systems, which are implemented in an increasing 
number of sites, systematically support this process. Roughly half of the cartonboard 
production as well as four folding carton sites were certified according to ISO 14001 
as of December 31, 2008. In addition, the virgin fibers cartonboard mills Baiersbronn 
and Eerbeek are certified in accordance with the internationally recognized forest 
certification system FSC “Forest Stewardship Council“ and according to PEFC “Pro-
gram for Endorsement of Forest Certification Schemes“. Group-wide audits according 
to ISO 9001 are taking place in order to continuously improve quality management. 
Furthermore all cartonboard mills and folding carton facilities that serve the foods 
industry are certified in accordance with the HACCP hygiene management system. 
Since 2008, GMP, “good manufacturing practice” has also been co-certified in carton-
board production. The importance of workplace safety was accounted for by the certi-
fication of further mills in accordance with OHSAS in 2008. 

The mills within the EU received the carbon dioxide emission certificates in connection 
with the use of fossil fuels. As in the years before, there were no shortfalls  
as of December 31, 2008. 
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In 2008, a general focus of the Group was on the continuation of the REACH regula-
tion “Safe use of chemicals” and the Traceability Directive “Traceability of raw materi-
als” as well as on the realization of environmental and food-law-related requirements 
for packaging. 

Carbon Footprint 
The Mayr-Melnhof Group complies with the framework of CEPI (Confederation of Euro-
pean Paper Industry), which developed a uniform approach for the calculation of the 
carbon footprint, which amounts to roughly a ton of fossil carbon dioxide emission per 
produced and processed ton of carton. The information shown is to help consumers to 
assess the effects of the production process and of the product on the environment. 

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION MEASURES IN 2008 
 
MM KARTON 
 
Energy 
The division-wide initiative “e.fficiency” to reduce the specific energy consumption, 
which started already in 2007, was continued with priority. The installation of low-
energy units, use of waste heat and insulation measures are just a few examples of 
the various individual projects.  

Water 
In the mills Frohnleiten and Deisswil, the water quality was further improved (e. g. 
reduction of the amount of phosphate). In Gernsbach, the water treatment was opti-
mized by using sand filters. In Baiersbronn, an essential decrease in the residues of 
wastewater treatment was achieved. 

Chemicals 
The main emphasis was on quantity savings by optimizing the formulations as well as 
on storage safety. 

Noise 
Noise reductions were reached by using covered drive systems as well as by sound 
insulations for roof ventilators. 

CO2 
With the combined transport from Frohnleiten to North Germany, the carbon dioxide 
emissions were reduced. 

MM PACKAGING 
In connection with the ongoing measures taken to increase the efficiency of materials 
and productivity, environment-related optimizations were in particular made in the 
areas of energy, water and solvents. The energy projects mainly focused on climate 
control, waste heat recovery, insulations as well as compressor and vacuum systems. 
Improvements in relation to the use of water mainly concentrated on the installation of 
osmosis systems. For solvents, the focus was mainly on procedures for the optimiza-
tion of consumption and recovery. 
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7. DISCLOSURES ACCORDING TO ARTICLE 243a 
OF THE AUSTRIAN COMPANIES CODE 

 
Composition of capital, stock categories 
Please refer to the information provided in the consolidated financial statements  
under note 15 A). 

Restrictions concerning the voting rights and the transfer of shares 
Approximately 64 % of the shares are held by the core shareholder families in a syndi-
cate. A syndicate agreement exists, which regulates the transferability of shares within 
the syndicate and to outside parties. Issues that concern the annual general meeting 
are decided by the syndicate with a simple majority. Modifications of the syndicate 
agreement require a three-fourths majority. 

Direct or indirect participation in capital of at least 10 % 
According to the information provided by the Company, minimum participations of 
10 % in the capital at year-end 2008 were as follows: 

MMS Mayr-Melnhof-Saurau Beteiligungsverwaltung KG 
CAMA Privatstiftung  
MM Salzburg Privatstiftung  

The owners of shares with special control rights and a description of these rights 
There are no shares with special control rights. 

The type of voting rights control for capital participation by employees, if they do 
not directly exercise the right to vote 
There is no such capital participation model for employees. 

The provisions for appointment and revocation of members of the Management 
Board and the Supervisory Board and regarding alteration of the Articles of 
Association of the Company that do not arise directly from the Act 
There are no provisions of this type. 

The authorizations of the members of the Management Board that do not arise 
directly from the Act, in particular with regard to the option of issuing or 
repurchasing shares 
Please refer to the information provided in the consolidated financial statements  
under note 15 A). 
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All significant agreements to which the Company is party and that take effect are 
modified or terminated in the event of a change of control of the Company as a 
result of a takeover offer as well as their effects; excepted are agreements which 
would significantly damage the Company if made public, unless the Company is 
obligated to make such information public as a result of other statutory provisions 
The protective clause with regard to the disclosure of this information is invoked. The 
scope of the business in question is considered reasonable. 

Existence and significant contents of compensation agreements between the 
Company and the members of its Management and Supervisory Boards or 
employees in the event of a public takeover offer 
There are no agreements of this type.  

8. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
There have been no subsequent events after the balance sheet date. 
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9. OUTLOOK ON THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2009 
This outlook is based on the management’s assessment as of February 27, 2009 and 
does not take into consideration any effects of possible acquisitions, divestments or 
other structural changes in the course of 2009. The previous and the following outlook 
statements are subject to known as well as unknown risks and uncertainties due to 
which the actual events might deviate from the statements made herein. 

In the course of the progressing recession on the main market Europe, we expect a 
noticeable reduction of the mass purchasing power during the following months, 
which will also affect the demand for cartonboard and folding cartons. After a consid-
erably declining order volume in the cartonboard area at the end of the year 2008, 
demand commenced late and only slowly with a high volatility at the end of January. 
Thus there are no indicators for a short-term improvement of utilization, which in turn 
indicates that further, market-related machine downtime is unavoidable. The incoming 
orders for folding cartons are in total still sufficient, but there are already strong dif-
ferences by region and customer segment. 

Selective adjustments of the number of employees to the lower utilization levels of 
individual sites are unavoidable, however, such measures will not reduce the Group’s 
long-term performance. 

The recent considerable decline in the costs of raw materials will not be able to sup-
port the margins but will instead tighten the existing demand-related price pressure. 
The prior target is thus to maintain and gain market shares. 

On a Group-wide basis, production concentrates on measures which contribute to an 
improved cost structure and add to productivity. Investing activities are continued with 
a focus on projects with short-term payback. 

Sufficient liquidity and financing facilities in connection with the leading position as to 
costs form a solid basis for us to continue to strengthen our position within the indus-
try, even under the current circumstances. 

As a result of the insecure economic development, we are not able to make any re-
sults forecasts for 2009 at this time. 

 
Vienna, February 27, 2009 

 
The Management Board 

Wilhelm Hörmanseder m.p. 

Andreas Blaschke m.p. Franz Rappold m.p. Oliver Schumy m.p. 

 



 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 27  

 
 
 
 28 CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS 
 
 29 CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
 
 30 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 
 31 CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS 
 
  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 32 (1) Summary of significant accounting policies 
 44 (2) Key assumptions entailing a considerable risk of a change in value 
 45 (3) Financial risk management 
 47 (4) Significant changes in the consolidated companies 
 50 (5) Other operating income 
 50 (6) Other operating expenses 
 51 (7) Other income (expenses) – net 
 51 (8) Income taxes 
 55 (9) Development of fixed assets 
 57 (10) Financial assets 
 59 (11) Financial instruments 
 61 (12) Inventories 
 62 (13) Trade receivables 
 62 (14) Prepaid expenses and other current assets 
 63 (15) Equity 
 65 (16) Financial liabilities 
 68 (17) Provisions for other non-current liabilities and charges 
 73 (18) Liabilities and provisions for income taxes 
 73 (19) Trade liabilities 
 73 (20) Deferred income and other current liabilities 
 74 (21) Provisions for other current liabilities and charges 
 75 (22) Commitments and contingent liabilities 
 76 (23) Subsequent events 
 77 (24) Segment reporting information 
 79 (25) Disclosure on transactions with related parties 
 80 (26) Supplementary disclosures to the notes in accordance with regulation 245a of 

the Austrian Companies Code 
 
 
 86 REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
 

Consolidated Financial 
Statements 



 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 28  

    

(all amounts in thousands of EUR except share and per share data) Notes 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2008 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2007 

Sales  1,731,194.1 1,736,959.2 

Cost of sales  (1,363,852.6) (1,331,292.1) 

Gross margin  367,341.5 405,667.1 

    

Other operating income 5 11,646.4 10,746.7 

Selling and distribution expenses  (165,192.9) (172,033.4) 

Administrative expenses  (75,454.3) (74,204.0) 

Other operating expenses 6 (1,400.2) (758.2) 

Operating profit  136,940.5 169,418.2 

    

Gain from disposal of businesses 4 19,992.1 0.0 

Result from wound-up activities 4 (21,594.8) 0.0 

Financial income  14,714.2 14,534.1 

Financial expenses  (8,093.7) (9,082.9) 

Other income (expenses) – net 7 (3,999.6) (4,005.5) 

Profit before tax  137,958.7 170,863.9 

    

Income tax expense 8 (41,049.3) (54,289.9) 

Profit for the year  96,909.4 116,574.0 

    

    

Attributable to:    
Shareholders of the Company  94,745.1 114,859.2 

Minority interests  2,164.3 1,714.8 

Profit for the year  96,909.4 116,574.0 

    

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the shareholders of the 
Company during the year:    
Basic and diluted average number of shares outstanding  21,637,343 22,010,084 

Basic and diluted earnings per share  4.38 5.22 
    
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated Income 
Statements 
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(all amounts in thousands of EUR) Notes Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007 

   

ASSETS   

   

Property, plant and equipment 9 562,919.0 598,803.0 

Investment property 9 1,758.9 1,913.0 

Intangible assets including goodwill 9 59,328.9 55,919.6 

Available-for-sale financial assets 10 2,585.6 1,540.4 

Other financial assets 10 5,451.3 6,123.3 

Deferred income taxes 8 9,749.1 11,529.0 

Non-current assets  641,792.8 675,828.3 

    

Inventories 12 213,512.4 252,733.5 

Trade receivables 13 181,055.4 203,880.6 

Income tax receivables  13,121.3 9,686.3 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 14 32,605.4 37,871.2 

Available-for-sale financial assets 10 154,046.2 3,000.0 

Cash and cash equivalents  189,786.4 350,494.1 

Current assets  784,127.1 857,665.7 

TOTAL ASSETS  1,425,919.9 1,533,494.0 

    

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    

    

Share capital 15 88,000.0 88,000.0 

Additional paid-in capital  168,453.4 168,453.4 

Treasury shares 15 (43,508.7) (100.1) 

Retained earnings 15 708,225.2 650,462.3 

Other reserves 15 (29,325.6) (185.3) 

Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company  891,844.3 906,630.3 

Minority interests  21,806.4 27,265.8 

Total equity  913,650.7 933,896.1 

    

Interest-bearing financial liabilities 16 71,761.2 114,329.1 

Provisions for other non-current liabilities and charges 17 76,482.9 81,172.7 

Deferred income taxes 8 35,499.0 39,976.8 

Non-current liabilities  183,743.1 235,478.6 

    

Interest-bearing financial liabilities 16 85,274.1 66,631.2 

Financial lease liabilities 16 0.0 1,540.0 

Liabilities and provisions for income tax 18 15,268.6 4,199.9 

Trade liabilities 19 113,138.8 157,831.1 

Deferred income and other current liabilities 20 43,049.3 53,800.1 

Provisions for other current liabilities and charges 21 71,795.3 80,117.0 

Current liabilities  328,526.1 364,119.3 

Total liabilities  512,269.2 599,597.9 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  1,425,919.9 1,533,494.0 
    
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 



 

   

      
  Equity attributable to 

      

 
(all amounts in thousands of EUR) 

 
Notes Share capital 

Additional paid-in 
capital Treasury shares  

Balance at Jan. 1, 2007 87,240.0 169,213.4 (54,477.3) 

Profit for the year     

Profit (loss) directly recognized in equity, net of tax:     

Net profit (loss) from valuation of available-for-sale financial assets     

Foreign currency translation differences     

Total profit (loss) directly recognized in equity  0.0 0.0 0.0 

Total profit for the year  0.0 0.0 0.0 

Dividends paid     

Capital contribution by minority shareholders     

Acquisitions of businesses     

Capital increase funded from the Company's own resources  8,760.0 (8,760.0)  

Purchase of treasury shares at cost    (2,381.8) 

Cancelation of treasury shares  (8,000.0) 8,000.0 56,759.0 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2007  88,000.0 168,453.4 (100.1) 

Profit for the year     

Profit (loss) directly recognized in equity, net of tax:     

Net profit (loss) from valuation of available-for-sale financial assets 15    

Foreign currency translation differences 15    

Total profit (loss) directly recognized in equity  0.0 0.0 0.0 

Total profit for the year  0.0 0.0 0.0 

Dividends paid 15    

Acquisitions and dispositions of businesses     

Purchase of treasury shares at cost    (43,408.6) 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2008  88,000.0 168,453.4 (43,508.7)       
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 

Consolidated Statements of 
Changes in Equity 
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shareholders of the Company   

 Profit (loss) directly recognized in equity    

Retained earnings 
Valuation of available-for-

sale financial assets 
Foreign currency 

translation Other reserves Total Minority interests Total equity 

623,189.5 609.8 2,894.6 3,504.4 828,670.0 22,796.2 851,466.2 

114,859.2   0.0 114,859.2 1,714.8 116,574.0 

       

 (639.3)  (639.3) (639.3) 11.2 (628.1) 

  (3,050.4) (3,050.4) (3,050.4) (870.3) (3,920.7) 

0.0 (639.3) (3,050.4) (3,689.7) (3,689.7) (859.1) (4,548.8) 

114,859.2 0.0 0.0 (3,689.7) 111,169.5 855.7 112,025.2 

(30,827.4)   0.0 (30,827.4) (1,418.1) (32,245.5) 

   0.0 0.0 2,663.5 2,663.5 

   0.0 0.0 2,368.5 2,368.5 

   0.0 0.0  0.0 

   0.0 (2,381.8)  (2,381.8) 

(56,759.0)   0.0 0.0  0.0 

650,462.3 (29.5) (155.8) (185.3) 906,630.3 27,265.8 933,896.1 

94,745.1   0.0 94,745.1 2,164.3 96,909.4 

       

 826.2  826.2 826.2 (18.1) 808.1 

  (29,966.5) (29,966.5) (29,966.5) (3,818.4) (33,784.9) 

0.0 826.2 (29,966.5) (29,140.3) (29,140.3) (3,836.5) (32,976.8) 

94,745.1 0.0 0.0 (29,140.3) 65,604.8 (1,672.2) 63,932.6 

(36,982.2)   0.0 (36,982.2) (1,176.2) (38,158.4) 

   0.0 0.0 (2,611.0) (2,611.0) 

   0.0 (43,408.6)  (43,408.6) 

708,225.2 796.7 (30,122.3) (29,325.6) 891,844.3 21,806.4 913,650.7 
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(all amounts in thousands of EUR) Notes 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2008 
Year ended  

Dec. 31, 2007 

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:    

Profit for the year  96,909.4 116,574.0 

Adjustments to reconcile profit for the year to net cash provided by operating 
activities:    
Income tax expense 8 41,049.3 54,289.9 

Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets 9 83,479.6 89,229.7 

Gains (losses) from disposals of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets 5 (890.5) (1,276.4) 

Gains (losses) from disposals of available-for-sale and other financial assets  16.3 52.4 

Gain from disposal of businesses 4 (19,992.1) 0.0 

Result from wound-up activities 4 21,594.8 0.0 

Interest income  (14,714.2) (14,486.2) 

Interest expense  8,071.1 8,982.6 

Share of profit (loss) of associated companies  (667.8) (377.9) 

Other  (2,350.3) (2,122.7) 

Changes in working capital:    

Inventories  30,704.3 (49,948.8) 

Trade receivables  15,169.1 (6,555.3) 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets  8,404.2 401.4 

Trade liabilities  (41,424.1) 155.8 

Deferred income and other short-term liabilities  (3,705.2) 4,193.1 

Provisions for other short-term liabilities and charges  (6,507.6) 4,773.4 

Changes in working capital  2,640.7 (46,980.4) 

Cash flow provided by operating activities excluding interest and taxes paid  215,146.3 203,885.0 

Income taxes paid  (38,530.8) (65,115.1) 

Net cash provided by operating activities  176,615.5 138,769.9 

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:    

Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets  1,637.2 4,012.0 

Purchases of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets  (98,203.3) (96,717.2) 

Acquisitions of companies or businesses, net of cash and cash equivalents acquired 
(2008: thous. EUR 1,457.1; 2007: thous. EUR 422.7) 4 (12,353.5) (4,563.5) 

Proceeds from disposal of companies or businesses 4 27,100.0 0.0 

Proceeds from disposals of available-for-sale and other financial assets  3,872.9 80,305.5 

Purchases of available-for-sale and other financial assets  (155,671.8) (1,665.7) 

Dividends received  667.8 377.9 

Interest received  12,738.8 13,570.7 

Net cash used in investing activities  (220,211.9) (4,680.3) 

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:    

Interest paid  (8,104.6) (8,957.7) 

Issuances of interest-bearing financial liabilities  1,638.7 25,092.7 

Repayments of interest-bearing financial liabilities  (27,175.2) (59,391.3) 

Treasury shares 15 (43,408.6) (2,381.8) 

Dividends paid to the shareholders of the Company 15 (36,982.2) (30,827.4) 

Dividends paid to minority interests  (1,176.2) (1,418.1) 

Capital contribution by minority interests  (27.7) 2,663.5 

Net cash used in financing activities  (115,235.8) (75,220.1) 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  (1,875.5) (802.6) 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  (160,707.7) 58,066.9 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  350,494.1 292,427.2 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  189,786.4 350,494.1 
    
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
 

Consolidated Cash Flow 
Statements 
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(1) Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
A) GENERAL EXPLANATIONS 
 
The Mayr-Melnhof Group 
Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) are primarily engaged in manu-
facturing and selling cartonboard and folding cartons within Europe. The Group is divided 
into two operating segments (see note 24): Mayr-Melnhof Cartonboard (“MM Karton”) and 
Mayr-Melnhof Packaging (“MM Packaging”). MM Karton manufactures and markets nu-
merous grades of cartonboard, concentrating on coated cartonboard produced predomi-
nantly from recovered paper. MM Packaging converts cartonboard into industrial printed 
folding cartons mainly for food (e.g. cereals, dried foods, sugar, confectionary and baked 
products), other consumer goods (e.g. cosmetics and toiletries, detergents, household 
articles and toys), and into cigarette packaging as well as high-grade confectionary pack-
aging. 

The parent company of the Group is Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG, located at Brahmsplatz 6, 
1041 Vienna, Austria. 

Basic accounting principles 
The consolidated financial statements and notes thereto of Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG and 
its subsidiaries have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS” and “IAS”) as adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(“IASB”) and the respective interpretations as adopted by the Standing Interpretations 
Committee (“SIC”) and by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(“IFRIC”) as to be applied within the European Union. 

There are no further liabilities or claims with regard to third parties other than those 
which have been recorded in the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto. 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting and recognition standards of IFRS is performed by 
making estimates and assumptions for certain items, which affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the balance 
sheet date and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period. Actual amounts may differ from those estimates and assumptions. 

All amounts herein, except share data and per share amounts, are specified in thousands 
of Euro unless otherwise stated. 

Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 
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B) CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES AND CONSOLIDATION METHODS 
The consolidated financial statements and notes thereto include the accounts of Mayr-
Melnhof Karton AG (“the Company”) and all wholly and majority-owned subsidiaries, ex-
cept where control is temporary or does not reside within the Group. Minority interest 
represents minority shareholders’ proportionate share of the equity and profit in several 
majority-owned subsidiaries of the Company. Investments in companies in which Mayr-
Melnhof Karton AG has the ability to exercise significant influence over its operating and 
financial policies, generally when the Group holds at least 20 % but not more than a 50 % 
voting interest, are accounted for under the equity method. Investments in companies in 
which less than a significant influence is maintained are accounted for at cost or fair 
value as appropriate. All effects of intercompany transactions have been eliminated. 

According to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”, all acquisitions of companies and busi-
nesses shall be accounted for using the purchase method. Thereby, the cost of the ac-
quired interest is offset against the acquirer’s interest in equity at the acquisition date. 
Any difference between the cost of acquisition and the acquirer’s interest in equity shall 
be allocated to the respective identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired company 
or business up to its fair values irrespective of the percentage of the interest acquired. 
Accordingly, the interest of the remaining shareholders shall be recognized at fair value of 
their interest in equity. A remaining excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the 
equity interest acquired shall be capitalized as goodwill. Negative goodwill shall be recog-
nized immediately in the income statement. 
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C) ACCOUNTING AND RECOGNITION PRINCIPLES 
During the preparation of the consolidated financial statements and notes, relevant 
amendments to existing IAS, IFRS and interpretations as well as newly enacted IFRS and 
IFRIC interpretations, as published in the Official Journal of the European Union and put 
into effect no later than December 31, 2008, have been taken into consideration.  

In this context, amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 7, which allow the reclassification of 
financial instruments, are concerned. The changed regulations do not show impact on the 
Group’s financial statements and financial position. 

Until December 31, 2008, the following standards and interpretations have been changed 
or newly issued and endorsed by the European Union, but have not come into effect so 
far: amendments to IAS 23 “Borrowing Costs”, which stipulate the obligatory capitaliza-
tion of borrowing costs for the acquisition of certain assets, amendments to IFRS 2 
“Share-based Payment” and amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements 
(revised 2007)”, which will change the presentation of the Income Statement and “Other 
Comprehensive Income”. Additionally, IFRIC 13 “Customer Loyalty Programmes” and 
IFRIC 14 “IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements 
and their Interaction” have become part of the accounting principles of the European 
Union. The mentioned standards and interpretations have to be applied from 2009 on-
wards. The possibility of earlier application was not used. 

The amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements (revised 2007)” will 
show an impact on the presentation of the Consolidated Income Statement and the Con-
solidated Statement of Changes in Equity for periods starting after January 1, 2009. Fur-
ther mentioned changes or amendments are not expected to have significant impact on 
the Group’s financial statements and financial position. 

IFRS 8 “Operating Segments”, which was already endorsed by the European Union last 
year, has been applied earlier. Its implementation will be obligatory from the  
financial year 2009 onwards. 
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Foreign currency translation 
The assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries, where the functional currency is other 
than the Euro, are translated into Euro using exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet 
date. Revenues and expenses are translated using average exchange rates for the year. 
Differences arising from the translation of assets and liabilities in comparison with the 
previous periods are included as a separate part of shareholders’ equity. Profit and loss 
resulting from foreign currency transactions are included in the results from operations as 
incurred. 

Exchange differences arising on monetary items that form part of a net investment in a 
foreign operation are recognized initially in accordance with IAS 21.32 as a separate 
component of equity and recognized in profit or loss upon repayment or disposal of the 
net investment. 

The exchange rates of the relevant currencies of non-Euro participating countries used in 
preparing the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto were as follows: 

      

  

Exchange rate 
at Dec. 31,  

2008 

Exchange rate 
at Dec. 31,  

2007 

Annual average 
exchange rate  

2008 

Annual average 
exchange rate  

2007 
Currency:  1 EUR = 1 EUR = 1 EUR = 1 EUR = 

Bulgaria BGN 1.96 1.96 1.96 1.96 

Czech Republic CZK 26.88 26.63 25.13 27.71 

Denmark DKK 7.45 7.46 7.46 7.45 

Great Britain GBP 0.95 0.73 0.79 0.69 

Jordan JOD 1.00 1.04 1.04 1.04 

Poland PLN 4.15 3.59 3.52 3.78 

Romania RON 4.02 3.61 3.69 3.34 

Russia RUB 41.28 35.99 36.64 35.07 

Switzerland CHF 1.49 1.65 1.58 1.64 

Tunisia TND 1.84 1.80 1.80 1.75 

Turkey TRY 2.15 1.72 1.89 1.79 

Ukraine UAH 10.85 7.42 7.78 6.92       
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Revenue recognition 
The Group recognizes revenue when convincing evidence of an arrangement exists, prod-
ucts are shipped to customers, the price of the transaction is fixed and determinable, and 
payment is reasonably assured. Revenues are recorded net of discounts, such as sales 
incentives, customer bonuses and rebates granted. Provisions for estimated costs related 
to product warranty and returns are made at the time the related sale is recorded. Ship-
ping and handling costs are recorded as selling expenses. 

Earnings per share 
Earnings per share is calculated in accordance with IAS 33 “Earnings per Share”. The 
standard requires the calculation of two key figures, basic and diluted earnings per share. 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit or loss attributable to the share-
holders of the Company by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during 
the financial year. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting outstanding 
shares, assuming conversion of all potentially dilutive stock options. Neither as of 
December 31, 2008, nor as of December 31, 2007, are there any exercisable or 
outstanding options. 

Research and development costs 
Research costs are recognized as expense as incurred. Development costs are capitalized 
only after the following criteria can be verified and are met cumulatively: it has to be possible 
among other criteria to use or sell internally generated intangible assets and, additionally, 
future economic benefits for the Group have to be achieved. Neither as of 
December 31, 2008, nor as of December 31, 2007, have development costs been capitalized. 

Intangible assets including goodwill 
Acquired intangible assets which are determined to have a finite useful life including li-
censes, patents, concessions, trademarks and assets regarding customer relationships 
are capitalized at cost and amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 
lives ranging from 5 to 10 years. Acquired intangible assets which are determined to have 
an indefinite useful life are not amortized but tested for impairment on an annual basis. 
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According to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”, goodwill is not amortized but tested for 
impairment on an annual basis. The recoverability evaluation of goodwill is performed at 
least annually or when it is evident that an impairment exists. Such impairment test is 
conducted on the operating segment level. In this context, the value in use of the seg-
ment is compared to the carrying amounts of non-current assets, comprising property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets including goodwill. The value in use of the 
segment is determined by assessing the present value of the estimated future cash flows. 
If the fair value of the operating segment is less than these carrying amounts, the differ-
ence is recognized as an impairment loss. 

Neither in 2008 nor in 2007 had goodwill to be amortized as a result of an impairment. 

Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are recognized at cost less accumulated depreciation. 
Therefore, depreciation expense is recognized using the straight-line method over the 
following estimated useful lives: 

  
Buildings 10–50 years

Technical equipment and machines 8–15 years

Other equipment, fixtures and fittings 4–10 years  
 
It is the policy of the Group to capitalize renewal investments and leasehold improve-
ments. Generally, costs resulting in a prolongation of utilization or in an increase in future 
utilization of assets are capitalized. Current cost of maintenance and repairs is recognized 
as expense as incurred. 

The cost of internally generated assets includes the respective direct costs as well as 
directly attributable material and manufacturing overhead costs including depreciation. 
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Investment property 
The Group holds investment property, which is disclosed and reported separately and 
recognized at depreciated cost. Investment property concerns land and buildings mainly 
held to achieve rental income. Additionally, this property is not used in the production or 
for administration or selling purposes. 

Leases 
The Group is exclusively lessee in lease transactions. As far as the Group substantially 
bears all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of the asset, thereby being 
considered as beneficial owner (“Financial lease”), the asset is recognized under non-
current assets at the present value of the non-cancelable minimum lease payments, re-
cording a corresponding lease obligation as liability. For all remaining lease transactions 
(“Operating lease”), the lease-related payments are recognized as expense as incurred. 

Impairment of non-current-assets 
A recoverability evaluation of non-current assets is performed as soon as events that have 
occurred and circumstances that have changed indicate that the carrying amount of an 
asset or a group of assets exceeds its recoverable amount. In such a case, the carrying 
amount of the asset or the group of assets is compared with the higher of the fair value 
less costs to sell or its present value of estimated future cash flows. In case that the rea-
sons for an impairment no longer exist, a revaluation has to be conducted. Goodwill and 
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized but annually tested for 
impairment in accordance with IAS 36. 

Investments in associated companies 
Material investments in which the Company has a significant influence are accounted for 
using the equity method. In general, the accounting principles as stated in this section are 
also applied for investments in associated companies. 
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Marketable securities 
Marketable securities have been classified under measurement category “available-for-sale” 
and are carried at fair value. The corresponding unrealized profit and loss, if it does not rep-
resent a permanent loss, is directly recognized in equity, net of deferred income taxes. 

Other financial assets 
Other financial assets comprise investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries, other in-
vestments, loans to third parties and other financial investments. Investments in non-
consolidated subsidiaries and other investments are in fact held as available-for-sale, but 
in general these investments are recognized at cost, as no active market exists for these 
investments and the respective fair values can not be reliably measured within an eco-
nomically justifiable period of time. In case of an indicated lower fair value, this value is 
recorded. Loans to third parties are classified under measurement category “Financial 
assets” measured at cost less accumulated depreciation, whereas non-interest and low-
interest-bearing loans are recognized at present value. All remaining other investments 
are impaired in case of a permanent reduction in value. In case that the reasons for im-
pairment no longer exist, a revaluation has to be conducted. 

Deferred taxes 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are accounted for in accordance with IAS 12 “Income 
Taxes” for all temporary differences between the tax bases of existing assets and liabili-
ties and their value in the financial statements. In this context, those enacted statutory 
tax rates have to be applied which are applicable in future periods in which these differ-
ences will be reversed. Permanent differences are not included in the calculation of de-
ferred taxes. Furthermore, deferred tax assets are recorded for those tax loss carryfor-
wards which can be utilized. The effect of tax rate changes on deferred tax assets and 
liabilities is recognized in income tax expense in the period of a tax rate change. If realiza-
tion of deferred tax assets becomes improbable, a valuation allowance will be recorded. 
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Inventories 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market, with cost determined on an average 
basis. In order to determine purchase and/or manufacturing costs of raw materials, 
manufacturing and operation supplies and goods for resale, a weighted average price 
method taking into consideration the sales market is applied. Work in process and fin-
ished goods are recorded including material, labor and manufacturing overhead costs. 
Allowances for slow moving and obsolete inventories are recognized based on the pas-
sage of time and sales activity. 

Receivables and other assets 
Receivables and other assets are accounted for at par value less bonuses, discounts and 
allowances and are classified under the measurement category “Financial assets”. 

Emission rights 
In the course of the implementation of the Kyoto Protocol, the Directive 2003/87/EC 
came into force within the European Union as of January 1, 2005 onwards. Based on this 
directive, the Group is obliged to redeem specified emission rights for incurred carbon 
dioxide emissions during cartonboard production. These emission rights have been allo-
cated to the Group’s respective production sites for the period from January 1, 2008 to 
December 31, 2012 free of charge. 

As IFRIC 3 “Emission Rights” has been withdrawn by the IASB, definite regulations con-
cerning the accounting treatment of emission rights are missing. Therefore these emis-
sion rights are recognized in accordance with IAS 38 “Intangible Assets” as intangible 
assets in “Prepaid expenses and other current assets”, measured at cost amounting to 
zero as the rights have been allocated free of charge. If effective carbon dioxide emis-
sions exceed the number of existing emission rights during the reporting period at the 
balance sheet date, a provision for these missing emission rights in the amount of their 
market value has to be accounted for. As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Group has 
sufficient emission rights available. 

Accordingly, only expenses from the utilization of acquired emission rights and income 
from the sale of redundant emission rights are recorded in the income statement. 
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Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash, checks and short-term deposits at financial insti-
tutions. Cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currencies are translated into 
Euro using the exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date. 

Financial instruments 
On the debit side, the Group’s financial instruments consist of derivative financial instru-
ments, financial assets comprising cash and cash equivalents, loans, trade receivables, 
the position “Prepaid expenses and other current assets” less tax receivables and prepaid 
expenses (see note 14) as well as available-for-sale financial assets. On the credit side, 
financial instruments include derivative financial instruments, financial liabilities, compris-
ing interest-bearing financial liabilities, financial lease liabilities, trade liabilities less ad-
vances from customers and the position “Deferred income and other current liabilities” 
less deferred income, tax liabilities and obligations for personnel and social costs 
(see note 20).  

Derivative financial instruments 
Derivative financial instruments are recognized in accordance with IAS 39 “Financial In-
struments: Recognition and Measurement”. According to IAS 39, all derivative financial 
instruments are recognized at market value as assets or liabilities. Profit and loss result-
ing from changes in the fair value of derivative instruments is either recognized in profit or 
loss in the income statement or in profit or loss directly recognized in equity, depending 
on the intended use of the derivative and the compliance with certain requirements. In 
case of a Fair Value Hedge, the change in fair value is recognized in profit or loss as in-
curred by compensating the effect on profit or loss with a corresponding measurement of 
the underlying transaction. In case of a Cash Flow Hedge, the effective portion of the 
change in fair value is recognized directly in equity. Inefficiencies, classified as a non-
complete hedge of the underlying instrument by the derivative instrument, are of insignifi-
cant importance to derivative instruments classified as Fair Value or Cash Flow Hedge. 



 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42  

Concentration of financial risks 
Financial instruments, which may cause a concentration of financial risks in certain 
cases, comprise primarily cash and cash equivalents, securities and trade receivables. 
The Group’s trade receivables derive from a broad and diversified group of customers. 
The financial risk arising from customer bad debt is monitored by ongoing credit rating 
assessments. Additionally, the Group concludes credit insurance contracts in order to 
cover certain potentially uncollectible receivables. Furthermore, the Group makes allow-
ances for losses based upon the expected collectible trade receivables. 

Profit or loss directly recognized in equity 
In this position, the following changes directly recognized in equity are included: differ-
ences arising from foreign currency translation and unrealized profit and loss from fair 
value changes of marketable securities, after considering the deferred income taxes. 

Other non-current provisions 
Defined benefit pension obligations and other benefits related to severance obligations 
are valued in accordance with IAS 19 “Employee benefits” using the projected unit credit 
method. The present value of defined benefit obligations is calculated based on the years 
of service, the anticipated development of the employee’s compensation as well as con-
tractual and statutory enacted pension revaluation requirements. Actuarial gains and 
losses are recognized in profit or loss in accordance with IAS 19 using the corridor ap-
proach. Surpluses from pension funds are recorded in other non-current assets, if the 
economic benefit can be determined with sufficient certainty. 

Provisions for anniversary bonuses are accrued for non-current obligations against em-
ployees related to the number of years of their service based on collective or plant bar-
gaining agreements. 
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Provisions for pre-retirement programs are accrued upon conclusion of individual contrac-
tual agreements as well as for probable pre-retirement agreements in the future, if em-
ployees have the right to participate in pre-retirement programs based on plant bargaining 
agreements or collective agreements. 

Other provisions 
Other provisions are accounted for in accordance with IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets” and IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”. A provision is recog-
nized when the Group has a present legal or factual obligation as a result of a past event 
and its settlement is expected to result in an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits. If material, non-current provisions are discounted using the present value method.  

For the calculation of other provisions, particularly for warranty costs and losses from 
uncompleted contracts, the Group accounts for all cost components which are used for 
the calculation of inventories. 

Provisions for restructuring costs are recognized when a detailed formal plan for the re-
structuring process has been approved and the management has either started its im-
plementation or its public announcement. 

Liabilities 
Non-current liabilities including financial liabilities are classified under measurement 
category “Financial liabilities” and measured at amortized cost unless they are designated 
as the underlying item in a Fair Value Hedge. Current liabilities are stated at cost, which is 
the consideration to be paid. Financial lease liabilities are recognized at their present value. 

Minority interests 
Minority interests represent minority shareholders’ investments in Group companies or 
business units other than Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG. At the date of first-time consolidation, 
these are recorded as proportionate share of equity in the respective company or busi-
ness unit and are carried forward considering the share of profit or loss, paid dividends as 
well as contributions to and returns of capital. 

According to IAS 32, minority interests are to be presented as liability in case of interests 
in partnerships with minority shareholders being entitled to resign or in such cases where 
the minority shareholder holds a put option for his share, provided these are reliably ap-
praisable. In the consolidated balance sheet, these shares in equity are presented as 
liabilities under “Deferred income and other current liabilities”. In the consolidated in-
come statement, the corresponding profit is presented under “Other financial income - net”. 
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(2) Key assumptions entailing a considerable risk 
of a change in value 

The consolidated financial statements and notes thereto include the following material 
items for which the determination of their carrying amounts is highly dependent on the 
underlying assumptions and estimations: 

Provisions for pensions and severance payments 
The actuarial calculation of pension and severance obligations is based on assumptions 
about discount rates used, expected return on plan assets, future increases in salaries and 
life expectancies. Actual outcomes can be different from these assumptions due to changes 
in the economic environment and market conditions.  

Impairment of non-current assets 
Goodwill and other intangible assets are reviewed for impairment annually. In the course of 
these impairment reviews, the evaluation of non-current assets is also based on budget 
assessments of market or company-specific discount rates, expected annual growth rates 
and foreign exchange rates. The assumptions involved in these calculations may change and 
cause an impairment loss in future periods. 

Provisions for litigations 
The outcome of litigations in progress cannot be anticipated with certainty. The Group re-
cognizes adequate provisions if reasonable assessments can be made. The actual outcomes 
of litigations may differ from these assessments. 

Provisions for restructuring costs 
The calculation of provisions for restructuring costs is based on assumptions about the 
termination of contracts, staff redundancies or pension payments. The actual amounts to 
be considered may deviate from these assumptions. 

Realization of deferred tax assets 
Deferred taxes are calculated by applying enacted statutory tax rates applicable for future 
years to temporary differences as well as by evaluating the capacity of future taxable in-
come. Potential tax rate changes or future taxable income which differs from the assump-
tions may result in the fact that the realization of deferred tax assets becomes improbable 
and consequently a valuation allowance of the respective assets has to be recorded. 
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Useful life of non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment, and acquired intangible assets are stated at cost and are 
amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimation of the 
useful lives is based on assumptions about wear and tear, aging, technical standards, con-
tract periods and changes in demand. Changes in these factors may cause a reduction of 
the useful life of the asset. This would result in a higher depreciation or amortization of the 
remaining carrying amount over the remaining shorter useful life and a higher annual depre-
ciation and amortization expense. 

 
(3) Financial risk management 
The Group is subject to various financial risks arising from its operating activities and the 
structure of its financing. These financial risks primarily comprise the credit risk, liquidity 
risk, currency risk and the risk of interest rate changes. These risks are mitigated using a 
centralized risk management, which is applied throughout the Group. 

The identification, analysis and evaluation of the financial risks as well as the decisions 
concerning the application of financial instruments in order to manage these risks are 
taken by the Group’s headquarters.  

Credit risk 
The credit risk represents the risk arising from a non-fulfillment of contractual obligations 
by business partners which may result in losses. The immanent risk of default of business 
partners resulting from the underlying transaction is widely hedged by credit risk insur-
ances as well as by bank guarantees and letters of credit. The definition criteria to be 
applied for credit ratings are based on contractual agreements with credit insurance insti-
tutions and are stipulated by internal guidelines. 

The credit and default risks are continuously monitored, incidental and identifiable risks 
are provided for by recording appropriate allowances or provisions. For the assessment of 
the overall risk, existing insurance coverage, possible guarantees and letters of credit are 
taken into consideration. As a result of the broad and diversified customer base, a con-
centrated risk of default does not exist. 
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Liquidity risk 
The liquidity risk is referred to as the risk to raise the required funds at any time in order 
to settle the amounts payable in due course. Based on a well-timed liquidity management, 
sufficient cash and cash equivalents as well as current and non-current credit lines are 
available to the Group’s subsidiaries. Consequently, liquidity risk is categorized as low. 

Currency risk 
The currency risk represents the risk arising from changes in the value of financial in-
struments due to fluctuations in exchange rates. This risk especially exists if business 
transactions are denominated and settled in currencies other than the Euro and these 
currencies do not correspond with the functional (local) currency of the company. This is 
particularly the case for sales in British Pound, US Dollar, Swiss Franc, Polish Zloty and 
Russian Rouble. The Group uses foreign exchange forward contracts in order to reduce 
the respective currency risks (see note 11). 

At December 31, 2008, if the exchange rate of the Euro had strengthened (weakened) 1.0 % 
against these currencies, the foreign currency exchange result including the performance of 
foreign exchange forward contracts would have been thous. EUR 76.1 higher (lower).  

As of the balance sheet date, the interest-bearing financial liabilities are predominantly de-
nominated in Euro. Therefore, no significant currency risk concerning these liabilities exists. 

Interest rate risk 
The interest rate risk is referred to as the risk arising from changes in the value of finan-
cial instruments due to fluctuations of market interest rates. It comprises the interest-rate 
related price risk for fixed interest-bearing financial instruments and the settlement risk 
of variable interest-bearing financial instruments. The Group is predominately financed by 
variable interest-bearing financial liabilities.  

At December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, the Group showed a net liquidity. There-
fore, a change in the market interest rate does not represent an interest expense risk. 
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Derivative financial instruments 
The Group mainly applies derivative financial instruments to mitigate the risks from ex-
change rate and interest rate changes. In this context, the Group uses foreign exchange 
forward contracts in order to mitigate the effects of current exchange rate fluctuations 
and interest rate swap agreements in order to mitigate the current market interest rate 
risk. All counterparties in these transactions are reputable financial institutions with 
whom the Group conducts business on a regular basis. Accordingly, the Group considers 
the corresponding risk of default and related losses as being remote.  

Fair values 
In the consolidated balance sheet, the amounts recorded for trade and other receivables, 
current liabilities as well as cash and cash equivalents approximate substantially their fair 
values due to the short-term nature of these items. The amounts recorded for interest-
bearing financial liabilities basically correspond to their present values. 

 
(4) Significant changes in the consolidated companies 
 
A) ACQUISITIONS, DISPOSITIONS AND FORMATIONS IN 2008 
 
Acquisitions 
In November 2008, the division MM Packaging acquired an interest of 60.01 % in the 
Turkish packaging producer Superpak Ambalaj sanayi ve ticaret A.S., located in Izmir, 
Turkey, for thous. EUR 6,178.7. Inclusion into the Group and division was effected on No-
vember 1, 2008. In this context, a goodwill in the amount of thous. EUR 2,908.4 and as-
sets regarding customer relationships in the amount of thous. EUR 2,350.6 were re-
corded. Concerning the acquisition of the remaining minority interest of 39.99 %, both the 
division MM Packaging and the minority shareholder have an irrevocable option at a fixed 
price being exercisable in January 2011 at the earliest. The put option of the minority 
shareholder was recorded as option liability. 
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A condensed balance sheet according to IFRS at this date includes the following: 

CONDENSED BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION   
(in thousands of EUR) Nov. 1, 2008 

Intangible assets, property, plant and equipment 3,973.2 

Goodwill 2,908.4 

Assets regarding customer relationships 2,350.6 

Other current assets 3,650.8 

Total assets 12,883.0 

Equity 6,178.6 

Non-current liabilities 258.2 

Deferred income taxes 1,075.3 

Current liabilities 1,836.2 

Option liability 3,534.7 

Total equity and liabilities 12,883.0 
  
 
Dispositions  
In February 2008, the division MM Karton closed the sale of its 100 % interest in  
Joh. Spiehs & Co GmbH, located in Vienna, Austria. In March 2008, the division MM Karton 
sold the majority interest of 63.34 % in “Papyrus” Altpapierservice Handelsgesellschaft 
m.b.H., located in Vienna, Austria, as well as the indirectly held majority interest of 
63.34 % in “Papyrus” Altpapierservice Handelsgesellschaft m.b.H., located in Villach, 
Austria, and Papyrus Wertstoff Service GmbH, located in Bad Reichenhall, Germany, as 
well as the majority interest of 94.45 % in PAREK Papierverwertungs Gesellschaft m.b.H., 
located in Kapfenberg, Austria. The companies concerned operate in the business of re-
covered paper collection and trade.  

Due to the disposal of these investments, assets and liabilities shown in the balance 
sheet as of December 31, 2007 were reduced by thous. EUR 16,766.7 and 
thous. EUR 7,046.4, respectively, as well as minority interests by thous. EUR 2,612.4. 
Herefrom a profit before tax of thous. EUR 19,992.1 was realized. 
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Formations 
In December 2008, the division MM Packaging formed the trading company  
Al-Ekbal Paper Trading & Logistic Services W.L.L., located in Amman, Jordan. 

Shutdown 
In the division MM Karton the production activities at the plant Mayr-Melnhof  
Nikopol A.D., Bulgaria, are being ceased. The relevant winding-up expenses, consisting of 
the impairment of buildings and technical equipment as well as other expenses, 
amounted to thous. EUR 21,594.8. At the balance sheet date assets and liabilities primar-
ily consist of an impaired property as well as other receivables and tax liabilities to a 
small extent. 

B) ACQUISITIONS, DISPOSITIONS AND FORMATIONS IN 2007 
 
Acquisitions 
In June 2007, the division MM Karton acquired the remaining minority interest of 43 % in 
PAREK Papierverwertungs Gesellschaft m.b.H, located in Kapfenberg, Austria, for thous. 
EUR 335.7. By applying the provisions of IFRS 3, an excess of thous. EUR 65.8 was re-
corded in the income statement. 

In November 2007, the division MM Packaging acquired an interest of 52.57 % in the  
Jordanian packaging producer Al-Ekbal Printing & Packaging Co., located in Amman, Jor-
dan, for thous. EUR 3,634.9. In this context, a goodwill in the amount of thous. EUR 541.6 
was recorded. Inclusion into the Group and division was effected on December 31, 2007. 

A condensed balance sheet according to IFRS at this date includes the following: 

CONDENSED BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION   
(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2007 

Intangible assets, property, plant and equipment 4,125.9 

Goodwill 541.6 

Available-for-sale financial assets 134.4 

Other current assets 4,068.4 

Total assets 8,870.3 

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 3,634.9 

Minority interest 2,790.9 

Non-current liabilities 1,383.5 

Current liabilities 1,061.0 

Total equity and liabilities 8,870.3 
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In December 2007, the division MM Packaging acquired the rotogravure operation of Field 
Packaging (Bremen) GmbH, located in Delmenhorst, Germany, via an asset deal and car-
ried over the respective staff. The acquisition costs in this regard amount to 
thous. EUR 8,647.6. In this context, the Group assumed provisions for personnel costs in 
the amount of thous. EUR 610.0, primarily for pre-retirement programs as well as the 
assets accounting for these programs in the amount of thous. EUR 171.3. 

Dispositions  
In March 2007, the division MM Karton sold its 100 % interest in Mayr-Melnhof Papierre-
sidu Verwerking B.V. located in Eerbeek, Netherlands, as well as its interests of 33.33 % 
in Cdem Holland B.V. and CDEM V.O.F., both located in ’s-Hertogenbosch, Netherlands. 
This transaction resulted in a pre-tax profit of thous. EUR 110.8. 

Formations 
In December 2007, the division MM Karton formed the company MM Prodaja Kartona 
d.o.o. located in Domzale, Slovenia. 

 
(5) Other operating income 
    

(in thousands of EUR) 

Year ended  
Dec. 31, 2008 

Year ended  
Dec. 31, 2007 

Gains and losses from disposal of property, plant and equipment, 
and intangible assets – net 890.5 1,276.4 

Insurance claims 2,320.2 1,528.2 

Rental income 1,242.0 1,329.8 

Other income – net 7,193.7 6,612.3 

Other operating income 11,646.4 10,746.7    
 

(6) Other operating expenses 
    

(in thousands of EUR) 

Year ended  
Dec. 31, 2008 

Year ended  
Dec. 31, 2007 

Depreciation and amortization (653.4) (612.1) 

Other expenses (746.8) (146.1) 

Other operating expenses (1,400.2) (758.2)    
 



 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 51  

(7) Other income (expenses) – net 
    

(in thousands of EUR) 

Year ended  
Dec. 31, 2008 

Year ended  
Dec. 31, 2007 

Foreign currency exchange rate gains (losses) – net (3,126.1) (2,964.8) 

Other financial income – net (873.5) (1,040.7) 

Other income (expenses) – net (3,999.6) (4,005.5)    
 

(8) Income taxes 
The components of profit before tax by tax jurisdictions are as follows: 

   

(in thousands of EUR) 

Year ended  
Dec. 31, 2008 

Year ended  
Dec. 31, 2007 

Profit before tax:   

Austria 49,278.2 36,450.3 

Other countries 88,680.5 134,413.6 

Profit before tax 137,958.7 170,863.9    
 
Income tax expense consists of the following: 

    
(in thousands of EUR) Austria Other countries Total 

Financial year 2008:    
Current for the period 16,225.4 29,687.3 45,912.7 

Current for prior periods 146.8 (249.8) (103.0) 

Deferred benefits excluding loss carryforwards (4,612.0) (549.5) (5,161.5) 

Deferred benefits of operating loss carryforwards 0.0 526.9 526.9 

Deferred benefits due to tax rate changes 0.0 (125.8) (125.8) 

Income tax expense 11,760.2 29,289.1 41,049.3 

    

Financial year 2007:    

Current for the period 8,507.1 43,012.7 51,519.8 

Current for prior periods 1,780.9 45.2 1,826.1 

Deferred benefits excluding loss carryforwards (4,873.1) 3,788.1 (1,085.0) 

Deferred benefits of operating loss carryforwards 0.0 766.8 766.8 

Deferred benefits due to tax rate changes 0.0 1,262.2 1,262.2 

Income tax expense 5,414.9 48,875.0 54,289.9     
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A reconciliation from the applicable tax rate, which results from the geographical alloca-
tion of income in the respective tax jurisdictions of the Group, to the effective tax rate  
is as follows: 

   

(in %) 

Year ended  
Dec. 31, 2008 

Year ended  
Dec. 31, 2007 

Applicable tax rate 26.05 % 32.25 % 

Non-taxable expenses (income) – net 0.44 % 0.29 % 

Valuation allowance and restructurings 3.26 % (1.47 %) 

Tax rate changes (0.09 %) 0.74 % 

Other – net 0.09 % (0.04 %) 

Effective tax rate 29.75 % 31.77 %    
 
The item "Valuation allowance and restructurings" includes improvements in the Group's 
tax structure, restructurings and the use of tax loss carryforwards, which were regarded 
as unrealizable in prior periods, and valuation allowances relating to new loss carryfor-
wards. 

In the financial statements, deferred tax assets and liabilities are netted out according to 
maturities as follows: 

   
(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007 

Current deferred tax assets 6,629.1 6,451.9 

Non-current deferred tax assets 3,120.0 5,077.1 

Current deferred tax liabilities (1,401.9) (2,938.7) 

Non-current deferred tax liabilities (34,097.1) (37,038.1) 

Net deferred tax liability (25,749.9) (28,447.8)    
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The tax effects of temporary differences and loss carryforwards representing deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are as follows: 

   
(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007 

Intangible assets 1,668.0 3,175.7 

Inventories 1,773.2 1,467.1 

Benefit plans and other liabilities and charges 7,854.3 10,059.5 

Operating loss carryforwards 8,783.8 9,095.0 

Other 1,197.4 1,254.8 

Gross deferred tax assets 21,276.7 25,052.1 

Valuation allowance (6,274.7) (5,948.3) 

Net deferred tax assets 15,002.0 19,103.8 

Property, plant and equipment (16,631.7) (17,473.3) 

Loans receivable, investments and financial assets (23,686.0) (29,667.4) 

Other (434.2) (410.9) 

Deferred tax liabilities (40,751.9) (47,551.6) 

Net deferred tax liability (25,749.9) (28,447.8)    
 
The Group has corporate and trade tax loss carryforwards available to reduce future tax-
able income of certain foreign subsidiaries. At December 31, 2008, the Group had corpo-
rate tax loss carryforwards of thous. EUR 49,957.9 (December 31, 2007: 
thous. EUR 48,438.1), which must be utilized within the next one to thirteen 
(December 31, 2007: one to fourteen) years, and thous. EUR 851.4 (December 31, 2007: 
thous. EUR 4,078.7), which can be utilized over an indefinite period. Additionally, at 
December 31, 2008, the Group had trade tax loss carryforwards of thous. EUR 1,154.3 
(December 31, 2007: thous. EUR 2,081.7) available in Germany, which can be utilized over 
an indefinite period.  

At December 31, 2008, the Group believed that certain corporate and trade tax loss car-
ryforwards will be utilized and hence recorded a deferred tax asset of thous. EUR 2,734.2 
(December 31, 2007: thous. EUR 3,261.1). 
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In other subsidiaries with operating loss carryforwards, it is more likely that these de-
ferred tax assets will not be realized. Consequently, valuation allowances amounting to 
thous. EUR 6,049.2 and thous. EUR 5,833.9 have been provided for the deferred tax as-
sets at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. 

Corporate and trade tax loss carryforwards underlying this allowance amount to 
thous. EUR 40,739.0 (December 31, 2007: thous. EUR 41,825.7), from which loss carry-
forwards in the amount of thous. EUR 810.8 (December 31, 2007: thous. EUR 6,107.7) can 
be utilized over an indefinite period and loss carryforwards in the amount of 
thous. EUR 39,928.2 (December 31, 2007: thous. EUR 35,718.0) must be utilized within 
the next thirteen (December 31, 2007: fourteen) years. 

In 2008, the Group consumed corporate and trade tax loss carryforwards amounting to 
thous. EUR 4,331.9 and thous. EUR 952.7 for which a valuation allowance for the deferred 
tax assets relating to these loss carryforwards was recorded in previous periods. In 2007, 
the Group used similar corporate and trade tax loss carryforwards amounting to 
thous. EUR 5,958.6 and thous. EUR 720.1, respectively. 

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, no deferred taxes had been provided for the undistrib-
uted earnings of the Company’s subsidiaries. Under current tax jurisdictions within the 
Group and existing tax treaties, these earnings can be remitted with little or no additional tax. 
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(9) Development of fixed assets 
 
A) INTANGIBLE ASSETS INCLUDING GOODWILL 
      

(in thousands of EUR) 

Concessions, 
licenses and similar 

rights, 
and payments 

on account Goodwill 
Other intangible 

assets 

Intangible assets 
including 
goodwill 

ACQUISITION OR MANUFACTURING COSTS:     

Balance at Jan. 1, 2008 41,002.7 60,056.7 2,250.6 103,310.0 

Effect of exchange rate changes (201.9) (1,080.5) (173.1) (1,455.5) 

Changes in consolidated companies (165.9) 2,908.4 2,350.6 5,093.1 

Additions 1,511.8 35.4 0.0 1,547.2 

Disposals (306.1) 0.0 0.0 (306.1) 

Reclassifications (50.3) 0.0 0.0 (50.3) 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2008 41,790.3 61,920.0 4,428.1 108,138.4 

DEPRECIATION/AMORTIZATION:     

Balance at Jan. 1, 2008 37,967.6 9,062.2 360.6 47,390.4 

Effect of exchange rate changes (145.8) (16.1) (10.0) (171.9) 

Changes in consolidated companies (165.7) 0.0 0.0 (165.7) 

Disposals (304.3) 0.0 0.0 (304.3) 

Depreciation/amortization expense for the year 1,637.6 0.0 502.6 2,140.2 

Reclassifications (79.2) 0.0 0.0 (79.2) 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2008 38,910.2 9,046.1 853.2 48,809.5 

NET BOOK VALUE:     

Net book value at Dec. 31, 2008 2,880.1 52,873.9 3,574.9 59,328.9 

Net book value at Dec. 31, 2007 3,035.1 50,994.5 1,890.0 55,919.6      
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B) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
       

(in thousands of EUR) 

Lands, similar 
land rights and 

buildings 

Technical 
equipment and 

machines 

Other 
equipment, 
fixtures and 

fittings 

 
Payments on 
account and 

construction in 
progress 

Property, plant 
and equipment 

ACQUISITION OR MANUFACTURING COSTS:      

Balance at Jan. 1, 2008 413,719.2 1,307,967.3 132,069.5 49,869.7 1,903,625.7 

Effect of exchange rate changes (5,271.8) (17,224.5) (825.5) (2,188.0) (25,509.8) 

Changes in consolidated companies (5,105.8) 6,164.1 (9,124.0) 0.0 (8,065.7) 

Additions 4,983.4 31,359.1 10,739.3 48,062.9 95,144.7 

Disposals (1,450.9) (14,511.3) (9,469.4) (83.9) (25,515.5) 

Reclassifications 16,428.9 289.9 1,169.1 (59,250.9) (41,363.0) 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2008 423,303.0 1,314,044.6 124,559.0 36,409.8 1,898,316.4 

DEPRECIATION/AMORTIZATION:      

Balance at Jan. 1, 2008 196,921.6 1,007,459.3 100,072.0 369.8 1,304,822.7 

Effect of exchange rate changes 2,173.0 (6,501.5) (366.8) (3.3) (4,698.6) 

Changes in consolidated companies (2,148.0) 5,442.6 (6,974.1) 0.0 (3,679.5) 

Disposals (1,431.7) (14,200.0) (9,107.2) (31.7) (24,770.6) 

Depreciation/amortization expense for the year 10,580.7 61,481.1 9,123.5 0.0 81,185.3 

Reclassifications (1,134.0) (15,293.7) (714.5) (319.7) (17,461.9) 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2008 204,961.6 1,038,387.8 92,032.9 15.1 1,335,397.4 

NET BOOK VALUE:      

Net book value at Dec. 31, 2008 218,341.4 275,656.8 32,526.1 36,394.7 562,919.0 

Net book value at Dec. 31, 2007 216,797.6 300,508.0 31,997.5 49,499.9 598,803.0       
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C) INVESTMENT PROPERTY 
At December 31, 2008 the Group owns “Investment property” with a book value of 
thous. EUR 1,758.9 (December 31, 2007: thous. EUR 1,913.0). The acquisition costs have 
been retained unchanged to the previous year at thous. EUR 7,251.1. 

In 2008, the Group herefrom achieved rental and other income in the amount of 
thous. EUR 684.2 (2007: thous. EUR 408.0), facing depreciation of thous. EUR 154.1. 

In 2008, the depreciation and amortization expense recorded in “Intangible assets includ-
ing goodwill”, “Property, plant and equipment” and “Investment property” amounted to 
thous. EUR 83,479.6 (2007: thous. EUR 89,229.7). 

 
(10) Financial assets 
 
A) AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 
At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Group exclusively holds available-for-sale financial 
assets. These securities are carried at fair values based on quoted market prices. Unrealized 
profit or loss, net of deferred income taxes, are directly recognized in equity in other re-
serves. The amortized cost of debt securities in this category is adjusted for amortization of 
premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity. Such amortization is included in “Finan-
cial income” or “Financial expenses”. Realized profit and loss from sale are being deter-
mined using the specific identification method. Declines in value classified to be other than 
temporary are included in “Financial income” or “Financial expenses”.  

Securities of the Group are composed as follows: 

   
 Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007 

(in thousands of EUR) 
Costs of 

acquisition 
Estimated 

market value 

Average 
effective 

interest rate 
Costs of 

acquisition 
Estimated 

market value 

Average 
effective 

interest rate 

Debt securities issued by the Republic of 
Austria 152,771.2 154,046.2 4.00 % 3,022.6 3,000.0 5.00 % 

Debt based funds 2,692.2 2,482.5 -7.26 % 1,441.1 1,405.2 1.62 % 

Equity securities 118.4 103.1 0.00 % 113.4 135.2 0.00 % 

Total 155,581.8 156,631.8 3.82 % 4,577.1 4,540.4 3.81 %        
 
As of December 31, 2008, securities with estimated fair values of thous. EUR 2,482.5 
(December 31, 2007: thous. EUR 1,371.4) have been given as security for provisions for 
pre-retirement programs within the scope of the respective legal commitments. 



 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 58  

In 2008, proceeds from sales of available-for-sale financial assets amounted to 
thous. EUR 3,047.8 (2007: thous. EUR 69,844.7). The resulting realized profit or loss 
amounted to thous. EUR 0.0 (2007: thous. EUR 47.9) and thous. EUR 22.6 (2007: 
thous. EUR 100.3), respectively. 

The debt securities issued by the Republic of Austria amounting to thous. EUR 154,046.2 
are maturing the next year and are shown in the consolidated balance sheet at 
December 31, 2008 in the short-term position “Available-for-sale financial assets”. 

B) OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 
Other financial assets have developed as follows: 

    

(in thousands of EUR) 

Investments in 
associated 
companies 

Investments in 
unconsolidated 

subsidiaries 
Other 

investments 
Other loans 
receivable 

Other non-
current 

financial assets Total 

ACQUISITION OR MANUFACTURING COSTS:       

Balance at Jan. 1, 2008 74.5 234.6 7,262.4 1,328.6 2,662.3 11,562.4 

Effect of exchange rate changes 0.0 0.0 14.3 0.0 0.0 14.3 

Changes in consolidated companies 0.0 (22.5) 0.0 0.0 (2.1) (24.6) 

Additions 0.0 0.0 5.0 155.3 140.8 301.1 

Disposals 0.0 (25.0) (121.9) (411.3) (85.0) (643.2) 

Reclassifications 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (319.6) (319.6) 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2008 74.5 187.1 7,159.8 1,072.6 2,396.4 10,890.4 

DEPRECIATION/AMORTIZATION:       

Balance at Jan. 1, 2008 0.0 0.0 5,439.1 0.0 0.0 5,439.1 

Effect of exchange rate changes 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Changes in consolidated companies 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Disposals 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Depreciation/amortization expense for the year 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Reclassifications 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2008 0.0 0.0 5,439.1 0.0 0.0 5,439.1 

NET BOOK VALUE:       

Net book value at Dec. 31, 2008 74.5 187.1 1,720.7 1,072.6 2,396.4 5,451.3 

Net book value at Dec. 31, 2007 74.5 234.6 1,823.3 1,328.6 2,662.3 6,123.3        
 
Detailed information concerning the Group’s investments with an ownership percentage 
of more than 20 % is contained in the table of affiliated and associated companies  
(see note 26). As at December 31, 2008, other loans receivable included loans to affili-
ated companies amounting to thous. EUR 309.4 (December 31, 2007: thous. EUR 402.4). 
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(11) Financial instruments 
 
A) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
The carrying amounts of financial instruments in accordance with measurement  
categories consist of: 

   
(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007 

Derivative financial instruments 3,969.5 (1,325.6) 

Financial receivables 379,690.7 562,285.9 

Available-for-sale financial assets 156,631.8 4,540.4 

Financial liabilities 287,693.6 365,096.9    
 
The income and expenses presented in the Group’s income statement in accordance with 
measurement categories are as follows: 

   
 Year ended Dec. 31, 2008 Year ended Dec. 31, 2007 
(in thousands of EUR) Profit/loss Interest Profit/loss Interest 

Derivative financial instruments 2,754.2  164.9  

Financial receivables1) 594.8 11,629.0 629.0 12,946.9 

Available-for-sale financial assets (22.6) 2,638.1 (52.4) 1,539.3 

Financial liabilities  (9,618.7)  (10,277.3)      
 

1) including allowances for trade receivables 

 
B) DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
Derivative financial instruments are valued at the amounts by which the respective con-
tracts could be settled. The fair value of foreign exchange forward contracts is based on 
the spot foreign currency rates as of the balance sheet date, adjusted for time-related 
charges or discounts for the respective remaining term of the contract and compared 
with the contracted forward rate. Interest rate swap agreements are valued at fair values 
which are estimated by discounting the anticipated future cash flows.  
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Foreign exchange forward contracts 
Foreign exchange forward contracts are principally used to protect the Group against 
exchange rate changes of the British Pound, the US Dollar, the Swiss Franc and the Polish 
Zloty. The changes in fair values of these derivatives are recognized in “Foreign currency 
exchange rate gains (losses) – net” (see note 7). 

Interest rate swaps 
The Group has interest rate swap agreements in order to convert fixed rate liabilities into 
floating rate liabilities. The change in fair value of the liabilities designated as hedged item 
is effectively offset by the related derivatives, having no net effect on the Group’s net profit. 

Overview 
The following table shows the market values and the nominal values of the derivatives as 
of the balance sheet dates: 

   
 Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007 
(in thousands of EUR) Nominal value Market value Nominal value Market value 

Foreign exchange forward contracts 46,336.8 2,669.6 41,648.0 362.5 

Interest rate swaps 90,090.0 1,299.9 90,090.0 (1,688.1) 

Total 136,426.8 3,969.5 131,738.0 (1,325.6)      
 
The derivative financial instruments are recorded in the consolidated balance sheet under 
“Prepaid expenses and other current assets” in the amount of thous. EUR 4,270.2 (2007: 
thous. EUR 626.3) and under “Deferred income and other current liabilities” in the amount 
of thous. EUR 300.7 (2007: thous. EUR 1,951.9). 
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(12) Inventories 
    
(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007 

Raw materials, manufacturing and operating supplies 119,208.6 129,686.1 

Work in process 18,557.7 17,865.8 

Finished goods and goods for resale 97,549.4 122,324.3 

Total 235,315.7 269,876.2 

Allowances (21,803.3) (17,142.7) 

Inventories – net 213,512.4 252,733.5    
 
In 2008, write-down of inventories recognized as an expense amounted to 
thous. EUR 7,852.8 (2007: thous. EUR 4,683.4). The reversal of write-down of inventories 
recognized as income amounted to thous. EUR 186.6 (2007: thous EUR 102.4). The carry-
ing amount of inventories carried at fair value less cost to sell amounted to 
thous. EUR 16,694.1 (2007: thous. EUR 16,968.2). 

A breakdown of cost of materials and purchased services is as follows: 

   

(in thousands of EUR) 

Year ended  
Dec. 31, 2008 

Year ended  
Dec. 31, 2007 

Cost of materials 963,621.6 956,963.8 

Cost of purchased services 18,323.1 19,865.2 

Total 981,944.7 976,829.0    
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(13) Trade receivables 
    
(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007 

Trade receivables 182,382.2 205,807.1 

Allowances (1,326.8) (1,926.5) 

Trade receivables – net 181,055.4 203,880.6    
 
At December 31, 2008, trade receivables in the amount of thous. EUR 2,094.6 
(December 31, 2007: thous. EUR 2,440.4) were overdue more than 60 days, thereof 
thous. EUR 1,114.4 (December 31, 2007: thous. EUR 1,725.6) have been impaired.  

Allowances for trade receivables developed as follows: 

   
(in thousands of EUR) 2008 2007 

Allowances at the beginning of the year 1,926.5 2,535.3 

Effect of exchange rate changes (33.2) (24.5) 

Changes in consolidated companies 28.3 44.7 

Utilization (615.4) (1,032.4) 

Reversal (326.1) (244.9) 

Increase 346.7 648.3 

Allowances at the end of the year 1,326.8 1,926.5    
 

(14) Prepaid expenses and other current assets 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets are as follows: 

   
(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007 

Value-added tax receivables 11,543.0 15,364.9 

Other tax receivables 5,332.5 6,616.1 

Other receivables and other assets 12,046.5 11,015.9 

Prepaid expenses 3,683.4 4,874.3 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 32,605.4 37,871.2    
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(15) Equity 
 
A) SHARE CAPITAL/TREASURY SHARES 
The share capital of the Company amounts to thous. EUR 88,000.0 and comprises  
22 million approved and issued no-par value shares. 

By resolution of the 13th Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG, the 
share capital of the Company increased from thous. EUR 87,240.0 to thous. EUR 96,000.0 
with the respective entry into the company register at the commercial court in Vienna, as 
of June15, 2007, via conversion of a respective amount of the appropriate additional paid-
in capital without issuing new shares and to carry out a two-for-one share split. Thereby, 
the number of no-par bearer shares doubled to 24 million. 

Furthermore, a simplified reduction of the Company's share capital by cancelation of 
2 million treasury shares relating to thous. EUR 8,000.0 or 8.33 % of the share capital 
became effective as of August 30, 2007. 

From 2000 to 2007, the shareholders approved several plans to repurchase up to 10 % of 
the Company’s share capital. These repurchase programs were terminated according to 
schedule. The 14th Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of May 7, 2008 authorized the Man-
agement Board to repurchase treasury shares on and outside the stock exchange up to 
and including November 7, 2010 and at the same time revoked the authorization granted 
in the previous year for the period from April 25, 2007 to October 25, 2008.  

In 2008 the Company repurchased 739,043 treasury shares for thous. EUR 43,408.6 and 
in 2007 28,629 treasury shares for thous. EUR 2,381.8 including fees. 

At December 31, 2008, the details of the Group’s treasury shares are as follows: 

   
Number of shares 

acquired 
Share of share capital 
(in thousands of EUR) 

Share of share capital 
(in %) 

740,368 2,961.5 3.3653 %    
 
Treasury shares are accounted for under the cost method and reported as a deduction 
from total equity (see “Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity”). 
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B) DIVIDEND 
Under Austrian Corporate Law the amount of dividend available for distribution to share-
holders is based upon the unappropriated retained earnings of Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG, 
determined in accordance with the Austrian Companies Code. At December 31, 2008, the 
distributable unappropriated retained earnings amounted to thous. EUR 70,000.0 
(December 31, 2007: thous. EUR 61,918.6). 

   
(in thousands of EUR) 2008 2007 

Unappropriated retained earnings at Jan. 1 61,918.6 47,331.4 

Net profit of the Company for the year ended Dec. 31 74,077.8 61,918.6 

Changes in reserves (29,014.1) (16,504.0) 

Dividend paid (36,982.3) (30,827.4) 

Unappropriated retained earnings at Dec. 31 70,000.0 61,918.6    
 
For the year ended December 31, 2008, the Management Board of the Company has pro-
posed a dividend of EUR 1.70 (December 31, 2007: EUR 1.70) per voting share, currently 
amounting to thous. EUR 36,141.4 (December 31, 2007: thous. EUR 37,397.7). 

C) PROFIT AND LOSS DIRECTLY RECOGNIZED IN EQUITY, NET OF TAX 
A summary of components of profit and loss directly recognized in equity for the years 
ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, includes the following tax components: 

   
 Year ended Dec. 31, 2008 Year ended Dec. 31, 2007 
(in thousands of EUR) Pretax Income tax Net Pretax Income tax Net 

Available-for-sale financial assets 1,099.0 (272.8) 826.2 (860.7) 221.4 (639.3) 

Foreign currency translation (29,966.5) 0.0 (29,966.5) (3,050.4) 0.0 (3,050.4) 

Total (28,867.5) (272.8) (29,140.3) (3,911.1) 221.4 (3,689.7)        
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(16) Financial liabilities 
 
A) INTEREST-BEARING FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
At December 31, 2008, the Group had current interest-bearing credit lines available in the 
amount of thous. EUR 21,503.6 (December 31, 2007: thous. EUR 38,199.5), of which 
thous. EUR 3,541.3 (December 31, 2007: thous. EUR 17,639.2) were outstanding as of the 
balance sheet date. At December 31, 2008, the weighted average interest rate of these 
current credit lines, essentially used by Eastern European companies, was at 17.547 % 
(December 31, 2007: 6.650 %). These credit line facilities are subject to normal banking 
terms and conditions. 

At December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, non-current interest-bearing financial 
liabilities exclusively comprise bank liabilities, except for a loan by a minority shareholder 
in the amount of thous. EUR 618.9 (December 31, 2007: thous. EUR 1,927.0). A summary 
of these non-current financial liabilities at current interest rates is as follows: 

   
(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007 

5.200 % EUR bank loan due 2009 29,700.0 29,700.0 

4.260 % EUR bank loan due 2009 22,436.5 22,173.7 

6.621 % EUR bank loan due 2012 20,000.0 24,000.0 

3.780 % EUR bank loan due 2011 18,599.3 17,797.0 

3.660 % EUR bank loan due 2011 14,318.0 13,731.6 

4.370 % EUR bank loan due 2010 14,164.1 13,576.6 

5.180 % EUR bank loan due 2011 8,659.0 12,370.0 

4.130 % EUR bank loan due 2009 7,053.1 6,857.8 

2.750 % EUR bank loan due 2009 5,530.0 5,530.0 

5.275 % EUR bank loan due 2009 5,450.5 5,450.5 

4.740 % EUR bank loan due 2009 3,166.5 3,079.6 

4.675 % EUR bank loan due 2009 2,900.0 2,900.0 

Other 1,517.0 6,154.3 

Non-current financial liabilities 153,494.0 163,321.1    
 
At December 31, 2008, the weighted average interest rate for these non-current financial 
liabilities was 4.702 % (December 31, 2007: 4.536 %).  
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Aggregate amounts of current and non-current interest-bearing financial liabilities matur-
ing in each of the next five years and thereafter, beginning from the balance sheet dates 
December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, are as follows: 

  
 Dec. 31, 2008 
 Interest-bearing financial liabilities 

(in thousands of EUR) Current Non-current Total 

Maturity:    

2009 3,541.3 81,732.8 85,274.1 

2010  19,917.5 19,917.5 

2011  45,825.1 45,825.1 

2012  6,001.1 6,001.1 

2013  1.1 1.1 

Thereafter  16.4 16.4 

Total 3,541.3 153,494.0 157,035.3     
   
 Dec. 31, 2007 
 Interest-bearing financial liabilities 

(in thousands of EUR) Current Non-current Total 

Maturity:    

2008 17,639.2 48,992.0 66,631.2 

2009  43,693.8 43,693.8 

2010  19,061.7 19,061.7 

2011  45,554.9 45,554.9 

2012  6,001.2 6,001.2 

Thereafter  17.5 17.5 

Total 17,639.2 163,321.1 180,960.3     
 
At December 31, 2008, the Group had current revolving bank liabilities available amount-
ing to thous. EUR 38,050.5 (December 31, 2007: thous. EUR 38,050.5), which are in-
cluded in the non-current interest-bearing financial liabilities under “Maturity 2009”. 
These liabilities were classified as non-current liabilities as the Group has the intent and 
ability to refinance these obligations on a non-current basis.  

At December 31, 2008, the Group had unused non-current financing arrangements avail-
able in the amount of thous. EUR 100,000.0 (December 31, 2007: thous. EUR 50,000.0). 
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B) LEASE LIABILITIES 
The Group is lessee of property, plant and equipment. At the balance sheet dates, the 
future minimum lease payments under non-redeemable lease obligations are as follows: 

   
(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007 

Operating lease payments1), due in the following years ending 
December 31:   

2009 (2008) 10,200.8 8,826.4 

2010 (2009) 9,264.4 8,438.0 

2011 (2010) 8,628.1 7,795.4 

2012 (2011) 8,330.6 7,282.7 

2013 (2012) 8,215.4 6,974.3 

Thereafter 19,184.4 18,389.6 

Total minimum lease payments 63,823.7 57,706.4    
 

1) including rental payments 

 
Expenses relating to operating lease agreements amounted to thous. EUR 10,413.1 and 
thous. EUR 10,161.5 for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. 

At December 31, 2007, the Group had financial lease agreements capitalized in tangible 
assets with a book value of thous. EUR 1,326.3 and acquisition costs of 
thous. EUR 1,533.9. Total minimum lease payments and the present value of minimum 
lease payments amounted to thous. EUR 1,579.9 and thous. EUR 1,540.0, respectively. 
These assets have been purchased in 2008. 
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(17) Provisions for other non-current liabilities and charges 
 
A) DEVELOPMENT OF PROVISIONS FOR OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

AND CHARGES 
In 2008, the provisions for other non-current liabilities and charges have developed 
as follows: 

       

(in thousands of EUR) Pensions Severance 
Anniversary 

bonuses 
Pre-retirement 

programs Other Total 

Balance at Jan. 1, 2008 50,497.1 16,378.6 6,853.4 5,803.3 1,640.3 81,172.7 

Effect of exchange rate changes (332.8) (46.9) 56.9 0.0 34.5 (288.3) 

Changes in consolidated companies 0.0 (294.1) (173.5) 0.0 0.0 (467.6) 

Utilization (4,682.9) (1,940.3) (375.7) (1,194.1) (362.0) (8,555.0) 

Reversal (2,650.3) (61.0) (316.0) (376.7) (239.4) (3,643.4) 

Increase 4,218.0 2,054.9 901.3 1,224.4 387.9 8,786.5 

Reclassifications (522.0) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (522.0) 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2008 46,527.1 16,091.2 6,946.4 5,456.9 1,461.3 76,482.9        
 
In particular, other provisions include provisions for benefits due to the termination of 
employment, of which provisions amounting to thous. EUR 538.7 are payable on a  
short-term basis. 

B) PROVISIONS FOR PENSIONS AND SEVERANCE PAYMENTS 
The majority of the Group’s employees is covered by government-sponsored pension and 
welfare programs whereas the Group makes periodic payments to various government 
agencies, which are expensed as incurred. In addition, the Group provides to certain em-
ployees additional retirement benefits through the sponsorship of defined contribution 
and defined benefit plans. The benefits provided by the Group depend on the legal, fiscal 
and economic circumstances of each particular country and are primarily based on the 
length of service and the employee’s compensation. Under the defined contribution plans, 
the Group makes fixed payments to external pension funds. Once the contributions are 
made, the Group does not incur any further payment obligations towards the employees. 
These periodical contribution payments are recognized as part of the annual pension 
costs and amounted to thous. EUR 2,996.0 in 2008 (2007: thous. EUR 2,141.8). Further-
more, in some countries the Group is obligated to make severance payments upon re-
tirement and partly also in case of termination due to legal or contractual regulations. 
These obligations are dependent on the length of service and the compensation of the 
employee. The Austrian severance obligations, which are based on the legal regulations in 
effect until 2003, are included in these liabilities as well. 
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Defined benefit pension and other benefit plans are assessed and recognized according 
to the internationally common projected unit credit method by applying IAS 19. Under this 
method, the actuarial calculation of the future obligations is based on the proportionate 
obligations as of the balance sheet date. Actuarial gains and losses, which result from 
changes in the number of plan participants and from differences between actual trends 
and estimates that are the basis for calculation, are recognized in profit or loss using the 
corridor method in accordance with IAS 19. Thus, actuarial gains and losses are recog-
nized as income or expense over the expected remaining working life of the employee 
only if the amount exceeds either 10 % of the defined benefit obligation or 10 % of the 
plan assets as of the valuation date.  

The calculation of pension and other benefit obligations is based on the following actuar-
ial assumptions: 

   
 Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007 
(in %) Pensions Severance Pensions Severance 

Discount rate 4.9 % 5.9 % 4.6 % 5.0 % 

Expected return on plan assets 3.8 % - 4.7 % - 

Rate of compensation increase 1.5 % 2.6 % 1.7 % 2.5 %      
 
Assumptions regarding the expected rate of return are based upon both actually realized 
non-current portfolio returns and forecasts on the development of all categories of securi-
ties included in these portfolios. 

The components of net periodic benefit costs are as follows: 

   
 Year ended Dec. 31, 2008 Year ended Dec. 31, 2007 
(in thousands of EUR) Pensions Severance Pensions Severance 

Service cost 1,467.5 1,003.0 2,437.1 1,138.0 

Interest cost 6,001.4 885.0 7,244.6 870.6 

Expected return on plan assets (4,813.7) 0.0 (5,925.1) 0.0 

Actuarial gains and losses – net 9,178.1 40.3 1,113.2 95.0 

Effects due to plan changes (2,607.8) 65.6 (1,412.2) 16.4 

Effects due to the application of IAS 19.58 (7,657.8) 0.0 572.3 0.0 

Net periodic benefit cost 1,567.7 1,993.9 4,029.9 2,120.0      
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The defined benefit obligation and plan assets have developed as follows: 

   
 2008 2007 
(in thousands of EUR) Pensions Severance Pensions Severance 

Defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the year 171,680.0 18,685.8 185,016.5 19,865.6 

Service cost 1,467.5 1,003.0 2,437.1 1,138.0 

Interest cost 6,001.4 885.0 7,244.6 870.6 

Plan participants contributions 714.7 0.0 946.4 0.0 

Actuarial gains and losses – net (9,702.2) (1,209.0) (9,265.3) (1,157.3) 

Effect of exchange rate changes 254.2 (52.0) (4,236.6) 6.7 

Benefit payments (6,614.0) (1,940.3) (8,306.8) (1,512.7) 

Changes in consolidated companies 0.0 (294.1) 0.0 0.0 

Transfers (470.7) 0.0 (743.7) 0.0 

Effects due to plan changes (36,093.4) (58.1) (1,412.2) (525.1) 

Defined benefit obligation at the end of the year 127,237.5 17,020.3 171,680.0 18,685.8      
    
 2008 2007 
(in thousands of EUR) Pensions Severance Pensions Severance 

Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year 134,780.8 0.0 141,064.1 0.0 

Expected return on plan assets 4,813.7 0.0 5,925.1 0.0 

Actuarial gains and losses – net (11,430.7) 0.0 (4,942.6) 0.0 

Effect of exchange rate changes 2,608.0 0.0 (4,373.8) 0.0 

Employer contributions 2,235.0 0.0 2,764.0 0.0 

Plan participants contributions 714.7 0.0 946.4 0.0 

Benefit payments (4,166.1) 0.0 (5,858.7) 0.0 

Transfers (470.7) 0.0 (743.7) 0.0 

Effects due to plan changes (30,592.3) 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year 98,492.4 0.0 134,780.8 0.0      
 
In 2008 the defined pension benefit plan in the Netherlands has been changed to a de-
fined contribution plan by an agreement between employees and employer. The primary 
defined pension benefit plan has been ceased. Thereby the obligation of the Group is 
limited to yearly contributions. 

The impacts of this change are recognized in the net periodic pension cost and the devel-
opment of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets under “Effects 
due to plan changes”. 
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The Group’s defined pension benefit plans in the United Kingdom and Switzerland are 
funded. At December 31, 2008, the respective plan assets were invested in different port-
folios. These consisted of debt securities, equity securities, real estate and money market 
investments. The return on plan assets resulted in a reduction (2007: increase) of the 
surplus in the amount of thous. EUR 6,617.0 (2007: thous. EUR 982.6). 

The structure of plan assets as at the balance sheet dates December 31, 2008 and 
December 31, 2007, is as follows: 

   
(in %) Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007 

Equity securities 2.0 % 14.0 % 

Debt securities 25.0 % 44.0 % 

Real estate 21.0 % 14.0 % 

Money market investments, bank deposits 43.0 % 18.0 % 

Other 9.0 % 10.0 %    
 
The employers’ contributions to plan assets for the year 2009 are expected to amount to 
thous. EUR 2,011.2. 

The net liability from pension and severance obligations, and the reconciliation to the net 
liability recognized are as follows: 

   
 Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007 
(in thousands of EUR) Pensions Severance Pensions Severance 

Defined benefit obligation 127,237.5 17,020.3 171,680.0 18,685.8 

Thereof obligations not covered by funds 24,277.0 17,020.3 26,565.8 18,685.8 

Thereof obligations covered by funds 102,960.5 0.0 145,114.2 0.0 

Fair value of plan assets 98,492.4 0.0 134,780.8 0.0 
Net liability 28,745.1 17,020.3 36,899.2 18,685.8 

Unrecognized actuarial gains and losses – net 5,506.5 (929.1) (4,742.9) (2,183.4) 

Unrecognized effects due to plan changes 0.0 0.0 0.0 (123.8) 

Not recognized as asset according to IAS 19.58 12,275.5 0.0 18,340.8 0.0 

Net liability recognized 46,527.1 16,091.2 50,497.1 16,378.6 

Thereof provisions for other non-current liabilities and 
charges 46,527.1 16,091.2 50,497.1 16,378.6      
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In the years 2005 to 2008, defined benefit obligations, fair value of plan assets, net liabil-
ity and actuarial gains and losses, based upon deviations between the underlying assump-
tions and actual trends, are as follows: 

   
(in thousands of EUR) 2008 2007 2006 2005 

Pensions:     

Defined benefit obligation 127,237.5 171,680.0 185,016.5 193,061.1 

Adjustment in defined benefit obligation1) 1,805.0 (18.3) 2,712.1 (855.2) 

Fair value of plan assets 98,492.4 134,780.8 141,064.1 142,099.0 

Adjustment in fair value of plan assets1) (11,430.7) (4,866.2) (1,415.6) 4,903.6 

Net liability 28,745.1 36,899.2 43,952.4 50,962.1      
 

1) Gain/(loss) 

      
(in thousands of EUR) 2008 2007 2006 2005 

Severance:     

Defined benefit obligation 17,020.3 18,685.8 19,865.6 20,196.3 

Adjustment in defined benefit obligation1) (295.8) 22.5 (55.5) (826.3) 

Net liability 17,020.3 18,685.8 19,865.6 20,196.3      
 

1) Gain/(loss) 

 
C) SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 
In line with a long-term compensation agreement with the members of the Management 
Board of Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG, a fixed bonus will be granted at the end of the respec-
tive period in office, provided the Board mandates remain valid until then, and the market 
value of the Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG shares at the Vienna Stock Exchange exceeds 
EUR 85.00 per share for consecutive 60 trading days over a monitoring period, which 
contains the years 2008 and 2009. 

According to IFRS 2, such share-based payments have to be valuated at fair value at each 
balance sheet date. This fair value was calculated by an actuarial expert according to an 
applicable valuation method. The risk-free interest rate was specified at 1.83 % p.a., the 
volatility at 27.09 % p.a. and the expected fluctuation with 0 %.  

The calculated fair value will be allocated pro rata temporis over the vesting period at the 
balance sheet date. At the balance sheet date there is no need to recognize a provision 
for this issue. 
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(18) Liabilities and provisions for income taxes 
    
(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007 

Provisions for income taxes 13,602.8 2,923.2 

Income tax liabilities 1,665.8 1,276.7 

Liabilities and provisions for income taxes 15,268.6 4,199.9    
 

(19) Trade liabilities 
    
(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007 

Trade liabilities 111,387.0 156,146.0 

Advances from customers 1,751.8 1,685.1 

Trade liabilities 113,138.8 157,831.1    
 

(20) Deferred income and other current liabilities 
    
(in thousands of EUR) Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007 

Obligations for personnel and social costs 11,799.3 11,676.8 

Other tax liabilities 9,343.2 8,417.2 

Deferred income 2,334.8 3,213.1 

Other liabilities 19,572.0 30,493.0 

Deferred income and other current liabilities 43,049.3 53,800.1    
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(21) Provisions for other current liabilities and charges 
In 2008, the provisions for other current liabilities and charges have developed as follows: 

       

(in thousands of EUR) Personnel Procurement 

Customer 
rebates and 

bonuses Sales Other Total 

Balance at Jan. 1, 2008 30,736.7 20,848.8 10,398.7 3,866.0 14,266.8 80,117.0 

Effect of exchange rate changes (676.4) (34.2) (139.2) 7.3 (304.3) (1,146.8) 

Changes in consolidated companies (193.3) (15.5) (9.3) (50.0) (84.6) (352.7) 

Utilization (22,719.0) (19,804.7) (6,372.6) (2,901.9) (4,275.3) (56,073.5) 

Reversal (1,548.5) (308.4) (1,152.3) (255.5) (5,768.5) (9,033.2) 

Increase 20,102.3 19,133.1 9,496.5 2,455.6 7,097.0 58,284.5 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2008 25,701.8 19,819.1 12,221.8 3,121.5 10,931.1 71,795.3        
 
In particular, provisions for personnel comprise pay-roll obligations, social security 
charges, premiums and bonuses as well as provisions for unused vacations. 

Provisions for procurement are related to obligations for the delivery of products or ser-
vices, already supplied or rendered, but not yet invoiced. 

Provisions for premiums and bonuses to customers include premium and bonus claims of 
customers calculated on the basis of the underlying customer arrangements. 

Sales-related provisions concern product guarantee agreements and warranty costs, re-
consignments, losses from uncompleted contracts and provisions related to sales staff 
commissions. 

Other provisions primarily contain provisions for litigation, legal advice, audit and consult-
ing as well as obligations for other taxes and environmental matters. 
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(22) Commitments and contingent liabilities 
 
Commitments from legal proceedings and similar claims 
The Group is subject to various claims and legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary 
course of business. Based on all of the facts available to the Management, the Group be-
lieves that the ultimate resolution of these claims and legal proceedings will not likely have a 
material adverse effect on the financial position or the results of its operations, although no 
assurances can be given with respect to the outcome of such claims or litigation. 

On May 25, 2004, the Austrian Federal Competition Authority conducted, on behalf of the 
German competition authorities, an investigation in Vienna regarding the purchase of 
recovered paper in Germany. There were no indications that Mayr-Melnhof violated any 
antitrust laws. The competition authorities do not provide any information regarding the 
actual status of proceedings. 

Commitments from environmental matters 
The Group is also subject to various environmental legislations and regulations in the 
countries in which it operates. Expenditures for environmental matters which relate to 
existing conditions caused by past operations and have no significant future benefit are 
expensed as incurred. The Group records an accrual for environmental matters when an 
expense is probable and can be reasonably estimated. Costs of assessment and remedia-
tion of environmental matters to be accrued are based on estimates by the Management. 
It is possible that the final assessment of some of these matters may require the Group to 
make expenditures in excess of the amounts currently provided. However, the Manage-
ment believes that such additional amounts will not have a material effect on the Group’s 
financial position or results of operations. 

Expenses related to environmental matters were not material for the years ended 
December 31, 2008 and 2007. 
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Commitments and contingent liabilities 
Commitments and contingencies contain guarantees with contractual values amounting 
to thous. EUR 144.8 (December 31, 2007: thous. EUR 123.9). 

At December 31, 2008, purchase obligations for fixed assets regarding planned capital 
expenditures maturing within one year amount to thous. EUR 16,556.4 
(December 31, 2007: thous. EUR 32,689.3). 

Concerning the minority interests of 49.95 % in MM Polygrafoformlenie Limited, Cyprus, 
and 49 % in TEC MMP SARL in Sfax, Tunisia, the minority shareholders have a put option 
being exercisable in May 2008 and May 2009, respectively, at the earliest. 

 
(23) Subsequent events 
There have been no subsequent events after the balance sheet date. 
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(24) Segment reporting information 
Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG and its subsidiaries operate in two operating areas (production 
of cartonboard and production of folding cartons). The Group is organized in line of these 
two operating areas and is controlled by financial information generated thereon. Hence, 
the segments reported are congruent with these two operating areas: 

MM Karton: This division manufactures and markets numerous grades of cartonboard, 
concentrating particularly on coated cartonboard primarily from recycled fiber. 

MM Packaging: This division converts cartonboard into printed folding cartons pur-
chased by customers in a variety of industries including food and other consumer goods 
(e.g. cereals, dried foods, sugar, confectionary and baked goods, cosmetics and toiletries, 
detergents, domestic appliances, toys, cigarette packaging and high-grade confectionary 
packaging). 

Data of the management information system, on which the segment reporting is based, are 
in accordance with the accounting and recognition principles applied to the consolidated 
financial statements. Therefore a reconciliation is not necessary. The Group measures the 
performance of its operating segments through the assessment of “Operating profit”. 

Intersegment sales are carried out on an arm’s length basis.  

Revenues are allocated based on the shipment destination countries of finished goods, 
whereas long-lived assets are allocated according to the location of the respective units. 

Capital expenditures and depreciation/amortization relate to property, plant and equip-
ment, investment property and intangible assets including goodwill (see note 9). 

The "Gains from disposal of businesses" and the "Result from wound-up activities" relate 
to MM Karton (see note 4). 
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The segment reporting information concerning the Group’s operating segments can be 
illustrated as follows: 

  
 2008 
(in thousands of EUR) MM Karton MM Packaging Eliminations Consolidated 

Sales to external customers 743,711.9 987,482.2 0.0 1,731,194.1 

Intersegment sales 133,028.3 2,535.8 (135,564.1) 0.0 

Total sales 876,740.2 990,018.0 (135,564.1) 1,731,194.1 

Operating profit 39,121.8 97,818.7 0.0 136,940.5 

Financial expenses (2,446.3) (7,014.8) 1,367.4 (8,093.7) 

Financial income 14,238.2 1,843.4 (1,367.4) 14,714.2 

Profit before tax 50,394.5 87,564.2 0.0 137,958.7 

Income tax expense (18,761.8) (22,287.5) 0.0 (41,049.3) 

Profit for the year 31,632.7 65,276.7 0.0 96,909.4 

Capital expenditures 41,485.0 55,206.9 0.0 96,691.9 

Depreciation and amortization (41,768.1) (41,711.5) 0.0 (83,479.6) 

Segment assets 840,199.1 657,233.3 (71,512.5) 1,425,919.9 

Segment liabilities 274,272.6 309,509.1 (71,512.5) 512,269.2 

Employees per segment as of December 31 of the year 2,559 5,681  8,240      
   
 2007 
(in thousands of EUR) MM Karton MM Packaging Eliminations Consolidated 

Sales to external customers 782,395.3 954,563.9 0.0 1,736,959.2 

Intersegment sales 142,014.4 3,988.3 (146,002.7) 0.0 

Total sales 924,409.7 958,552.2 (146,002.7) 1,736,959.2 

Operating profit 72,550.2 96,868.0 0.0 169,418.2 

Financial expenses (3,594.7) (7,294.9) 1,806.7 (9,082.9) 

Financial income 13,292.4 3,048.4 (1,806.7) 14,534.1 

Profit before tax 80,082.3 90,781.6 0.0 170,863.9 

Income tax expense (21,361.3) (32,928.6) 0.0 (54,289.9) 

Profit for the year 58,721.0 57,853.0 0.0 116,574.0 

Capital expenditures 38,086.3 57,661.2 0.0 95,747.5 

Depreciation and amortization (47,273.8) (41,955.9) 0.0 (89,229.7) 

Segment assets 885,122.6 674,466.7 (26,095.3) 1,533,494.0 

Segment liabilities 308,185.4 317,507.8 (26,095.3) 599,597.9 

Employees per segment as of December 31 of the year 3,010 5,647  8,657      
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The following is a country-by-country breakdown of net sales based upon shipment  
destination as well as a summary of non-current assets and capital expenditures based 
upon location: 

   
 2008 2007 

(in thousands of EUR) Net sales 
Non-current 

assets 
Capital 

expenditures Net sales 
Non-current 

assets 
Capital 

expenditures 

Austria 83,005.3 84,766.0 17,368.7 105,538.2 92,382.6 15,823.6 

Germany 446,460.3 247,641.7 39,583.9 449,416.7 242,028.5 30,322.7 

United Kingdom 196,563.9 7,998.7 324.7 202,501.7 12,801.8 2,840.5 

France 133,455.6 13,488.3 1,581.9 127,066.0 13,394.4 3,600.5 

Other Western European countries 314,946.6 70,740.9 8,941.3 308,460.0 67,004.3 4,548.7 

Eastern European countries 418,160.4 185,991.9 28,444.0 424,864.4 214,599.1 35,595.4 

Asia 66,373.5 0.0 0.0 49,080.0 0.0 0.0 

Other 72,228.5 13,379.3 447.4 70,032.2 14,424.9 3,016.1 

Consolidated total 1,731,194.1 624,006.8 96,691.9 1,736,959.2 656,635.6 95,747.5        
 
Non-current assets and capital expenditures comprise property, plant and equipment, 
investment property and intangible assets including goodwill (see note 9). 

 
(25) Disclosure on transactions with related parties 
In 2008 and 2007, no material business transactions were concluded between the Group 
and related parties.  

In the financial year 2008 sales with related companies of thous. EUR 484.2 (2007: 
thous EUR 950.2) were achieved. The cost of materials from related companies amounted 
to thous. EUR 3,743.2 in 2008 (2007: thous. EUR 4,214.7). At December 31, 2008, trade 
accounts receivable from related companies amounted to thous. EUR 35.6 
(December 31, 2007: thous. EUR 38.0), and trade liabilities from related companies 
amounted to thous. EUR 299.6 (December 31, 2007: thous. EUR 327.6). 

Transactions with these companies are carried out on an arm’s length basis. 
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(26) Supplementary disclosures to the notes in accordance with 
regulation 245a of the Austrian Companies Code 

 
A) ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES TO THE NOTES 
 
Additional disclosures related to the application of the costs of goods sold method 
A breakdown of personnel expenses is as follows: 

   

(in thousands of EUR) 

Year ended  
Dec. 31, 2008 

Year ended  
Dec. 31, 2007 

Gross wages 165,971.1 168,093.3 

Gross salaries 95,613.1 96,005.7 

Severance expense 2,725.4 3,641.2 

Pension expense 4,257.3 5,414.4 

Expenses for statutory social security as well as payroll-related taxes 
and other contributions 53,634.6 53,857.0 

Other welfare expenses 5,130.7 5,254.3 

Total 327,332.2 332,265.9    
 
Other information 
The average number of employees is as follows: 

   

(Number of persons) 

Year ended  
Dec. 31, 2008 

Year ended  
Dec. 31, 2007 

Factory workers 6,294 6,339 

Office staff 2,046 1,943 

Total 8,340 8,282    
 
The remuneration of the members of the Management Board is as follows: 

   

(in thousands of EUR) 

Year ended  
Dec. 31, 2008 

Year ended  
Dec. 31, 2007 

Base salary 1,368.7 1,173.7 

Variable compensation 2,367.9 2,294.8 

Total 3,736.6 3,468.5    
 
The remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board for the financial year 2008 
amounted to thous. EUR 167.1 (2007: thous. EUR 146.3). 

Concerning the remuneration of former members of the Management and Supervisory 
Boards, the clause of non-publishing these remunerations by referring to the regulations 
of 241 paragraph 4 in conjunction with 266 figure 7 last sentence of the Austrian Compa-
nies Code has been applied. 
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B) TABLE OF AFFILIATED AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES 
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Mayr-Melnhof Karton Aktiengesellschaft Vienna  AUT Holding/Consulting EUR 88,000 - FC1) 

 
MM KARTON 

  

Baiersbronn Frischfaser Karton GmbH Baiersbronn DEU Cartonboard production EUR 2,050 100.00 % FC1) 
CartPrint Insurance AG Vaduz LIE Insurance company EUR 3,000 100.00 % FC1) 
Colthrop Board Mill Limited London GBR Owning company GBP 7,000 100.00 % FC1) 
CP (CartPrint) International Trading AG Stettlen CHE Sourcing CHF 50 100.00 % FC1) 
FS-Karton GmbH Baiersbronn DEU Cartonboard production EUR 51,641 100.00 % FC1) 
Hermann Schött GmbH Offsetdruckerei Baiersbronn DEU Owning company EUR 2,733 100.00 % FC1) 
Industriewater Eerbeek B.V. Eerbeek NLD Waste water purification EUR 143 37.50 % EC2) 
Karton Deisswil AG Stettlen CHE Cartonboard production CHF 6,000 100.00 % FC1) 
Kolicevo Karton Proizvodnja kartona, d.o.o. Domzale SVN Cartonboard production EUR 12,828 100.00 % FC1) 
Lokalbahn Payerbach-Hirschwang  
Gesellschaft m.b.H. 

Reichenau an der 
Rax 

AUT Railway transport ATS 2,500 100.00 % NC3) 

Management Transport & Logistik GmbH Frohnleiten AUT Logistics company EUR 37 70.00 % FC1) 
Mayr-Melnhof Cartonboard International GmbH Vienna AUT Holding company EUR 450 100.00 % FC1) 
Mayr-Melnhof Eerbeek B.V. Eerbeek NLD Cartonboard production EUR 7,300 100.00 % FC1) 
Mayr-Melnhof Gernsbach GmbH Gernsbach DEU Cartonboard production EUR 9,205 100.00 % FC1) 
Mayr-Melnhof Holdings N.V. Eerbeek NLD Holding/Consulting EUR 67,254 100.00 % FC1) 
Mayr-Melnhof Karton Gesellschaft m.b.H. Frohnleiten AUT Cartonboard production ATS 100,000 100.00 % FC1) 
Mayr-Melnhof Nikopol A.D. Nikopol BGR Cartonboard production BGN 8,671 99.98 % FC1) 
MM Holding UK Limited London GBR Holding company GBP 5,170 100.00 % FC1) 
Stort Doonweg B.V. Eerbeek NLD Waste dumping EUR 18 50.00 % NC3) 
W Ü R O Verwaltungsgesellschaft mit beschränkter 
Haftung 

Würzburg DEU General partner DEM 51 66.67 % FC1) 

WÜRO Papierverwertung GmbH & Co KG4) Würzburg DEU Recovered paper 
collection 

DEM 420 66.67 % FC1) 
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Trading companies & sales offices of MM Karton    
Austria Carton SA Barcelona ESP Sales office EUR 60 75.00 % FC1) 
Keminer Remmers Spiehs Kartonhandels GmbH Gernsbach DEU Cartonboard trading DEM 2,500 100.00 % FC1) 
Mayr-Melnhof Belgium N.V. Zaventem BEL Sales office EUR 62 100.00 % FC1) 
Mayr-Melnhof France SARL Paris FRA Sales office EUR 8 100.00 % FC1) 
Mayr-Melnhof Italia SRL Milano ITA Sales office EUR 51 75.00 % FC1) 
Mayr-Melnhof Karton Polska Sp. z o.o. Poznan POL Sales office PLN 50 100.00 % FC1) 
Mayr-Melnhof Mediterra SARL Tunis TUN Sales office TND 80 100.00 % FC1) 
Mayr-Melnhof Nederland B.V. Amstelveen NLD Sales office EUR 91 100.00 % FC1) 
Mayr-Melnhof UK Limited London GBR Sales office GBP 100 100.00 % FC1) 
MM Karton Bulgaria EOOD Sofia BGR Sales office BGN 5 100.00 % FC1) 
MM Karton Praha s.r.o. Prague CZE Sales office CZK 820 100.00 % FC1) 
MM Karton Russia LLC Moscow RUS Sales office RUB 14,290 100.00 % FC1) 
MM Kartonvertrieb GmbH Neuss DEU Sales office DEM 50 100.00 % FC1) 
MM Prodaja Kartona d.o.o. Domzale SVN Sales office EUR 30 75.00 % FC1) 
MM Scandinavia ApS Copenhagen DNK Sales office DKK 210 100.00 % FC1) 
Varsity Packaging Limited London GBR Cartonboard trading GBP 300 100.00 % FC1) 

        

1) FC ... fully consolidated 

2) EC ... consolidated at equity 

3) NC ... non-consolidated 

4) These consolidated financial statements represent an exemption for these partnerships according to section 264b of the 
German Commercial Code. 
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MM PACKAGING 

  

Al-Ekbal Printing & Packaging Co. Amman JOR Production of packaging JOD 5,000 52.57 % FC1) 
Al-Ekbal Paper Trading & Logistic Services Ltd. Co. 
(in the course of formation) 

Amman JOR Trading JOD 30 52.57 % NC3) 

C.P. Schmidt Verpackungs-Werk 
Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH 

Kaiserslautern DEU General partner EUR 180 75.00 % FC1) 

C.P. Schmidt Verpackungs-Werk GmbH & Co. KG4) Kaiserslautern DEU Production of packaging EUR 4,000 75.00 % FC1) 
Ernst Schausberger & Co. Gesellschaft m.b.H. Gunskirchen AUT Production of packaging EUR 2,910 100.00 % FC1) 
Herakles LLC St. Petersburg RUS Owning company RUB 10,500 50.05 % FC1) 
Mayr-Melnhof Graphia Izmir Karton sanayi ve ticaret 
anonim sirketi 

Izmir TUR Production of packaging TRY 24,613 100.00 % FC1) 

Mayr-Melnhof Gravure GmbH Trier DEU Production of packaging EUR 7,000 100.00 % FC1) 
Mayr-Melnhof Packaging Austria GmbH Vienna AUT Production of packaging EUR 3,050 100.00 % FC1) 
Mayr-Melnhof Packaging GmbH Baiersbronn DEU Holding/Consulting DEM 8,000 100.00 % FC1) 
Mayr-Melnhof Packaging Holding S.A.R.L. Seignelay FRA Holding company EUR 9,245 100.00 % FC1) 
Mayr-Melnhof Packaging Iberica SL Valencia ESP Production of packaging EUR 7,500 100.00 % FC1) 
Mayr-Melnhof Packaging International GmbH Vienna AUT Holding/Consulting EUR 3,500 100.00 % FC1) 
Mayr-Melnhof Packaging Romania S.R.L. Ploiesti ROU Production of packaging RON 5,504 100.00 % FC1) 
Mayr-Melnhof Packaging UK Limited London GBR Production of packaging GBP 9,700 100.00 % FC1) 
MM Graphia Beteiligungs- und Verwaltungs GmbH Baiersbronn DEU Holding/Consulting EUR 5,538 100.00 % FC1) 
MM Graphia Bielefeld GmbH Bielefeld DEU Production of packaging EUR 526 100.00 % FC1) 
MM Graphia Dortmund GmbH Dortmund DEU Production of packaging EUR 100 100.00 % FC1) 
MM Graphia Innovaprint GmbH & Co. KG4) Bielefeld DEU Production of packaging EUR 500 100.00 % FC1) 
MM Graphia Trier GmbH Trier DEU Production of packaging EUR 3,500 100.00 % FC1) 
MM Innovaprint Verwaltungs GmbH Bielefeld DEU Limited partner DEM 50 100.00 % FC1) 
MM Packaging Behrens GmbH & Co KG4) Alfeld (Leine) DEU Production of packaging EUR 1,790 100.00 % FC1) 
MM Packaging Behrens Verwaltungs GmbH Alfeld (Leine) DEU General partner EUR 26 100.00 % FC1) 
MM Packaging Caesar GmbH & Co KG4) Traben-Trarbach DEU Production of packaging EUR 5,120 100.00 % FC1) 
MM Packaging Caesar Verwaltungs GmbH Traben-Trarbach DEU General partner EUR 26 100.00 % FC1) 
MM PACKAGING France S.A.S. Moneteau FRA Production of packaging EUR 6,950 100.00 % FC1) 
MM Packaging Polska Sp. z o.o. Bydgoszcz POL Production of packaging PLN 18,700 100.00 % FC1) 
MM Packaging Schilling GmbH Heilbronn DEU Production of packaging EUR 2,500 100.00 % FC1) 
MM Packaging St. Petersburg LLC St. Petersburg RUS Production of packaging RUB 43,929 100.00 % FC1) 
MM Packaging Ukraine LLC Cherkassy UKR Production of packaging UAH 56,896 100.00 % FC1) 
MM Polygrafoformlenie Limited Nicosia CYP Holding company CYP 4 50.05 % FC1) 
MM Polygrafoformlenie Packaging LLC St. Petersburg RUS Production of packaging RUB 565,851 50.05 % FC1) 
Neupack Gesellschaft m.b.H. Reichenau an 

der Rax 
AUT Production of packaging ATS 25,000 100.00 % FC1) 

Neupack Polska Sp. z o.o. Bydgoszcz POL Production of packaging PLN 9,260 100.00 % FC1) 
PacProject GmbH Hamburg DEU Development of 

packaging 
EUR 26 75.77 % FC1) 

Superpak Ambalaj sanayi ve ticaret anonim sirketi Izmir TUR Production of packaging TRY 3,150 60.01 % FC1) 
TEC MMP SARL Sfax TUN Production of packaging TND 21,400 51.00 % FC1) 
Ukrainisch-Deutsche geschlossene Aktiengesellschaft 
“Graphia Ukraina” 

Cherkassy UKR Production of packaging UAH 5,880 94.78 % FC1) 

VTV Verpackungstechnische Verfahren GmbH Kaiserslautern DEU Development of 
packaging 

EUR 200 75.00 % FC1) 
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OTHER 

  

“free com” internet-services GmbH Vienna AUT IT services EUR 35 36.00 % FC1) 
Syn-Group Unternehmensberatung GmbH Vienna AUT Consulting EUR 37 38.00 % FC1) 

        

1) FC ... fully consolidated 

2) EC ... consolidated at equity 

3) NC ... non-consolidated 

4) These consolidated financial statements represent an exemption for these partnerships according to section 264b of the 
German Commercial Code. 
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During the financial year 2008, the Board Members were as follows: 

Management Board 
Wilhelm HÖRMANSEDER, Purkersdorf (Chairman) 
Andreas BLASCHKE, Perchtoldsdorf (Member of the Management Board) 
Franz RAPPOLD, Laab im Walde (Member of the Management Board) 
Oliver SCHUMY, Vienna (Member of the Management Board since June 1, 2008) 

Supervisory Board 
Michael GRÖLLER, Vienna (Chairman) 
Romuald BERTL, Graz (Vice-Chairman) 
Clemens GOESS-SAURAU, Frohnleiten (Vice-Chairman, 
    passed away on January 10, 2008) 
Johannes GOESS-SAURAU, Neumarkt/Raab (Vice-Chairman since May 7, 2008) 
Friedrich MAYR-MELNHOF, Grödig (Vice-Chairman) 
Gerhard GLINZERER, Vienna 
Guido HELD, Graz (since May 7, 2008) 
Alexander LEEB, Frohnleiten (since May 7, 2008) 
Georg MAYR-MELNHOF, Wals/Viehhausen (since May 7, 2008) 
Hubert ESSER, Neuss (Staff Council Representative, MM Karton) 
Manfred GRUNDAUER, Frohnleiten (Staff Council Representative, MM Karton) 
Gerhard NOVOTNY, Vienna (Staff Council Representative, MM Packaging) 
 

Vienna, February 27, 2009 

 
The Management Board 

Wilhelm Hörmanseder m.p. 

Andreas Blaschke m.p. Franz Rappold m.p. Oliver Schumy m.p. 
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To the Management Board, the Supervisory Board and the shareholders of Mayr-Melnhof 
Karton AG, Vienna, Austria 

Report on the consolidated financial statements 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Mayr-Melnhof 
Karton AG, Vienna, for the financial year from January 1, 2008 to December 31, 2008. 
These consolidated financial statements comprise the balance sheet as at 
December 31, 2008, and the income statement, the statement of changes in equity and 
the cash flow statement for the year ended December 31, 2008, and a summary of sig-
nificant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements 
The Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these con-
solidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards as adopted by the EU. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and 
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consoli-
dated financial statements to ensure that these are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and 
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements 
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with laws and regulations 
applicable in Austria and in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing 
(ISAs), issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB) of the 
International Federation of Accountants (IFAC). These standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on 
the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presen-
tation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting esti-
mates made by the Management as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to pro-
vide a basis for our audit opinion. 

 

Report of independent 
auditors 
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Opinion 
Our audit did not give rise to any objections. Based on the results of our audit, in our 
opinion the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Group as of December 31, 2008, and of its financial performance 
and its cash flows for the financial year from January 1, 2008 to December 31, 2008 in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
Laws and regulations applicable in Austria require us to perform audit procedures to de-
termine whether the consolidated management report is consistent with the consolidated 
financial statements and whether the other disclosures made in the consolidated man-
agement report do not give rise to misconception of the position of the Group. 

In our opinion, the consolidated management report for the Group is consistent with the 
consolidated financial statements. 

 

Vienna, February 27, 2009 

gmc-unitreu 

Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungs GmbH 

 

Christoph ZIMMEL 
 

Werner LEITER 
 

Austrian Chartered Accountants 
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gem. § 243 UGB der 

Mayr-Melnhof Karton Aktiengesellschaft 
über das Geschäftsjahr 

1. Jänner 2008 bis 31. Dezember 2008 
 
Die Mayr-Melnhof Karton Aktiengesellschaft ist die geschäftsleitende Holdinggesell-
schaft des Mayr-Melnhof Konzerns. Die von ihr wahrgenommenen Führungs- und 
Steuerungsaufgaben umfassen die Bereiche Strategie, Investitionen, Rechnungswesen, 
Controlling, Steuern, Finanzmanagement, Investor Relations, Qualitätswesen, Einkauf, 
Informationstechnologie und Human Resources. 

1. Geschäftsverlauf im Jahr 2008 
 
A) VERMÖGENSLAGE 
     

Veränderung 
(in EUR) 31. Dez. 2008 31. Dez. 2007 in EUR in % 

Immaterielle Vermögensgegenstände und Sachanlagen 2.453.401,69 2.504.302,61 (50.900,92) (2,03 %) 

Finanzanlagen 276.330.418,32 235.236.336,57 41.094.081,75 17,47 % 

Sonstiges Umlaufvermögen und Rechungsabgrenzungs- 
posten 231.800.808,60 196.087.195,77 35.713.612,83 18,21 % 

Gesamtvermögen 510.584.628,61 433.827.834,95 76.756.793,66 17,69 % 

Eigenkapital, unversteuerte Rücklagen und Investitions- 
zuschüsse 390.992.988,05 353.897.435,96 37.095.552,09 10,48 % 

Rückstellungen 32.646.045,32 17.679.586,31 14.966.459,01 84,65 % 

Verbindlichkeiten und Rechnungsabgrenzungsposten 86.945.595,24 62.250.812,68 24.694.782,56 39,67 % 

Gesamtkapital 510.584.628,61 433.827.834,95 76.756.793,66 17,69 % 
     
 

        
      2008 2007 

Eigenkapital 390.992.988,05 
Eigenkapitalausstattung = 

Gesamtkapital 
= 

510.584.628,61 
= 76,58 % 81,60 % 

        
 

Lagebericht
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B) ERTRAGSLAGE 
     
 2008 2007 Veränderung 

 in EUR 
in % der 

Umsatzerlöse in EUR 
in % der 

Umsatzerlöse in EUR in % 

Finanzerfolg 77.024.741,08 100,00 % 64.709.223,48 100,00 % 12.315.517,60 19,03 % 

Sonstige betriebliche 
Erträge 6.161.740,94 8,00 % 6.877.585,24 10,63 % (715.844,30) (10,41 %) 

Verwaltungskosten (8.437.472,93) (10,95 %) (8.070.269,22) (12,47 %) (367.203,71) 4,55 % 

Betriebsergebnis (2.275.731,99) (2,95 %) (1.192.683,98) (1,84 %) (1.083.048,01) 90,81 % 

Ergebnis der 
gewöhnlichen 
Geschäftstätigkeit 74.749.009,09 97,05 % 63.516.539,50 98,16 % 11.232.469,59 17,68 % 

Jahresüberschuss 74.077.769,09 96,17 % 61.918.607,04 95,69 % 12.159.162,05 19,64 %        
 

        
      2008 2007 

+ Jahresüberschuss 74.077.769,09 

+ Abschreibungen (auf 
Sachanlagen und immaterielle 

Vermögensgegenstände) 67.286,99 
Cash Earnings = 

+ latente Steuern 

= 

0,00 

= 74.145.056,08 61.988.547,70 

        
 

        
      2008 2007 

Jahresüberschuss 74.077.769,09 Eigenkapitalrentabilität nach 
Steuern 

= 
Durchschnittl. Eigenkapital 

= 
372.445.212,01 

= 19,89 % 16,89 % 
        
 

Die Beteiligungserträge aus der Holdingfunktion der Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG erhöhten 
sich von 60,3 Mio. EUR im Jahr 2007 auf 71,9 Mio. EUR im Jahr 2008. Diese resultie-
ren überwiegend aus der Dividende der Mayr-Melnhof Karton Gesellschaft m.b.H., 
Frohnleiten, in Höhe von 25,0 Mio. EUR (2007: 30,0 Mio. EUR), der Dividende der MM 
Graphia Beteiligungs- und Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Baiersbronn, in Höhe von 
21,1 Mio. EUR (Vorjahr: 25,4 Mio. EUR), der Dividende der FS-Karton GmbH, Baiers-
bronn, in Höhe von 9,1 Mio. EUR (2007: 0,0 Mio. EUR) und der Dividende der Mayr-
Melnhof Cartonboard International GmbH, Wien, in Höhe von 7,2 Mio. EUR (2007: 0,0 
Mio. EUR). 

Die Zinserträge aus Wertpapieren betragen EUR 2,6 Mio. (2007: EUR 1,4 Mio.), die 
Zinserträge aus Festgeldern EUR 5,1 Mio. (2007: EUR 4,3 Mio.). 
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2. Geschäftsverlauf 2008 in den Segmenten 
 
MM KARTON 
Vor dem Hintergrund des sich beschleunigenden Konjunkturrückganges verzeichnete 
auch die Kartonnachfrage wie erwartet über den gesamten Jahresverlauf eine deutliche 
Abschwächung. Trotz der schwierigen Marktvorgabe gelang es jedoch die infolge von 
Kosteninflation notwendigen Preiserhöhungen weitgehend umzusetzen. Aufgrund unse-
rer Preispolitik und zunehmender Vorsicht in der Disposition unserer Kunden, die vor 
allem in der zweiten Jahreshälfte durch starke Volatilität gekennzeichnet war, reduzierte 
sich der durchschnittliche Auftragsstand signifikant gegenüber dem Vorjahr von 172.000 
auf 48.000 Tonnen. Nachdem in der ersten Jahreshälfte noch eine durchwegs hohe 
Auslastung der Kartonmaschinen verzeichnet werden konnten, war das zweite Halbjahr 
durch einen deutlichen Anstieg marktbedingter Maschinenstillstände geprägt. Insgesamt 
waren die Kapazitäten von MM Karton im Jahresdurchschnitt 2008 zu 86 % (2007: 97 %) 
ausgelastet. Die Produktion erreichte 1.527.000 Tonnen und lag damit um 9,2 % unter 
dem Vorjahr (2007: 1.682.000 Tonnen). In 2008 wurden bezogen auf den durchschnittli-
chen Mitarbeiterstand 571 Tonnen (2007: 574 Tonnen) pro Mitarbeiter hergestellt. 

Im Zuge der Konzentration der Fertigung auf Hochleistungsstandorte wurde die Pro-
duktion am bulgarischen Kartonstandort in Nikopol eingestellt und soweit möglich auf 
effizientere Werke von MM Karton verlagert. 

Mit dem Ziel, den Fokus auf das Kerngeschäft weiter zu stärken, wurden die bisher im 
Segment MM Karton geführten Beteiligungen an österreichischen Altpapierbetrieben 
veräußert. 

Trotz beginnender Preisentspannung bei einigen Altpapiersorten hat die Kostenbelas-
tung vor allem infolge des Anstiegs bei allen rohölpreisabhängigen Inputfaktoren in 
den ersten Monaten 2008 zugenommen, weshalb die Kartonpreise ab Herbst erhöht 
wurden. Infolge der beschleunigten Marktschwäche und vermehrter Maschinenstill-
stände war jedoch eine Kostenkompensation nicht mehr möglich.  

Die verkaufte Menge reduzierte sich um rund 108.000 Tonnen bzw. 6,5 % auf 
1.547.000 Tonnen. Trotz höherer Durchschnittspreise waren die Umsatzerlöse men-
genbedingt und infolge des Verkaufs der Altpapierbetriebe mit 876,7 Mio. EUR um 
5,2 % niedriger als im Vorjahr. Rund 68 % davon entfielen auf Westeuropa, 18 % Osteu-
ropa und 14 % auf die außereuropäischen Märkte (2007: 70 %; 19 %; 11 %). MM Packa-
ging war mit einem Lieferanteil von 243.000 Tonnen (2007: 265.000 Tonnen) bzw. 
16 % am Gesamtabsatzvolumen auch in 2008 größter Kunde von MM Karton. Insge-
samt werden mehr als 1.000 Kunden beliefert. 

Infolge signifikant höherer Kosten sowie des fehlenden Ergebnisbeitrags der verkauf-
ten Altpapierbeteiligungen ist das betriebliche Ergebnis um 46,1 % von 72,6 Mio. EUR 
auf 39,1 Mio. EUR deutlich zurückgegangen. Die Operating Margin belief sich damit 
auf 4,5 % nach 7,9 % im Vorjahr. Der Return on Capital Employed lag bei 11,0 % (2007: 
18,8 %). Die Cash Earnings betrugen 69,1 Mio. EUR (2007: 103,7 Mio. EUR), womit die 
Cash Earnings Margin von 11,2 % auf 7,9 % zurückging. 
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MM PACKAGING 
Auch auf dem europäischen Faltschachtelmarkt hat sich im Einklang mit der konjunk-
turellen Abschwächung im Lauf des Geschäftsjahres eine deutlich verhaltenere Dispo-
sition der Kunden eingestellt. Innerhalb des breiten MM Packaging Standortnetzes mit 
Fokus auf verschiedene Absatzsegmente der Konsumgüterindustrie zeichnete sich 
gegen Jahresende bereits ein nach Region und Marktsegment stark heterogenes Aus-
lastungsbild ab. Insgesamt gelang es jedoch aufgrund der Akquisition von Neuge-
schäft überproportional zum Markt zu wachsen und Marktanteile zu gewinnen. 

Mit dem Erwerb einer Mehrheitsbeteiligung am türkischen Faltschachtelhersteller 
Superpak A.S. in Izmir ist MM Packaging in den türkischen Verpackungsmarkt für 
Konsumgüter eingestiegen. Der Wachstumskurs in bedeutenden Märkten am Rande 
Europas wurde damit strategiegemäß fortgesetzt.  

Produktivitätssteigerungsprogramme auf sämtlichen Stufen des Wertschöpfungspro-
zesses standen auch 2008 im Mittelpunkt unserer betrieblichen Maßnahmen. Einspa-
rungs- und Optimierungsmöglichkeiten im Standortverbund wurden weiter ausge-
schöpft. In diesem Zusammenhang ist die Produktion des russischen Faltschachtel-
werkes MM Packaging St. Petersburg im Dezember 2008 auf den Standort des größe-
ren Schwesterbetriebs MM Polygrafoformlenie Packaging, St. Petersburg, verlagert 
worden.  

In einem durch Verdrängungswettbewerb gekennzeichneten Marktumfeld gelang es, 
die verarbeitete Tonnage mit 652.000 Tonnen nahe am Vorjahreswert (2007: 653.000 
Tonnen) zu halten. Die jährliche durchschnittlich verarbeitete Tonnage je Mitarbeiter 
war mit 115,1 Tonnen niedriger als im Vorjahr (2007: 121,3 Tonnen). 

Die im Vergleich zum Vorjahr gestiegenen Kosten für Karton und rohölpreisabhängige 
Inputfaktoren konnten über die Absatzpreise weitergegeben werden. In der Folge ver-
zeichneten die Umsatzerlöse einen Zuwachs von 3,3 % bzw. 31,4 Mio. EUR auf 
990,0 Mio. EUR. Die regionale Umsatzverteilung blieb mit einem Anteil von rund 70 % 
in Westeuropa, 28 % in Osteuropa und 2 % in außereuropäischen Märkten konstant 
(2007: 70 %, 28 %, 2 %).  
 
Die Kundenbasis von MM Packaging umfasst rund 2.000 Abnehmer in verschiedenen 
Konsumgütermärkten. Faltschachteln für Lebensmittel und Zigaretten waren auch in 
2008 die anteilsmäßig größten Absatzbereiche. Mehr als drei Viertel des Geschäftes 
werden mit multinationalen Konsumgüterproduzenten erzielt. Der Umsatzanteil der 
fünf größten Kunden belief sich 2008 auf rund 41 % (2007: 43 %). 

Das betriebliche Ergebnis konnte gegenüber dem Vorjahr von 96,8 Mio. EUR auf 
97,8 Mio. EUR leicht verbessert werden. Die Operating Margin belief sich damit auf 
9,9 % (2007: 10,1 %). Der Return on Capital Employed betrug 19,8 % (2007: 21,7 %). Die 
Cash Earnings lagen bei 106,5 Mio. EUR (2007: 103,0 Mio. EUR), wodurch sich die 
Cash Earnings Margin von 10,7 % auf 10,8 % erhöhte. 
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3. Finanzinstrumente und Risikoberichterstattung 
Finanzinstrumente sind auf Vertrag basierende wirtschaftliche Vorgänge, die einen 
Anspruch auf Zahlungsmittel beinhalten. Dabei unterscheidet man einerseits originäre 
Finanzinstrumente wie Liquide Mittel, Wertpapiere, Forderungen und Verbindlichkeiten 
aus Lieferungen und Leistungen oder auch Finanzforderungen und Finanzverbindlich-
keiten. Andererseits gehören hierzu auch die derivativen Finanzinstrumente, die als 
Sicherungsgeschäfte zur Absicherung gegen Risiken aus Änderungen von Währungs-
kursen eingesetzt werden. 

Die Gesellschaft ist mit einer Anzahl von Risiken konfrontiert, die ein systematisches 
und kontinuierliches Risikomanagement erforderlich machen. Zu den Finanzinstrumen-
ten, die in der Gesellschaft in bestimmten Fällen eine Konzentration des Finanzrisikos 
verursachen können, zählen vor allem Liquide Mittel, Wertpapiere und Forderungen 
aus Beteiligungserträgen. Die Risiken und ihre potenziellen Auswirkungen werden im 
Rahmen des Risikomanagements erhoben, analysiert und auf Basis der definierten 
Risikopolitik bewältigt. Ziel ist es, die im Rahmen unserer Tätigkeit entstehenden po-
tenziellen Risiken frühzeitig zu identifizieren, zu bewerten, ihre Folgen abzuschätzen 
und geeignete Vorsorge- und Sicherungsmaßnahmen einzuleiten. 

Ein aktives Cashmanagement stellt sicher, dass ausreichend Liquidität (eigene Mittel 
bzw. jederzeit ausnutzbare Kreditlinien) verfügbar ist, um eingegangene Verbindlich-
keiten zu begleichen. 

Die Forderungen aus Lieferungen und Leistungen bestehen überwiegend gegenüber 
verbundenen Unternehmen. Für diese wurden daher keine Kundenkreditversicherun-
gen abgeschlossen. 

Fremdwährungsrisiken und Zinsänderungsrisiken werden durch regelmäßige Manage-
ment- und Bankgespräche und den Einsatz geeigneter Sicherungsgeschäfte in Form 
von Devisentermingeschäften bzw. Zinsswap Vereinbarungen minimiert. Es werden 
keine Derivate zu Handels- oder Spekulationszwecken verwendet. 

Das Risiko eines Verlustes aufgrund der Nichterfüllung eines Vertragspartners aus den 
derivativen Finanzinstrumenten ist überschaubar. Einerseits besteht die Möglichkeit 
der Aufrechnung von Forderungen und Verbindlichkeiten aus einem Finanzinstrument, 
andererseits sind alle Vertragspartner namhafte internationale Finanzinstitute, mit 
denen die Gesellschaft in laufenden Geschäftsbeziehungen steht. Die Gesellschaft 
betrachtet das Risiko der Nichterfüllung durch einen Vertragspartner als gering. 

Für unser Geschäft können zusätzlich zu den aufgeführten Risiken weitere Risiken 
bestehen. Zum gegenwärtigen Zeitpunkt sind solche Risiken nicht bekannt oder wer-
den von uns für vernachlässigbar gehalten. 

Die Gesamteinschätzung der Risikosituation der Gesellschaft weist keine bestandsge-
fährdenden Elemente auf. Derartige Risiken sind auch im kommenden Geschäftsjahr 
nicht zu erwarten. 



 

LAGEBERICHT DER MAYR-MELNHOF KARTON AG 93  

4. Forschung und Entwicklung 
Unsere Karton- und Faltschachtelprodukte sind moderne, technologisch ausgereifte 
Verpackungsmaterialien, die ästhetisch ansprechend in vielfältigster Form eingesetzt 
werden können. Aufbauend auf jahrzehntelanger Erfahrung produziert der Mayr-
Melnhof Konzern unter Einsatz modernster Technologien ein breites Kartonsortiment 
für Standard- und Spezialanwendungen sowie eine große Vielfalt an attraktiven Verpa-
ckungslösungen für die Konsumgüterindustrie. Ziel unserer Forschungs- und Entwick-
lungsarbeit ist es, durch kontinuierliche Qualitätssteigerungen, verbesserte Effizienz 
und Innovation sowohl den Kundennutzen unserer Produkte als auch die Wettbewerbs-
fähigkeit des Konzerns kontinuierlich zu steigern.  

Unser Innovationsansatz ist weit gefasst und ein wichtiger Bestandteil der Wachs-
tumsstrategie des Konzerns. Die Forschungs- und Entwicklungsarbeit wird dabei zent-
ral gesteuert und im Zusammenwirken von Experten aus den einzelnen Standorten 
praxisnah umgesetzt.  

Mit zwei langfristigen Programmen, „UnliMMited Innovation“ für MM Karton und 
„Break the Frame“ für MM Packaging, haben wir im Jahr 2008 das Innovationsmana-
gement organisatorisch und systematisch neu ausgerichtet mit dem Ziel, als Kosten- 
und Marktführer auch die Innovationsführerschaft bei Verpackungslösungen zu  
behaupten. Unter Einsatz modernster Methoden des Innovations- und Wissensmana-
gements wird auf Basis dieser Initiativen eine neuartige Innovationskultur im Konzern 
geschaffen, in der zukunftsweisende Lösungen unter Einbeziehung aller Mitarbeiter 
erarbeitet werden. 

Wie bisher erfolgreich praktiziert, haben wir im Bereich Grundlagenforschung die pro-
jektbezogene Zusammenarbeit mit Universitäten und Forschungseinrichtungen fortge-
setzt. Darüber hinaus arbeiten wir seit Jahrzehnten in den Gremien der Gesetzgebung 
und Normung aktiv an der Standardisierung künftiger Produktanforderungen mit, wo-
durch wir sicherstellen, diesen stets zeitnah zu entsprechen.  

MM Karton hat das Packmittel Karton auch im Jahr 2008 hinsichtlich der spezifischen 
Parameter wie Glanz und Glätte durch Rezepturänderungen weiter optimiert. Im  
Kartonwerk Neuss wurde eine neue Kartonqualität für die Verarbeitung im Flexodruck 
und Kaschierung auf Wellpappe entwickelt. Am Standort Eerbeek wurden mit der In-
stallation einer Refineranlage zur Zellstoffmahlung Entwicklungsarbeiten für einen 
100 % Frischfaserkarton aufgenommen. Im Kartonwerk Deisswil konnte insbesondere 
die Fettbarriereeigenschaft bei Spezialkarton für Tierfutterverpackungen verstärkt 
werden.  

In der Kartonverarbeitung haben wir unser Angebot entsprechend der Anforderung des 
Marktes nach umfassenden Verpackungslösungen, die vermehrt auch die der Produk-
tion vor- und nachgelagerten Bereiche der Supply Chain umfassen, ausgerichtet. 
Durch Beherrschung aller gängigen Drucktechnologien, Offset-, Tief- und Flexodruck, 
und vielschichtigsten Veredelungsverfahren sowie die Ausweitung des Dienstleis-
tungsangebotes von Consulting bis zum Co-Packing sind wir in der Lage, die Wert-
schöpfung zu erhöhen. 
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Die Entwicklung von Verpackungslösungen erfolgt in der Regel maßgeschneidert unter 
systematischem Rückgriff auf das Innovationsnetzwerk aus Spezialisten der einzelnen 
Standorte und dem Innovations-Center Pacproject in Hamburg. Ziel ist es, unseren 
Kunden durch Neuerungen im Bereich Konstruktion, Verpackungsform und Kombinati-
on von Veredelungsverfahren klare Differenzierungsmöglichkeiten auf dem Markt zu 
verschaffen.  

Premium-Anspruch durch hochwertige Veredelung, eindeutig identifizierbares Design, 
Convenience und der Anspruch auf Sustainability kennzeichnen die aktuellen Trends, 
denen wir durch innovative Verpackungen in Hinsicht auf Materialkombinationen, 
Formgebung und Funktionalität gerecht werden. 
 
Eine Neuentwicklung von MM Packaging International „Accessible Pouch“ wurde 2008 
mit dem deutschen Verpackungspreis und Worldstar Award ausgezeichnet. Darüber 
hinaus wurde eine Verpackungslösung des MM Packaging Betriebes Schausberger 
„Faltschachtel mit integrierter Halterung“ für den österreichischen Staatspreis „Vor-
bildliche Verpackung“ 2008 nominiert. 

5. Personal 
Die Gesellschaft beschäftigt keine Arbeitnehmer. 

6. Umweltschutz 
Der Einsatz von Karton als Verpackungsprodukt stellt neben den produkttechnischen 
und ökonomischen Vorteilen auch in ökologischer Hinsicht eine durch höchste Nach-
haltigkeit gekennzeichnete Verpackungslösung dar. Sie basiert auf dem Einsatz erneuer-
barer Ressourcen und weist die höchste Recyclingquote sowie niedrige CO2 Werte auf.  

Die Geschäftstätigkeit des Mayr-Melnhof Konzerns konzentriert sich seit Jahrzehnten 
auf die umweltschonende Herstellung von Karton- und Verpackungslösungen. Aus 
Altpapierfasern, die durch Frischfasern ergänzt werden, entsteht Karton. Dieser wird 
zu hochwertigen Faltschachtelverpackungen für Konsumgüter verarbeitet, welche über 
den Recyclingprozess nahezu vollständig wieder verwertet werden. Die Prinzipien der 
Kreislauffähigkeit sind damit seit jeher integraler Bestandteil unseres Geschäftsmo-
dells. 

In einem wettbewerbsintensiven Umfeld ist der sparsame Umgang mit Ressourcen 
entscheidend. Deshalb setzen wir in unseren Produktionsprozessen konsequent die 
jeweils besten verfügbaren Technologien ein. Dadurch gewährleisten wir höchst mögli-
che Effizienz und Qualität in der Herstellung unserer Produkte. Regelmäßig umfassen 
unsere Umweltschutzmaßnahmen auch die der Produktion vor- und nachgelagerten 
Bereiche. Ein interner Benchmarking-Prozess stellt dabei sicher, dass Best-Practice-
Beispiele zügig im Konzernverbund umgesetzt werden.  
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Aufgrund der kontinuierlichen Optimierungen in den Mayr-Melnhof Kartonfabriken 
verzeichnen wir hinsichtlich vieler spezifischer Verbrauchs- und Emissionswerte seit 
langem europäische Bestwerte. Weitere Verbesserungen sind daher oft nur mehr im 
Grenzbereich möglich bzw. bedürfen neuer technologischer Innovationen. 

Die aktuellen Optimierungen im Umweltbereich konzentrieren sich vor allem auf weite-
re Einsparungen im Rohstoff- und Energieverbrauch sowie im Logistikbereich. Um-
weltmanagementsysteme, die an einer zunehmenden Anzahl von Standorten imple-
mentiert sind, begleiten diesen Prozess mit hoher Systematik. 

7. Angaben nach § 243a UGB 
 
Zusammensetzung des Kapitals, Aktiengattungen 
Es wird auf die Angaben im Konzernabschluss unter Anhangsangabe 15 A) verwiesen. 

Beschränkungen hinsichtlich der Stimmrechte bzw. der Übertragung von Aktien 
Rund 64 % der Aktien werden von den Kernaktionärsfamilien in einem Syndikat gehal-
ten. Es besteht ein Syndikatsvertrag, welcher die Übertragbarkeit der Aktien innerhalb 
des Syndikates und nach außen regelt. Angelegenheiten, die die Hauptversammlung 
betreffen, beschließt das Syndikat mit einfacher Mehrheit. Änderungen des Syndikats-
vertrages bedürfen einer Dreiviertelmehrheit. 

Direkte oder indirekte Beteiligungen am Kapital, die zumindest 10 vom Hundert 
betragen 
Nach den der Gesellschaft bekannt gegebenen Informationen bestanden per Jahres-
ende 2008 folgende Beteiligungen von mindestens 10 Prozent am Kapital: 

MMS Mayr-Melnhof-Saurau Beteiligungsverwaltung KG 
CAMA Privatstiftung  
MM Salzburg Privatstiftung  

Die Inhaber von Aktien mit besonderen Kontrollrechten und eine Beschreibung 
dieser Rechte 
Es bestehen keine Aktien mit besonderen Kontrollrechten. 

Die Art der Stimmrechtskontrolle bei einer Kapitalbeteiligung der Arbeitnehmer, 
wenn sie das Stimmrecht nicht unmittelbar ausüben 
Es besteht kein derartiges Kapitalbeteiligungsmodell für Mitarbeiter. 

Die sich nicht unmittelbar aus dem Gesetz ergebenden Bestimmungen über die 
Ernennung und Abberufung der Mitglieder des Vorstands und des Aufsichtsrats 
und über die Änderung der Satzung der Gesellschaft 
Es bestehen keine Bestimmungen dieser Art. 
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Die sich nicht unmittelbar aus dem Gesetz ergebenden Befugnisse der Mitglieder 
des Vorstands, insbesondere hinsichtlich der Möglichkeit, Aktien auszugeben oder 
zurückzukaufen 
Es wird auf die Angaben im Konzernabschluss unter Anhangsangabe 15 A) verwiesen. 

Alle bedeutenden Vereinbarungen, an denen die Gesellschaft beteiligt ist und die 
bei einem Kontrollwechsel in der Gesellschaft infolge eines Übernahmeangebots 
wirksam werden, sich ändern oder enden, sowie ihre Wirkungen; ausgenommen 
hiervon sind Vereinbarungen, deren Bekanntmachung der Gesellschaft erheblich 
schaden würde, es sei denn, die Gesellschaft ist zur Bekanntgabe derartiger 
Informationen aufgrund anderer Rechtsvorschriften ausdrücklich verpflichtet 
Es wird von der Schutzklausel hinsichtlich der Bekanntgabe Gebrauch gemacht. Die 
Größenordnung des betroffenen Geschäfts ist als überschaubar einzustufen. 

Bestand und wesentlicher Inhalt von Entschädigungsvereinbarungen zwischen der 
Gesellschaft und ihren Vorstands- und Aufsichtsratsmitgliedern oder 
Arbeitnehmern für den Fall eines öffentlichen Übernahmeangebots 
Es bestehen keine Vereinbarungen dieser Art. 

8. Wesentliche Ereignisse nach dem Bilanzstichtag 
Nach dem  Bilanzstichtag haben keine wesentlichen Ereignisse stattgefunden. 
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9. Ausblick auf das Geschäftsjahr 2009 
Die nachfolgenden vorausblickenden Aussagen unterliegen sowohl bekannten als auch 
unbekannten Risiken und Unsicherheiten, die dazu führen können, dass die tatsächli-
chen Ereignisse von den hier getroffenen Aussagen abweichen können. 

Im Zuge der fortschreitenden Rezession im Hauptmarkt Europa erwarten wir für die 
kommenden Monate eine spürbare Reduktion der Massenkaufkraft, die auch die Kar-
ton- und Faltschachtelnachfrage treffen wird. Im Kartonbereich setzte nach dem deut-
lichen Auftragsrückgang zum Ende des Jahres 2008 die Nachfrage erst spät und stark 
verhalten mit hoher Volatilität gegen Ende Januar ein. Damit gibt es keine Anzeichen 
für eine kurzfristige Verbesserung der Auslastung wodurch weitere marktbedingte 
Maschinenstillstände unvermeidlich bleiben. Der Auftragseingang im Faltschachtelbe-
reich ist insgesamt noch gut, weist aber nach Region und Kundensegment bereits 
starke Unterschiede auf.  

Selektive Anpassungen von Mitarbeiterständen an die niedrigeren Auslastungsniveaus 
einzelner Standorte sind unausweichlich, werden aber unter der Maßgabe gesetzt, die 
langfristige Leistungskraft des Konzerns nicht zu schmälern. 

Der in jüngster Zeit starke Rückgang bei den Rohstoffkosten kann die Margen nicht 
stützen, sondern verschärft den bereits nachfragebedingten Preisdruck. Vorrangiges 
Ziel ist es daher nun Marktanteile zu behaupten bzw. dazuzugewinnen. 

In der Produktion liegt allerorts der Schwerpunkt auf Maßnahmen, die dazu beitragen, 
das Kostengefüge zu verbessern und die Produktivität zu steigern. Die Investitionstätigkeit 
wird fortgesetzt, wobei der Schwerpunkt auf Projekten mit kurzfristigem Pay-Back liegt. 

Ausreichende Liquidität und Finanzierungsmöglichkeiten verbunden mit Kostenführer-
schaft geben uns eine solide Basis auch unter den gegebenen Rahmenbedingungen 
unsere Positionierung innerhalb der Branche weiter zu stärken. 

Infolge der unsicheren gesamtwirtschaftlichen Entwicklung kann zum gegenwärtigen 
Zeitpunkt noch keine Ergebnisprognose für 2009 abgegeben werden.  

 
Wien, am 27. Februar 2009 

Der Vorstand 

Dr. Wilhelm HÖRMANSEDER e.h.  

Dr. Andreas BLASCHKE e.h. Ing. Franz RAPPOLD e.h. Dr. Oliver SCHUMY e.h. 
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A K T I V A 
(in EUR) 

Stand 
31. Dez. 2008 

Stand 
31. Dez. 2007 

P A S S I V A 
(in EUR) 
 

Stand 
31. Dez. 2008 

Stand 
31. Dez. 2007 

A. ANLAGEVERMÖGEN   A. EIGENKAPITAL   

I. Sachanlagen   I. Grundkapital 88.000.000,00 88.000.000,00 

1. Grundstücke und Bauten 2.424.762,93 2.429.884,27 II. Kapitalrücklagen   

davon Grundwert: EUR 577.352,82 (Vorjahr: EUR 577.352,82)   1. Gebundene Kapitalrücklage 164.658.448,08 164.658.448,08 

2. Andere Anlagen, Betriebs- und Geschäftsausstattung 28.638,76 74.418,34  164.658.448,08 164.658.448,08 

 2.453.401,69 2.504.302,61 III. Gewinnrücklagen   

II. Finanzanlagen   1. Andere freie Rücklagen 24.434.841,24 38.829.223,80 

1. Anteile an verbundenen Unternehmen 231.164.781,79 231.164.781,79  24.434.841,24 38.829.223,80 

2. Beteiligungen 494.917,78 494.917,78    

3. Eigene Anteile 43.508.691,27 100.149,58 IV. Rücklage für eigene Anteile 43.508.691,27 100.149,58 

4. Wertpapiere (Wertrechte) des Anlagevermögens 1.162.027,48 3.476.487,42    

 276.330.418,32 235.236.336,57 V. Bilanzgewinn 70.000.000,00 61.918.607,04 

 278.783.820,01 237.740.639,18  390.601.980,59 353.506.428,50 

B. UMLAUFVERMÖGEN   B. UNVERSTEUERTE RÜCKLAGEN   

I. Forderungen und sonstige Vermögensgegenstände   1. Bewertungsreserve aufgrund von Sonderabschreibungen 391.007,46 391.007,46 

1. Forderungen gegenüber verbundenen Unternehmen 862.658,40 3.273.142,44  391.007,46 391.007,46 

2. Sonstige Forderungen und Vermögensgegenstände 24.247.382,55 17.050.620,26 C. RÜCKSTELLUNGEN   

 25.110.040,95 20.323.762,70 1. Rückstellungen für Abfertigungen 592.130,00 541.673,00 

   2. Rückstellungen für Pensionen 1.807.340,00 1.892.437,00 

II. Wertpapiere und Anteile     3. Steuerrückstellungen 29.058.992,84 14.082.337,31 

1. Sonstige Wertpapiere und Anteile 129.647.375,00 0,00 4. Sonstige Rückstellungen 1.187.582,48 1.163.139,00 

       32.646.045,32 17.679.586,31 

III. Guthaben bei Kreditinstituten 77.010.447,00 175.747.164,67 D. VERBINDLICHKEITEN   

 231.767.862,95 196.070.927,37 1. Verbindlichkeiten gegenüber Kreditinstituten 26.859.000,00 30.570.000,00 

      2. Verbindlichkeiten aus Leistungen 95.597,51 336.351,70 

C. RECHNUNGSABGRENZUNGSPOSTEN 32.945,65 16.268,40 3. Verbindlichkeiten gegenüber verbundenen Unternehmen 59.981.336,16 31.334.275,76 

   4. sonstige Verbindlichkeiten   

   a) Steuern 5.135,51 6.045,93 

   b) Soziale Sicherheit 3.755,12 3.651,84 

   c) Übrige 770,94 487,45 

    9.661,57 10.185,22 

    86.945.595,24 62.250.812,68 

 510.584.628,61 433.827.834,95  510.584.628,61 433.827.834,95       
 

Bilanz der Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG
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(in EUR)  2008 2007 

1. Erträge aus Beteiligungen   
 a) verbundene Unternehmen 71.489.991,08 60.246.120,81 
 b) übrige 406.000,00 126.000,00 
  71.895.991,08 60.372.120,81 

2. Erträge aus anderen Wertpapieren und Ausleihungen des 
Finanzanlagevermögens   

 a) übrige 2.568.737,58 1.376.016,24 
  2.568.737,58 1.376.016,24 

3. Sonstige Zinsen und ähnliche Erträge   
 a) übrige 5.151.228,38 4.535.963,10 
  5.151.228,38 4.535.963,10 

4. Erträge aus dem Abgang von und der Zuschreibung zu 
Finanzanlagen und Wertpapieren des Umlaufvermögens 0,00 760.205,72 

5. Aufwendungen aus Finanzanlagen und aus Wertpapieren des 
Umlaufvermögens (2.375,00) (22.594,00) 

 davon Abschreibungen EUR 0,00 (Vorjahr: EUR 22.594,00)   
6. Zinsen und ähnliche Aufwendungen   

 a) verbundene Unternehmen (1.319.788,14) (657.815,17) 
 b) übrige (1.269.052,82) (1.654.673,22) 
  (2.588.840,96) (2.312.488,39) 

7. Zwischensumme aus Z 1 bis 6 (Finanzerfolg) 77.024.741,08 64.709.223,48 

8. Sonstige betriebliche Erträge   
 a) Erträge aus der Auflösung von Rückstellungen 294.380,00 1.684.827,82 
 b) übrige 5.867.360,94 5.192.757,42 
  6.161.740,94 6.877.585,24 

9. Personalaufwand   
 a) Gehälter (2.006.545,08) (2.686.302,64) 
 b) Aufwendungen für Abfertigungen und Leistungen an 

betriebliche Mitarbeitervorsorgekassen (50.457,00) (160.826,98) 
 c) Aufwendungen für Altersversorgung (81.301,81) (224.548,48) 
 d) Aufwendungen für gesetzlich vorgeschriebene Sozialabgaben 

sowie vom Entgelt abhängige Abgaben und Pflichtbeiträge (189.214,57) (181.396,37) 
  (2.327.518,46) (3.253.074,47) 

10. Abschreibungen   
 a) auf Sachanlagen (67.286,99) (69.940,66) 
  (67.286,99) (69.940,66) 

11. Sonstige betriebliche Aufwendungen   
 a) Steuern, soweit sie nicht unter Steuern vom Einkommen und 

vom Ertrag fallen (1.714,35) (1.714,35) 
 b) übrige (6.040.953,13) (4.745.539,74) 
  (6.042.667,48) (4.747.254,09) 

12. Zwischensumme aus Z 8 bis 11 (Betriebserfolg) (2.275.731,99) (1.192.683,98) 

13. Ergebnis der gewöhnlichen Geschäftstätigkeit 74.749.009,09 63.516.539,50 
14. Steuern vom Einkommen und vom Ertrag (671.240,00) (1.597.932,46) 

 davon aus Vorjahren EUR 10.500,00 (Vorjahr: EUR (1.211.868,78))    
15. Jahresüberschuss 74.077.769,09 61.918.607,04 

16. Zuweisung zur Rücklage für eigene Anteile (4.579.252,09) 0,00 
17. Zuweisung zu Gewinnrücklagen (24.434.841,24) 0,00 
18. Jahresgewinn 45.063.675,76 61.918.607,04 

19. Gewinnvortrag aus dem Vorjahr 24.936.324,24 0,00 
20. Bilanzgewinn 70.000.000,00 61.918.607,04     

Gewinn- und Verlustrechnung 
der Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG 
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I. Allgemeine Erläuterungen 
Der vorliegende Jahresabschluss wurde unter Beachtung der Grundsätze ordnungs-
mäßiger Buchführung und der Generalnorm, ein möglichst getreues Bild der Vermö-
gens-, Finanz- und Ertragslage des Unternehmens zu vermitteln, aufgestellt. Die Be-
stimmungen des Unternehmensgesetzbuches stellen die Grundlage dieses Jahresab-
schlusses dar. 

Die auf den vorjährigen Jahresabschluss angewandten Bewertungsmethoden wurden 
beibehalten. 

Der Grundsatz der Vollständigkeit wurde bei der Erstellung des Jahresabschlusses 
eingehalten. 

Bei der Bewertung der einzelnen Vermögensgegenstände und Schulden wurde der 
Grundsatz der Einzelbewertung beachtet und eine Fortführung des Unternehmens 
unterstellt. 

Dem Vorsichtsprinzip wurde dadurch Rechnung getragen, dass nur die am Abschluss-
stichtag verwirklichten Gewinne ausgewiesen wurden. Alle erkennbaren Risiken und 
drohenden Verluste wurden berücksichtigt. 

Die Gliederung der Gewinn- und Verlustrechnung wird, um den Charakter der Mayr-
Melnhof Karton Aktiengesellschaft als Holding mit Management- und Finanzierungs-
funktion für die Konzerngesellschaften deutlicher herauszuheben und die Aussagefä-
higkeit des Abschlusses zu erhöhen, so dargestellt, dass der Finanzerfolg an den An-
fang der Gewinn- und Verlustrechnung gestellt wird. 

Im Jahr 2005 wurde ein Antrag auf Feststellung einer Unternehmensgruppe gem. 
§ 9 Abs. 8 KStG 1988 (Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG als Gruppenträger sowie Mayr-
Melnhof Karton Gesellschaft m.b.H., Joh. Spiehs & Co GmbH, A. Spiehs Beteiligungs-
gesellschaft m.b.H (seit 27. September 2006 Mayr-Melnhof Cartonboard International 
GmbH), PAREK Papierverwertungs Gesellschaft m.b.H., "Papyrus" Altpapierservice 
Handelsgesellschaft m.b.H., Wien, "Papyrus" Altpapierservice Handelsgesellschaft 
m.b.H., Villach, sowie Mayr-Melnhof Nikopol A.D. als Gruppenmitglieder) zum Zweck 
der Gruppenbesteuerung ab dem Veranlagungsjahr 2005 eingebracht. Es wurde ein 
Steuerumlagevertrag abgeschlossen, der die Belastungsmethode vorsieht. 

Anhang 
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Mit 15. Dezember 2006 wurde die Mayr-Melnhof Packaging International GmbH  
Gruppenmitglied. 

Mit Antrag vom 21. Dezember 2007 wurde die steuerliche Gruppe gem. § 9 Abs. 8 
KStG 1988 um folgende Unternehmen erweitert: MM-Karton Export GmbH (Ver-
schmelzung auf die Mayr-Melnhof Cartonboard International GmbH mit 27. Juli 2008), 
Mayr-Melnhof Packaging Austria GmbH, Neupack GmbH und Ernst Schausberger & Co. 
GmbH. 

Mit der Veranlagung 2007 endete die Zugehörigkeit zur steuerlichen Unternehmens-
gruppe für folgende Unternehmen: 

Joh. Spiehs & Co GmbH 
„Papyrus“ Altpapierservice Handelsgesellschaft m.b.H. (Wien) 
„Papyrus“ Altpapierservice Handelsgesellschaft m.b.H. (Villach) 
PAREK Papierverwertungs Gesellschaft m.b.H. 
Mayr-Melnhof Nikopol A.D. 

II. Bilanzierungs- und Bewertungsmethoden 
 
1. ANLAGEVERMÖGEN 
 
a) Sachanlagen 
Das Sachanlagevermögen ist mit Anschaffungs- zuzüglich Anschaffungsnebenkosten 
bewertet. 

Die Ermittlung der planmäßigen Abschreibung erfolgt, von vernachlässigbaren Aus-
nahmen für gebrauchte Vermögensgegenstände abgesehen, linear unter Anwendung 
folgender Nutzungsdauern: 

Gebäude 10 - 50 Jahre 
Andere Anlagen, Betriebs- und Geschäftsausstattung 4 - 5 Jahre 

Geringwertige Wirtschaftsgüter werden im Jahr der Anschaffung voll abgeschrieben 
und als Aufwand verbucht. 

b) Finanzanlagen 
Die Beteiligungen und Ausleihungen sind zu Anschaffungskosten bewertet, wobei we-
sentliche Wertminderungen durch außerplanmäßige Abschreibungen berücksichtigt 
werden. 

Als verbundene Unternehmen werden alle Gesellschaften bezeichnet, die unmittelbar 
oder mittelbar im Mehrheitsbesitz der Gesellschaft stehen, unter einheitlicher Leitung 
der Gesellschaft stehen (§ 244 Absatz 1 UGB) oder auf die im Sinne des Kontrollkon-
zeptes (§ 244 Absatz 2 UGB) ein beherrschender Einfluss ausgeübt wird. 
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2. UMLAUFVERMÖGEN 
Forderungen und sonstige Vermögensgegenstände sind mit dem Nennwert angesetzt. 
Erkennbare Einzelrisiken werden durch Wertberichtigungen berücksichtigt. 

Die sonstigen Forderungen sind zur Gänze erst nach dem Bilanzstichtag zahlungswirksam. 

3. RÜCKSTELLUNGEN 
Rückstellungen werden nach dem Grundsatz der kaufmännischen Vorsicht in Höhe des 
voraussichtlichen Anfalls gebildet. 

Die Pensions- und Abfertigungsverpflichtungen werden zum 31. Dezember 2008 ge-
mäß den internationalen Rechnungslegungsstandards IFRS/IAS ermittelt. 

4. VERBINDLICHKEITEN 
Die Verbindlichkeiten sind mit ihrem Rückzahlungsbetrag erfasst.  

Die sonstigen Verbindlichkeiten sind zur Gänze erst nach dem Bilanzstichtag zah-
lungswirksam. 

5. WÄHRUNGSUMRECHNUNG 
Die Fremdwährungsforderungen sowie die liquiden Mittel in Fremdwährungen sind mit 
dem Anschaffungskurs bzw. dem niedrigeren Devisenmittelkurs zum Bilanzstichtag 
bewertet. 

Die Fremdwährungsverbindlichkeiten sind mit dem Anschaffungskurs bzw. dem höhe-
ren Devisenmittelkurs zum Bilanzstichtag bewertet. 
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III. Erläuterungen zu einzelnen Posten der Bilanz und Gewinn- und Verlustrechnung 
 
1. BILANZ 
 
A) ANLAGENSPIEGEL GEMÄß § 226 UGB 
      

 A n s c h a f f u n g s -   o d e r   H e r s t e l l u n g s k o s t e n 
kumulierte 

Abschreibungen Buchwert 
Abschreibungen des 

Geschäftsjahres 

(in EUR) 
Stand 

31. Dez. 2007 
Zugänge 

2008 
Abgänge 

2008 
Stand 

31. Dez. 2008 31. Dez. 2008 31. Dez. 2008 31. Dez. 2007 2008 

I. Sachanlagen         
1. Grundstücke und Bauten         

Grundwert 577.352,82 0,00 0,00 577.352,82 0,00 577.352,82 577.352,82 0,00 

Gebäudewert 2.623.946,36 54.793,74 0,00 2.678.740,10 831.329,99 1.847.410,11 1.852.531,42 59.915,08 

 3.201.299,18 54.793,74 0,00 3.256.092,92 831.329,99 2.424.762,93 2.429.884,27 59.915,08 

2. Andere Anlagen, Betriebs- und 
Geschäftsausstattung 226.420,29 0,00 87.789,00 138.631,29 109.992,53 28.638,76 74.418,34 7.371,91 

Summe I 3.427.719,47 54.793,74 87.789,00 3.394.724,21 941.322,52 2.453.401,69 2.504.302,61 67.286,99 

II. Finanzanlagen         
1. Anteile an verbundenen Unternehmen 256.606.944,67 0,00 0,00 256.606.944,67 25.442.162,88 231.164.781,79 231.164.781,79 0,00 

2. Ausleihungen an verbundene 
Unternehmen 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 

3. Beteiligungen 494.917,78 0,00 0,00 494.917,78 0,00 494.917,78 494.917,78 0,00 

4. Eigene Aktien 100.149,58 43.408.541,69 0,00 43.508.691,27 0,00 43.508.691,27 100.149,58 0,00 

5. Wertpapiere (Wertrechte) des 
Anlagevermögens 3.499.081,42 758.934,72 3.095.988,66 1.162.027,48 0,00 1.162.027,48 3.476.487,42 0,00 

Summe II 260.701.093,45 44.167.476,41 3.095.988,66 301.772.581,20 25.442.162,88 276.330.418,32 235.236.336,57 0,00 

GESAMT 264.128.812,92 44.222.270,15 3.183.777,66 305.167.305,41 26.383.485,40 278.783.820,01 237.740.639,18 67.286,99          
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B) AUFGLIEDERUNG DER ANTEILE AN VERBUNDENEN UNTERNEHMEN 
     

 

Anteil am 
Nennkapital 

(in %) 
31. Dez. 2008 

Eigenkapital 
(in TEUR) 

31. Dez. 2007 

 
Jahresüberschuss 

(in TEUR) 
2007 

Mayr-Melnhof Holdings N.V., Eerbeek 100,00 177.577,00 36.951,00 

Mayr-Melnhof Karton Gesellschaft m.b.H., Frohnleiten 100,00 143.573,77 17.344,44 

Mayr-Melnhof Packaging Austria GmbH, Wien 100,00 10.543,53 2.227,10 

Neupack Gesellschaft m.b.H., Reichenau an der Rax 100,00 13.983,13 1.622,37 

Mayr-Melnhof Cartonboard International GmbH, Wien 100,00 12.788,81 5.428,90 

Mayr-Melnhof Packaging International GmbH, Wien 100,00 6.321,76 222,54 

Ernst Schausberger & Co. Gesellschaft m.b.H., Gunskirchen 99,99 7.000,36 2.066,37 

FS-Karton GmbH, Baiersbronn 60,40 136.307,87 17.254,55 

MM Graphia Beteiligungs- und Verwaltungs GmbH, Baiersbronn 60,40 179.511,74 67.370,68 

MM Polygrafoformlenie Ltd., Nikosia 50,05 28.489,36 531,41 

Karton Deisswil AG, Stettlen 41,67 19.543,54 5.481,79 

Syn-Group Unternehmensberatung  GmbH, Wien 38,00 735,18 367,87     
 
C) EIGENE ANTEILE 
Mit Beschluss der 6. und aller folgenden bis inklusive der 14. ordentlichen Hauptver-
sammlung der Mayr-Melnhof Karton Aktiengesellschaft wurde dem Vorstand der Mayr-
Melnhof Karton Aktiengesellschaft die Ermächtigung zum Erwerb eigener Aktien nach 
§ 65 Abs 1 Z 4 AktG erteilt. 

Der Vorstand der Mayr-Melnhof Karton Aktiengesellschaft hat jeweils am 12. März 
2001, am 19. November 2001, am 26. November 2002, am 2. Dezember 2003, am 18. 
November 2005, am 12. Dezember 2006, am 22. November 2007 und am 8. Mai 
2008 beschlossen, von dieser Ermächtigung Gebrauch zu machen. Der Aufsichtsrat 
der Gesellschaft hat diesen Beschlüssen zugestimmt. 

Gemäß § 254 Abs 4 UGB sind die eigenen Anteile nach ihrer Zweckbestimmung im 
Anlagevermögen gesondert ausgewiesen. Die eigenen Anteile sind zu Anschaffungs-
kosten inklusive Anschaffungsnebenkosten bewertet, eine dementsprechende Rückla-
ge für eigene Anteile wurde gebildet. 

Im Berichtsjahr 2008 wurden insgesamt 739.043 Stück eigene Aktien für 
EUR 43.408.541,69 inklusive Spesen erworben. 

Der Bestand an eigenen Anteilen zum 31. Dezember 2008 stellt sich wie folgt dar: 

     
Rückgekaufte 
Stückanzahl 

 
 

Anteil am 
Grundkapital 

 
% 

Anteil am 
Grundkapital 

 
EUR 

Gewichteter 
Erwerbspreis 

je Stk 

EUR 

Gesamte 
Anschaffungs- 

kosten 

EUR 

740.368 3,3653 % 2.961.464,00 58,77 43.508.691,27      
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D) FORDERUNGSSPIEGEL 
    

(in EUR) 

GESAMT- 
BETRAG 

davon 
Restlaufzeit 
unter 1 Jahr 

1. Forderungen gegenüber  verbundenen Unternehmen 862.658,40 862.658,40 

davon aus sonstigen Forderungen 608.923,37 608.923,37 

davon aus Lieferungen und Leistungen 253.735,03 253.735,03 

2. Sonstige Forderungen und Vermögensgegenstände 24.247.382,55 24.247.382,55 

Forderungen insgesamt 25.110.040,95 25.110.040,95    
 
E) EIGENKAPITAL 
 
Grundkapital 
Das Grundkapital in der Höhe von EUR 88.000.000 ist in 22.000.000 Stück nennbe-
tragslose Stückaktien eingeteilt, von denen jede am Grundkapital in gleichem Umfang 
beteiligt ist. 

Rücklage für eigene Anteile 
Zum Bilanzstichtag werden von der Gesellschaft 740.368 Stück eigene Aktien gehalten, 
für die gemäß § 225 Abs 5 UGB im Berichtsjahr eine Rücklage für eigene Anteile in 
Höhe von EUR 43.408.541,68 gebildet wurde. 

F) UNVERSTEUERTE RÜCKLAGEN 
     

(in EUR) 

Stand 
1. Jan. 2008 Auflösung Zuweisung 

Stand 
31. Dez. 2008 

Bewertungsreserve auf Grund von 
Sonderabschreibungen aus der 
Übertragung stiller Rücklagen 
gemäß § 12 ESTG 1988     
Anteile an verbundenen Unternehmen 391.007,46 0,00 0,00 391.007,46      
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G) RÜCKSTELLUNGEN 
Rückstellungen werden nach dem Grundsatz der kaufmännischen Vorsicht in Höhe des 
voraussichtlichen Anfalls gebildet. 

Pensions- und Abfertigungsverpflichtungen 
Die Pensions- und Abfertigungsverpflichtungen werden zum 31. Dezember 2008 ge-
mäß den internationalen Rechnungslegungsstandards IFRS/IAS analog den Vorschrif-
ten von IAS 19 bilanziert. Bei der Berechnung, die nach dem Anwartschaftsbarwertver-
fahren ("Projected Unit Credit Method") erfolgt, werden die zukünftigen Lohn- und 
Gehaltssteigerungen in Form einer langfristigen Prognose berücksichtigt. Der Zinssatz 
wird nach dem aktuellen langfristigen Zinssatz am Kapitalmarkt zum Bilanzstichtag be-
messen. 

   
 31. Dez. 2008 31. Dez. 2007 
(in %) Pensionen Abfertigungen Pensionen Abfertigungen 

Abzinsungsfaktor 5,75 % 5,75 % 5,00 % 5,00 % 

Langfristige Gehaltssteigerungsraten 2,50 % 2,50 % 2,50 % 2,50 % 

Langfristige Rentensteigerungsraten 2,00 % 0,00 % 2,00 % 0,00 %      
 
Versicherungsmathematische Gewinne bzw. Verluste, die sich aufgrund von Änderun-
gen im Bestand der Versorgungsberechtigten und Abweichungen der tatsächlichen 
Entwicklung gegenüber den der Berechnung zugrunde gelegten Annahmen ergeben, 
werden nach der Korridormethode erfolgswirksam erfasst. Demnach werden die versi-
cherungsmathematischen Gewinne bzw. Verluste erst dann über die erwartete Rest-
dienstzeit der Arbeitnehmer amortisiert, wenn dieser Betrag 10 % der Verpflichtung in 
Form des Anwartschaftsbarwerts zum Bewertungsstichtag überschreitet. Der Berech-
nung wurde zudem das frühest mögliche Anfallsalter für die (vorzeitige) Alterspension 
gemäß Pensionsreform 2004 (Budgetbegleitgesetz 2003) unter Berücksichtigung der 
Übergangsregelungen zugrunde gelegt. 

Die Pensionsrückstellungen wurden aufgrund des Saldierungsverbots nicht, wie ei-
gentlich nach IAS 19 vorgesehen, mit den zu ihrer Deckung bestimmten Vermögens-
werten saldiert. 

Die Anwartschaftsbarwerte betreffend Abfertigungs- und Pensionsverpflichtungen 
sowie die Überleitung zum bilanzierten Rückstellungsbetrag stellen sich wie folgt dar: 

  
 31. Dez. 2008 
(in EUR) Abfertigungen Pensionen 

Anwartschaftsbarwert 489.671,00 1.844.463,00 

Noch nicht berücksichtigte versicherungsmathematische Gewinne bzw. Verluste 102.459,00 (37.123,00) 

Bilanzierte langfristige Rückstellung 592.130,00 1.807.340,00    
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Sonstige Rückstellungen 
Sonstige Rückstellungen umfassen im Wesentlichen Rückstellungen für Beratung 
(EUR 963.744,12) und für die Aufsichtsratstätigkeit (EUR 200.000,00). 

Anteilsbasierende Vergütung 
Im Rahmen eines langfristigen Vergütungsprogramms für die Vorstandsmitglieder der 
Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG werden am Ende der jeweiligen Bestellungsperiode betraglich 
fixierte Boni gewährt, sofern die Vorstandsmandate bis dahin aufrecht sind und der 
Kurswert der Mayr-Melnhof Karton AG Aktie an der Wiener Börse während einer Beo-
bachtungsperiode, welche die Jahre 2008 und 2009 umfasst, für einen ununterbro-
chenen Zeitraum von 60 Börsentagen EUR 85,00 pro Stück überschreitet.  

Nach den Bestimmungen des IFRS 2 sind solche anteilsbasierenden Barvergütungen 
zu jedem Bilanzstichtag mit dem beizulegenden Zeitwert zu bewerten. Dieser wurde 
von einem versicherungsmathematischen Sachverständigen nach einer hiefür vorge-
sehenen Bewertungsmethode errechnet, wobei der risikolose Zinssatz mit 1,83 % p.a., 
die Volatilität mit 27,09 % p.a. und die erwartete Fluktuation mit 0 % angesetzt wurden.  

Der daraus errechnete beizulegende Zeitwert wird zeitanteilig über den Erdienungs-
zeitraum am Stichtag abgegrenzt. Zum Bilanzstichtag ergab sich daraus kein Rückstel-
lungserfordernis. 
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H) VERBINDLICHKEITENSPIEGEL 
     

(in EUR) 

GESAMT- 
BETRAG 

davon 
Restlaufzeit 

unter 
1 Jahr 

davon 
Restlaufzeit 
über 1 Jahr 
bis 5 Jahre 

1. Verbindlichkeiten gegenüber Kreditinstituten 26.859.000,00 0,00 26.859.000,00 

2. Verbindlichkeiten aus Lieferungen und 
Leistungen 95.597,51 95.597,51 0,00 

3. Verbindlichkeiten gegenüber verbundenen 
Unternehmen 59.981.336,16 59.981.336,12 0,00 

davon aus sonstigen Verbindlichkeiten 60.077.572,54 60.077.572,54 0,00 

davon aus Leistungen (96.236,42) (96.236,42) 0,00 

4. Sonstige Verbindlichkeiten 9.661,57 9.661,57 0,00 

a) Steuern 5.135,51 5.135,51 0,00 

b) Soziale Sicherheit 3.755,12 3.755,12 0,00 

c) Übrige 770,94 770,94 0,00 

Verbindlichkeiten insgesamt 86.945.595,24 60.086.595,20 26.859.000,00     
 
2. GEWINN- UND VERLUSTRECHNUNG 
 
A) SONSTIGE BETRIEBLICHE ERTRÄGE 
Diese stammen zum wesentlichen Teil aus Erlösen für Dienstleistungen (Beratung) an 
verbundenen Unternehmen sowie Auflösung von Rückstellungen. 

B) PERSONALAUFWAND 
Der Gesamtbetrag der Aufwendungen für Abfertigungen und Altersversorgung für den 
Vorstand gliedert sich wie folgt: 

   
(in EUR) 2008 2007 

Zuführung zur Abfertigungsrückstellung 50.457,00 160.826,98    
 
C) STEUERN VOM EINKOMMEN 
Im Dezember 2005 hat die Gesellschaft als Gruppenträger einen Antrag auf Feststel-
lung einer Unternehmensgruppe gemäß § 9 Abs 8 KStG 1988 mit nachfolgend ange-
führten verbundenen Unternehmen als Gruppenmitglieder zum Zwecke der Gruppen-
besteuerung ab dem Veranlagungsjahr 2005 eingebracht. 

Die Gruppenmitglieder sind: 

Mayr-Melnhof Karton Gesellschaft m.b.H., Frohnleiten 
"Papyrus" Altpapierservice Handelsgesellschaft m.b.H., Wien 
Joh. Spiehs & Co GmbH, Wien 
"Papyrus" Altpapierservice Handelsgesellschaft m.b.H., Villach 
PAREK Papierverwertungs Gesellschaft m.b.H., Kapfenberg 
Mayr-Melnhof Cartonboard International GmbH 
Mayr-Melnhof Nikopol A.D., Nikopol 
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seit 2006: 
 
Mayr-Melnhof Packaging International GmbH, Wien 
 
Im Dezember 2007 hat die Gesellschaft als Gruppenträger einen Antrag auf Erweite-
rung der Unternehmensgruppe gemäß § 9 Abs 8 KStG 1988 mit nachfolgend angeführ-
ten verbundenen Unternehmen als Gruppenmitglieder zum Zwecke der Gruppenbe-
steuerung ab dem Veranlagungsjahr 2007 eingebracht: 

MM-Karton Export GmbH, Wien (Verschmelzung auf die Mayr-Melnhof Cartonboard 
International GmbH mit 27. Juli 2008) 
Ernst Schausberger & Co. GmbH, Gunskirchen 
Neupack GmbH, Reichenau an der Rax 
Mayr-Melnhof Packaging Austria GmbH, Wien 
 
Für folgende Gruppenmitglieder endet die Zugehörigkeit zur Unternehmensgruppe mit 
der Veranlagung 2007: 

Joh. Spiehs & Co GmbH 
„Papyrus“ Altpapierservice Handelsgesellschaft m.b.H. (Wien) 
„Papyrus“ Altpapierservice Handelsgesellschaft m.b.H. (Villach) 
PAREK Papierverwertungs Gesellschaft m.b.H. 
Mayr-Melnhof Nikopol A.D. 

Aufgrund des Umlagevertrages zwischen den inländischen Gesellschaften wurden 
EUR 15.243.058,14 (Vorjahr EUR 8.060.618,29) an die Gruppenmitglieder weiterver-
rechnet und für EUR 0,00 (Vorjahr EUR 207.005,50) eine Gutschrift erteilt. 

Die Steuern vom Einkommen in Höhe von EUR 681.740 belasten das Ergebnis der 
gewöhnlichen Geschäftstätigkeit. 

Die aktivierbaren latenten Ertragsteuern, die in Ausübung des Wahlrechtes gemäß  
§ 198 Abs 10 UGB in der Bilanz nicht angesetzt sind, betragen zum 31. Dezember 2008 
EUR 149.063,25 (Vorjahr EUR 177.814,75). 

IV. Sonstige Angaben 
 
A) ANGABEN ZU DERIVATIVEN FINANZINSTRUMENTEN 
Zum Bilanzstichtag gliedern sich die derivativen Finanzinstrumente wie folgt: 

     
Art Währung Nominalbetrag Laufzeit Zeitwert 

Zinsswap EUR 18.200.000,00 30. Juni 2006 - 31. Mai 2011 399.298,00 

Zinsswap EUR 10.500.000,00 29. Dez. 2006 - 31. Mai 2011 275.097,00 

Gesamt EUR 28.700.000,00  674.395,00      
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Die Zinsswaps wurden in Zusammenhang mit einer fix verzinsten Beteiligungsfinanzie-
rung abgeschlossen, um eine variable Verzinsung zu erreichen. Die positiven Zeitwerte 
resultieren aus den zum Bilanzstichtag gesunkenen Marktzinsen. Falls bei Erwerb des 
Derivates kein Sicherungszusammenhang dokumentiert werden kann, werden allfällige 
daraus resultierende Verpflichtungsüberhänge unter der Position sonstige Rückstel-
lung erfasst. 

B) ANGABEN ÜBER ORGANE UND MITGLIEDER 
Die Gesellschaft beschäftigt keine Arbeitnehmer. 

Die Organbezüge können wie folgt aufgegliedert werden: 

   
(in EUR) 2008 2007 

Bezüge des Vorstandes   

a) von der Gesellschaft 2.367.887,59 2.294.762,74 

b) von verbundenen Unternehmen 1.368.732,51 1.173.729,59 

Gesamt 3.736.620,10 3.468.492,33 

davon   

Fixe Bezüge 1.368.732,51 1.173.729,59 

Variable Bezüge 2.367.887,59 2.294.762,74 

Gesamt 3.736.620,10 3.468.492,33 

   

(in EUR) 2008 2007 

Bezüge des Aufsichtsrates   

a) von der Gesellschaft 150.000,00 130.000,00 

b) von verbundenen Unternehmen 17.060,39 16.317,16 

Gesamt 167.060,39 146.317,16    
 
Hinsichtlich der Bezüge an ehemalige Organmitglieder wird von der Schutzklausel des 
§ 241 Abs 4 UGB Gebrauch gemacht. 
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Die Organe der Gesellschaft setzten sich im abgelaufenen Geschäftsjahr wie folgt 
zusammen: 

Vorstand: 
Dr. Wilhelm HÖRMANSEDER, Purkersdorf (Vorsitzender) 
Dr. Andreas BLASCHKE, Perchtoldsdorf (Mitglied des Vorstands) 
Ing. Franz RAPPOLD, Laab im Walde (Mitglied des Vorstands) 
Dr. Oliver SCHUMY, Wien (Mitglied des Vorstands seit 1. Juni 2008) 

Aufsichtsrat: 
Dkfm. Michael GRÖLLER, Wien (Vorsitzender) 
o. Univ.-Prof. Dr. Romuald BERTL, Graz (Stellvertretender Vorsitzender) 
Dipl.-Ing. Clemens GOESS-SAURAU, Frohnleiten (Stellvertretender Vorsitzender, 
    verstorben am 10. Januar 2008) 
Mag. Johannes GOESS-SAURAU, Neumarkt/Raab 
    (Stellvertretender Vorsitzender seit 7. Mai 2008) 
Dipl.-Ing. Friedrich MAYR-MELNHOF, Grödig (Stellvertretender Vorsitzender) 
Dr. Gerhard GLINZERER, Wien 
Dr. Guido HELD, Graz (seit 07. Mai 2008) 
Dr. Alexander LEEB, Frohnleiten (seit 7. Mai 2008) 
MMMag. Georg Mayr-Melnhof, Wals/Viehhausen (seit 7. Mai 2008) 
Hubert ESSER, Neuss (Delegierter des Europäischen Betriebsrates von MM Karton) 
Manfred GRUNDAUER, Frohnleiten (Delegierter des Europäischen Betriebsrates von 
MM Karton) 
Gerhard NOVOTNY, Wien (Delegierter der Divisionsvertretung von MM Packaging) 
 
C) GEWINNVERWENDUNG 
Der Vorstand schlägt vor, aus dem Bilanzgewinn für das Geschäftsjahr 2008 eine Divi-
dende von EUR 1,70 je Aktie auszuschütten. 

 
Wien, am 27. Februar 2009 

Der Vorstand 

Dr. Wilhelm HÖRMANSEDER e.h. 

Ing. Franz RAPPOLD e.h. Dr. Andreas BLASCHKE e.h. Dr. Oliver SCHUMY e.h. 

 



 

STATEMENT OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD 112  

according to regulation 82 (4) of the 
Austrian Stock Exchange Act 

We confirm to the best of our knowledge that the consolidated financial statements give a 
true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Group 
as required by the applicable accounting standards and that the Group management  
report gives a true and fair view of the development and performance of the business and 
the position of the Group, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertain-
ties the Group faces. 

We confirm to the best of our knowledge that the separate financial statements give a 
true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the par-
ent company as required by the applicable accounting standards and that the manage-
ment report gives a true and fair view of the development and performance of the busi-
ness and the position of the company, together with a description of the principal risks 
and uncertainties the company faces. 

 
Vienna, February 27, 2009 

 
The Management Board 

Wilhelm Hörmanseder m.p. 
Chairman of the Management Board 

Andreas Blaschke m.p. 
Member of the 

Management Board 

Franz Rappold m.p. 
Member of the  

Management Board 

Oliver Schumy m.p. 
Member of the  

Management Board 
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